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FLORIDA EAST COAST RAILWAY

Florida East Coast Railway (FEC) operates a Class |l railroad along 351
miles of coastal mainline track between Jacksonville and Miarni, Florida.
FEC serves some of the most densely populated areas of the state and
is the exclusive rail-service provider to the Port of Palm Beach, Port
Everglades (Fort Lauderdale) and the Port of Miami.

* FEC provides scheduled train service while providing customer-
centric service

¢ FEC is well positioned o capture the flow of goods from Florida's
imbalanced transportation lane and provides a distinct cost advantage
through efficient rail transportation

* FEC’s clear advantage is location and infrastructure, which cannot be
duplicated today

PHYSICAL PLANT
* FEC leases or owns
- 84 diesel electric locomotives
— 6,045 freight cars and 1,863 trailers/containers

* 351 miles of mainiine track along Florida’s east
coast, exclusive service to South Florida ports

* In general, the mainline is 132-pound-per-yard con-
tinuous welded rail, supported on concrete crossties

273-acre yard in Jacksonville; primary interchange
point with CSX Transportation and Norfolk
Southern Railway

432-acre Hialeah yard in Miami-Dade offers com-
plete rail and intermodal services and has one of
the country’s largest auto unloading facilities

&) Florida East Coast + Intermodal terminals in Fort Lauderdale and
Ratiway Fort Pierce

-%’Il%i"‘ «AT-A-GLAMCE. . ..FLORIOA EAST COAST IMOUSTREIES L[FLAD..

FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT GROUP
Flagler Development Group (Flagler) is engaged in the acquisition,
entitlernent, development, construction, leasing and management of Current Parks Office  Industrial & Other  Total

FLAGLER RENTABLE SQUARE FEET OF SPACE

(millions of square feet)

real estate in Florida, primarily office and industrial space. Flagler also North Florida 1.9 09 28
) ) . - . Central Florida 09 0.1 1.0
provides real estate services to third-party owners and participates in South Florida 07 34 41
select joint ventures. 35 a4 79
Flagler Entitled Land {includes land held in joint ventures)

* Flagter is engaged in the development of properties in some of Florida's North Florida® 29 0.4 113
most active markets including Jacksonville, Orlando and South Florida Central qurid? 1.4 0.1 1.5
counties of Palm Beach, Broward and Miami-Dade South Florida g;’; ;'? :;?

* Flagler (including holdings held in joint ventures) has almost 4,000 " Entitlements are also in place for 900 residential units and

acres, of which 853 are entitled for just over 16 million additional 130 hotef rooms
square feet 2 Entitlernents are in place for 123 hotel rooms

* Flagler continually evaluates 1,455 acres of surplus unentitled land
owned by FEC to maximize potential value

ASSET PORTFOLIO (ncludes assets held in joint venturas)
* 658 wholly-owned office and industrial buildings
{96% occupied)
- One 206,000 square foot warehouse building
held in a joint venture

* Flagler is well positioned in its markets to benefit from Florida’s
growing economy, population growth and the scarcity of land, all
of which continue to drive values higher

* 14 buildings in lease-up and construction phases

.é}/d FLAGLER * 853 acres of land with entitlements for 16.1 million
frvRLoRMENT AROUE square feet (approximately 8.0 million square feet

office; 8.1 million square feet industrial/commercial
and 900 residential units)

* Approximately 3,100 unentitled acres
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FLA is the ticker symbol on the New York Stock Exchange
for Florida East Coast Industries. We operate two wholly
owned entities, Florida East Coast Railway, L.L.C. (FEC),

which runs along the state’s eastern corridor between

Jacksonville and Miami; and Flagler Development Group
{(Flagler), which is a full-service real estate development firm
and one of the largest land holders in the state. Though
our businesses are distinctly separate in nature, they are
: linked by a common trait — highly unique assets in strategic
' locations that cannot be duplicated. Our goal is to maximize
the value of these assets on behalf of our shareholders,

customers and employees.



Adolfo Henriques
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Itis hard to think of another company with a ticker symbol as appropriate as that of our Company.
FLA underscores the extraordinary growth economy that the state of Florida enjoys and in which our
businesses operate. FLA highlights the strategic geographical location of our Raitway and real estate
holdings, assets that simply cannot be replicated in this day and age. FLA emphasizes the significant
opportunity that lies ahead of us as we capitalize further on a unique combination of the right assets
in the right places with the right people. Last, and perhaps most importantly, FLA is synonymous with
performance excellence from an organization of talented people who have the ability to realize the
highest levels of value.

These talents and abilities were evident in 2006 as our Railway and real estate companies once again
generated record levels of revenue and profitability. Though we possess in-demand assets in an

in-demand market, it takes foresight, knowledge, creativity, discipline and relationships to turn potential
into performance time and again. We appreciate the focus and dedication of our entire team and their




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(& = Millions)

Flagler Development Group 2006 2005 2004
Realty Rental Revenue $ 974 $ 859 $ 68.7
Realty Rental Operating Profit* $ 324 $ 277 3 216
Realty Rental Depreciation & Amortization Expense $ 304 $ 279 $ 23.2
Realty Rental Operating Profit Before Depreciation & Amortization® $ 625 $ 556 $ 448
Overall Occupancy 96% 95% 95%
Florida East Coast Railway 2006 2005 2004
Railway Revenues $264.1 $237.9 $200.8
Railway Operating Profit** $ 785 $ 637 $ 47.3
Railway Depreciation Expense $ 224 $ 21.8 $ 202
Railway Operating Profit Before Depreciation $100.9 $ 855 $ 675
Operating Ratio 70.3% 73.2% 76.4%

The Company reports certain non-GAAP measures for the Company's Raitway business and a portion of its real estate business. The Company
believes these measures to be performance measures that investors commonly use to value the relevant businesses and to evaluate their
ongoing performance. The Gompany operates in {wo distinctly different lines of business, Railway and realty, which many investors value and
evaluate separately, using metrics similar to the non-GAAP financial measures provided by the Company. The Cornpany also uses some of
these measures internally as part of its incentive compensation plans for management smployees.

" Includes revenues and expenses from Flagler buildings only. Table also reflects continuing operations.
** 2006 Railway Cperating Profit includes $5.3 million of net insurance recoveries refated to 2005 hurricanea Seasor.
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commitment to our chstomers, communities and shareholders. The proven performance of this tearmn
instills even further confidence and optimism regarding the future growth of the Company.

STRATEGIC Flagler Expands ~ Our people, culture and values are certainly one reason that the acquisition
ACQUISITION & , ) . , .

SUCCESSFUL of Codina Group, Inc., the largest industrial developer in South Florida, has been so successful.
INTEGRATION We combined the assets and talents of Codina with our existing real estate portfolio and profes-

sionals to form Flagler Development Group, one of the premiere real estate firms in Florida.
Armando Codina, the Company’s founder, is now leading Flagler, bringing vast experience and
new insights to our real estate endeavors.

The combination of Flagler and Codina is compelling in terms of both intellectual and physical assets.
Codina enhances our entitlement and zoning capabilities, strengthening this critical capability as an
internal core competency. The Codina Group also has brought construction expertise, strengthened
our leasing team in South Florida and opened new strategic opportunities with many of the country’s
leading institutional real estate firms.



With the Atlantic Ocean to the east and the Everglades to the west, geographic boundaries
alone make the South Florida market one of the tightest real estate markets in the country. The
addition of Codina enhanced the value of our land bank. The South Florida market is also one
of the most important for global commerce; its ports and éirports are the embarkation point for
frade with Latin America. Additionally, Miami International Airport is undergoing a major expan-
sion. The majority of Flagler's holdings are located in the Airport West submarket, with excellent
access to the area’s ports, airports and Florida’s Turnpike, a major transportation thoroughfare.

All of Flagler's assets are part of a value creation process — one that begins with raw land
and ends with robust Class-A business parks that hundreds of companies call home. The I
combined Flagler land holdings (including those in joint ventures) consist of almaost 4,000 acres, of
which 853 acres are entitled, and 1,400 are in the entitlement pipeline, much of which is located in
high-growth areas. These land holdings, when fully entitled, will provide us with over 8.9 million
square feet of office, 12.5 million square feet of industrial space, 2.2 million sguare feet of retail and
3,262 residential units to develop over the next ten years. At this time, we have 68 wholly-owned
stabilized buildings, representing 4.4 million square feet of industrial space and 3.5 million square

esswasFLAGLER*S & STEFPS FOR LAMD UARLUE CREATIOW.........0FPPORTUMITY AT ELWER
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RAW LAND
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ENTITLEMENTS & ZONING

Opportunity At Every Step

The goal for every parcel in our land bank is simple: to optimize
value. We have a six-step process for doing so. Some parcels will
go through each step, ultimately moving from our land bank into
our building portfolio as feasing vehicles. Other parcels may go
through several steps to enhance value and then be divested
to parties that have a greater strategic end-use than we do.
Whatever the means, Flagler has industry-leading expertise

at each step of the process to ensure that maximum value
creation results.




SOUTH FLORIDA
DEVELOPMENT

EXPANSION
CONTINUES IN
NORTH AND
CENTRAL FLORIDA

feet of office space. In our development pipeline, we have 14 buildings in lease-up or under con-
struction {including those in joint ventures), representing 2.3 million square feet of new product to
be delivered in 2C07 and 2008.

In South Florida, we have an active development pipeline which includes property in lease-up
and under construction of approximately 1.9 million square feet, including two office and thres
industrial buildings at Flagler Station; two industrial buildings and industrial condominiums within
the 436-acre Beacon Lakes Park, which is a joint venture with AMB Properties; and the design

and development of Office Depot's new 624,000 square foot globat headquarters which was the
largest build-to-suit office for lease project in the U.S. in 2006 in a joint venture with TIAA-CRER

Though South Florida was a focal point for Flagler during 2006, we continue to enjoy success
and high levels of activity in the Orlando and Jacksonville markets. Northeast Florida continues
to be a fast-growing area within the state and increasingly a location of choice for corporate
expansions and relocations. Fidelity investments, for example, relocated certain operational
units to Jacksonville and chose Flagler's Deerwood Park as its first location in the area. Our
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BUILDING DEVELOPMENT LEASING PROPERTY
& CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

landmark Flagler Center, on the southern end of Jacksonville, has its fourth building under
construction in the last three years. Similarly, Flagler's SouthPark business park in Orlando is
keeping pace with high demand for office space, with one newly constructed building fully
leased and two more under construction. Also in the Central Florida market, entittement work
coentinues on a major land parcel assembly in Lakeland which is located along the booming

i-4 corridor between Tampa and Orlando. Ftagler has the potential to develop an additional

3.3 million square feet in Jacksonville and 1.5 million square feet in Central Florida - capacity
that will ensure we capitalize on these exceptionally strong markets.

The strategic location of our real estate holdings becomes truly apparent as these projects
progress from raw land to entittement, development, construction, leasing and finally property
management, a key source of cash generation for the Company. Flagler consistently outperforms
competitors in each of its markets with higher occupancy and rent levels. At year-end 2008,
Flagler's portfolio enjoyed a 96% occupancy rate, a functionally full level, while realty rental
revenues increased 13%, and operating profit before depreciation and amortization increased




12% over 2005 levels. Though location is the first rule of real estate, execution is essential to
maximizing and realizing value. As a fully integrated real estate company with an enviable portfolio
of holdings, Flagler is in an unprecedented position to create and build value going forward.

CUSTOMER Railway Flourishes — Strategic location and operational excellence, however, are not limited to our
SERVICE DRIVES ) ) .
INTERMODAL real estate interests. FEC continues to flourish, not only because of its unique rail assets through
GROWTH one of the country’s fastest-growing corridors, but also because of its customer-centric service,

inngvative practices and exemplary performance standards. Even in a year when residential housing
slowed significantly in the second-half of 2008, FEC grew revenues by 11% and operating profit by
23%, which resulted in the best operating ratio of any public railroad in the U.S.

The relationship between FEC and Wal-Mart is illustrative of the partnerships that can result when
a customer-centric approach to transportation logistics is a driving principle. Since 2004, when
Wal-Mart built a major distribution center six miles from our intermodal ramp in Fort Pierce, the
retailer has steadily increased its business with FEC. In 2005, Wal-Mart awarded FEC with its
“Innovative Carrier of the Year” award, and, in 2008, Wal-Mart began utilizing FEC to handle its

L. ..FLORIDA EAST COAST RAILWAY...CHICAGO...ATLAMTA. . HEW YORK. .. HEW JERSEY...FORT FIERCE...
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own trailers on our Railway. This is the first time Wal-Mart has allowed such an arrangement, but

it is one that provides many benefits. It is more cost-effective for Wal-Mart, more capital-
} efficient for FEC and more sound for the environment - ingredients that make good sense.

United Parcel Service (UPS) represents another customer success story for our intermodal
franchise. FEC has provided over two consecutive years of service to UPS without a single
failure — a perfect service record unmatched by any other railway partner of the shipping giant.

. CARLOAD Finally, FEC Intermodal’s Highway Service Group, which privides drayage operations, is a vital part |
PUSHES MARKET ) . . o . . ) |
EXPANSION of its customer service proposition, turning in a 99+% on-time service performance in 2008, for

motor carriers and retail customers.

Aggregate, or crushed stone, comprises nearly one-third of volume for our Railway. With
the softening of residential construction, we are working closely with our rock customers 1o
capitalize on opportunities in commercial and infrastructure construction. The Florida
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Opportunity At Every Stop .

Though FEC's route has remained the same for over a century, the opportunity for \ :

value creaton along this route continues to evolve. The Cocoa/Rockledge station, B @NEW SMYRN.\ BEACH
for instance, was an under-utifized asset that is only 28 miles from Orlando. ‘:‘\

FEC has recently put the facility to a higher and better use by initiating a transload "
operation to handle lumber and steel. Whether through re-positioning existing N
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assets, investing in new infrastructure or deploying customer-centric initiatives, g w
FEC is constantly finding new innovation that translates into new income : @ coco
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along its route.
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Department of Transportation, for instance, is increasing its construction spending by 20%
to accommodate new growth. New transload coperations are in the planning stages with Titan
and Rinker, both leading rock suppliers that are expanding distribution into the middle part of the

®)

state to support new commercial and infrastructure growth in Central Florida. 2

We are also working on several initiatives to expand our carload product and commodity mix
into new markets. The transport of bio-diesel fuels, which are being produced at record rates
in the United States, to Port Everglades is a southbound initiative, while the transporting of
solid municipal waste and construction debris out of the state is additional business which
will be operational by year-end and will enhance the railroad’s backhaul traffic.

In addition to providing customers with innovative transportation solutions, FEC is focused on
making an appropriate level of investment in its physical plant sc that the Railway can safely
and efficiently satisfy growing demand. The completion in 2006 of a 12-mile double track
between Indian River and Titusville provides increased service flexibility and allows for increased




A UNIGUE
INVESTMENT
SCENARIO

reliability. FEC also took delivery of four new locomotives in 2006 to replace leased locomotives
and enhance the fuel efficiency of our flé(et. It is ironic that a Railway built more than 100 years

ago is so timely at this point in time in Florida’s history. Highway congestion, rising energy prices
and environmental concerns, make FEC an extremely attractive transportation option for Florida,

its businesses and its consumers.

In Summary — We would certainly be remiss if we did not mention the long-term growth environment
that Florida offers our businesses. The list of fundamentals at the bottom of this page summarizes
statistics which are hard for any economy, any place in the world, to match. The assets and talent
that reside within Florida East Coast industries (FECI) make it a great company. When viewed
in the context of the Florida economy, however, FECI becomes a great company with long-term
growth prospects, which makes for a unique investment scenario for our shareholders. We look
forward to sharing this future and realizing this potential with you.

Adolfo Henriques
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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FLORIDA: LAND OF OPPORTUNITY

4th Most Populous State

4th Largest Labor Force -

4th Largest Gross State Product

8th Largest Economy in the Western Hemisphere

12% Lower Labor Costs than National Average

Fastest Job Growth Among Top Ten Most Populous States
Tourism Industry - $62 Billion in 2005

Top Travel Destination in the World

1000+ People Move to Florida Each Day
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Forward-Looking
Statements

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. These forward-locking statements include
the Company’s present expectations or beliefs concerning
future events. These statements may be identified by the use
of words like “plan,” "expect,” "aim,” “believe,” “project,” “antic-
ipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” and
other expressions that indicate future events and trends. Such
forward-looking statements may include, without limitation,
statements that the Company does not expect that lawsuits,
environmental costs, commitments, including future contrac-
tual obligations, contingent Yiabilities, financing availability, labor
negotiations or other matters will have a material adverse effect
on its consolidated financial condition. Also, forward-looking
statements may include staternents concerning future capital
needs and sources of such capital funding, statements con-
cerning future intentions with respect to the payment of divi-
dends, execution of a share repurchase program, and other
potential capital distributions, number of shares to be repur-
chased, availability of cash to fund the stock repurchase, ability
to reinvest {tax-deferred} sales proceeds into qualifying §1031
properties, future level of traffic volumes, future growth poten-
tial of the Company's lines of business, performance of the
Company’s product offerings, intention to entitle and develop
real estate, ability to complete planned acquisitions, ability of
each party to an announced transaction to satisfy the closing
conditions in the agreement, expected completion dates, issu-
ance of contingent consideration, completion of existing and
future projects, statements regarding accessibility, visibility,
expansion opportunities, ability to complete transactions within
specified time frame; failure or inability of third parties to fuliill
their commitments or to perform their obligations under agree-
ments; costs and availability of land and construction materials;
the intention to close the construction and demolition debris
(C&D} facility at Beacon Countyling at the current estimated
cost, the resolution of litigation involving mining in South Florida
and other similar expressions concerning matters that are not
historical facts, and projections relating to the Company’s
financial results. The Company cautions that such forward-
looking statements are necessarily based on certain assump-
tions, which are subject to risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to materially differ from those contained in
these forward-locking statements. Important factors that could
cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the
changing general economic ¢onditions and the residential real
estate market in the state of Florida as well as the scutheast
US and the Caribbean as they relate to economically sensitive
products in freight service and building rental activities; abitity
to manage through economic recessions or downturns in cus-
tomers’ business cycles; ability to pass through fuel surcharges
to customers; a slow down in construction activities in Florida,
including the residential market; the impact of interim or final
orders related to mining activities in South Florida issued by
courts or regulatory agencies including the United States
District Court and the US Army Corps of Engineers on the

" "o

Company’s rail volumes; industry competition; consolidation
within industries of the Company’s customers; ongoing chal-
lenges in the US domestic auto makers ability to be competi-
tive; possible future changes in the Company’s structure, lines
of business, business and investment strategies, and related
implementation; legislative or regulatory changes; technological
changes; volatility of fuel prices (including volatility caused by
military actions); the Railway's ability to purchase low sulfur die-
sel fuel; changes in levels of preventive and capital mainte-
nance, asset replacement and depreciation rates resulting from
assumptions in the Railway right-of-way and equipment e
studies; changes in the ability of the Company to complete its
financing plans, changes in interest rates, the settlement of
future contractual obligations as estimated in time and amount
{customary to the Cormpany’s historical cost structure) includ-
ing labor negotiations and recoveries from damage claims in
a satisfactory way, changes in insurance markets, including
availability of windstorm coverage, increases in insurance pre-
miums and deductibles: the availability and costs of attracting
and retaining qualified independent third party contractors; tim-
ing and amount of issuance of contingent consideration; liabil-
ity for environmental remediation and changes in environmental
laws and regulations; the ultimate outcome of environmental
investigations or proceedings and other types of claims and liti-
gation, natural events such as weather conditions, hurmicanes,
floods, earthquakes and forest fires; discretionary government
decisions affecting the use of land and delays resulting from
weather conditions and other natural occurrences, like huri-
canes, that may affect construction or cause damage to
assets; the ability of buyers to terminate contracts to purchase
real estate from the Company prior to the expiration of ingpec-
tion periods; failure or inability of third parties to fuffill their com-
mitments or to perform their obligations under agreements;
failure of one or all parties to meet requirements, terms and
conditions for ¢losing; ability to complete transactions within
a specified time frame; costs and availability of land and con-
struction materials; buyers’ inability or unwillingness to clcse
transactions, particularly where buyers only forfeit deposits
upon failure to close; the ability of the Company to close the
Beacon Countyline C&D facility at the current estimated costs;
the ability to accomplish ¢certain zoning changes or other land
use changes by the Company or others; the Company’s future
taxable income and other factors that may affect the availability
and timing of utilization of the Company’s deferred tax assets;
uncertainties, changes or litigation related to tax laws, regula-
tions; and other risks inherent in the real estate and other
businesses of the Company.

As a result of these and other factors, the Company may
experience material fluctuations in future operating results on a
quarterty or annual basis, which could materially and adversely
affect its business, financial condition, operating results and
stock price.

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements, which refltect management’s view only as of the
date thereof. The Company undertakes no obligation to pub-
licly release revisions to the forward-looking staterments in this
Report 1o reflect events or circumstances after the date hareof,
or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART |

As used throughout this Form 10-K Annual Report, the terms
“FECI,” the “Company” and "Registrant” mean Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

FEC! is a holding company incorporated in 1983 and is engaged,
through wholly owned subsidiaries, in the railroad and real estate
businesses. The Company’s railroad subsidiary, Florida East
Coast Raitway, LLC (FECR or Raitway), connects many of the
major population centers and port facilities of Florida's east
coast, and provides efficient service for its custormers through
muttiple competitive connections to the rest of North America.
The Company, primarily through its real estate arm, Flagler
Development Group (Flagler), is engaged in the acquisition,
entitiement, development, management, construction, leasing,
operation and selected sale of real estate in Florida, primarity
office and industrial property, as well as undeveloped land.

On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held Codina
Group, Inc. {Codina) and certain related property interests held
directiy or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina. The initial consid-
eration included $66 million of cash for certain property inter-
ests, assumption or repayment of $31 million of debt and the
issuance of 1,713,431 shares at $44.60 per share, as valued
at the date of the acquisition announcement, to Mr. Codina
and 288,518 shares (as further described in Note 13) at an
average price of $54.90 per share, as valued at the grant date,
to certain Codina employees. In addition, Mr, Codina may receive
additional contingent consideration based upon achievement
of certain value-based milestones. These milestones include
706,581 shares tied to certain land use approvats, $29.2 million
upon certain partnership distibutions from a joint venture, 471,056
shares based on cumulative FECI stock price improvements of
up to an additional $27.00 per share over the next five years;
and 117,763 shares is dependent on the Company agreeing

to move forward with a proposed residential development. All
equity related to the Codina acquisition has been issued from
the Company's treasury stock. The purchase price is subject to
post-closing adjustments based on certain closing conditions
and upon the common stock price on the date when certain of
the contingencies are satisfied. An escrow agent holds the con-
tingent equity. In the second and fourth quarters of 2006, certain
contingencies related to FECI stock price improvements were
satisfied and 282,633 shares, together with applicable dividends,
were released to Mr. Codina. An additional 3,860 shares were
issued in the fourth quarter of 2006 based on a post-closing
working capital adjustment.

Additional information regarding this acquisition is contained
in ltems 7 and 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

Financial information about FECI's operating segments is
contained in Items 6, 7 and 8 of this Annual Report on
Farm 10-K.

RAILWAY

General

FECR operates a Class |l railroad along 351 miles of mainline
track between Jacksorwille and Miami, Florida, serving some of
the most densely populated areas of the state. FECR also owns
and operates approximately 268 miles of branch, switching and
other secondary track and 167 miles of yard track, afl within
Florida. FECR has the only coastal night-of-way between
Jacksonvile and Miami and is the exclusive rail-service provider
to the Port of Palm Beach, Port Everglades (Fort Lauderdale)
and the Port of Miami.

FECR serves approximately 1,000 carload and intermodal
customers combined. During 2006, the number of custormers
included approximately 200 drayage customers. The following
table summarizes FECR's freight shipments by commadity
group and as a percentage of rail freight ravenues:

Traffic
Years Ended December 31
{dollars and units in thousands) 2006 2005 Percent 2006 2005 Percent
Commodity Units Units Variance Revenues Revenues Variance
Rail carloads
Crushed stone (aggregate) 145.1 140.3 3.4 76,468 69,897 0.4
Construction materials 7.2 7.2 - 5,766 5,333 8.1
Vehicles 22.2 23.5 (5.5) 20,059 19,025 5.4
Foodstuffs & kindred 13.4 13.7 (2.2) 12,611 11,972 53
Chemicals & distillants 3.4 3.5 (2.9) 4,988 4,489 111
Paper & lumber 7.0 7.4 5.4 8,050 8,092 {0.5)
Other 14.0 15.0 (6.7) 11,422 10,486 8.9
Total carload 212.3 210.6 0.8 139,364 129,294 7.8
Intermodal 322.2 309.3 4.2 118,584 103,008 15.1
Total freight units/revenues 534.5 519.9 2.8 257,948 232,302 11.0
Ancillary revenue - - - 6,145 5,568 10.4
Railway segment revenue - - - 264,093 237,870 11.0
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FECR connects with Norfolk Southern Railway Company (NS)
and with CSX Transportation, Ing. (CSXT} at Jacksonville and
is able to offer its customers competitive rail connections to
the rest of North America. During 2006, approximately 33%
of FECR's freight revenues were attributable to traffic that
originated on other railroads; approximately 6% was attribut-
able to traffic that originated on FECR but bound for other
destinations, and 61% was attributable to traffic that both
originated and terminated on FECR's system {local traffic).
Haulage agreements with NS and South Central Florida
Express, inc. (SCFE} generated 6% of FECR's freight revenug
in 2006. With the exception of haulage services provided for
SCFE described below, FECR does not receive traffic from
one railroad to be passed over its track to another railroad.

FECR handles rail cars for SCFE between Fort Pierce and
Jacksonville for interchange with CSXT or NS, SCFE is a
short-line railroad operating under a Trackage Rights
Agreement over a branch line owned by FECR extending
from Fort Pierce to Lake Harbor. A concurrent Car Haulage
Agreement is in effect between Fort Pierce and Jacksonville.
Cn November 25, 2005, FECR notified SCFE that the
Trackage Agreement would terminate on January 1, 2025
after the required notice period.

FECR also handles certain types of traffic for NS from
Jacksonville to Miami under a Haulage Agreement, whereby
FECR receives specified revenues for each unit transported.
In late 2001, FECR began offering a service that is known as
the “Hurricane Train.” This extends FECR's commercial reach
into the Atlanta region. This service is operated pursuant to
an agreement with NS allowing up to 60 spaces per day
dependent upon space availability. During 2005, FECR
reached and exceeded this capacity on certain days, which
limited the ability to grow this business segment in 2006. To
increase capacity in this lane, FECR introduced the Truck/Rail
product, which utilizes trucks to move targeted freight into
Jacksonville and then places the load onto a train shipped to
South Florida. This allows more capacity on the Hurricane
Train for future growth. Additionally, through joint marketing
arrangements with CSXT and NS, FECR provides direct ser-
vice to the south Florida markets with loads originating in the
Northeast and in the Chicago and surrounding areas.

FECR owns or has an interest in approximately 1,455 acres
of ancillary properties, including several rail corridors (872
acres) that have been abandoned. FECR continues to evalu-
ate these holdings and, when appropriate, engages in strate-
gic activities (sales, development, etc.). Sales of these
properties are reported in “railway realty sales” of the realty
segment. The Company is actively discussing the sale of two
of the abandoned corridors, totaling approximately 841 acres
to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection.

FECR also actively manages its railroad right-of-way to gererate
miscellanecus rents and right-of-way lease profits, which a®
not reported as part of the railway segment but as “other
income.” FECR leases its right-of-way to various tenants fcr
use, including telecommunications companies’ fiber optics sys-
tems pursuant to long-term leases. FECR also generates rev-
enues from the grant of licenses and leases to use raitroad
property and rights-of-way for outdoor advertising, parking lots
and lateral crossings of wires and pipes by municipalities, and
utility and telecornmunications companies.

Customers

One customer, Rinker Materials Corporation (Rinker), generated
approximately 20% of freight revenues in 2006. FECR's top
five customers accounted for approximately 41% of 2003
freight revenues. Rinker and another of these top five customers
are suppliers of aggregate materials.

Competition

Although FECR is often the only rall carrier directly serving its
custorners, FECR competes directly with other railroads that
could potentially deliver freight to FECR'’s markets and cusiom-
ers via different routes and use of multiple modes of transporta-
tion such as transload services. FECR's primary rail competition
for carload traffic is CSXT. FECR also competes directly wilth
other modes of transportation, including motor carriers, ships
and barges. FECR's interrnodal freight services (trailers and
containers on flat-rait cars) compete directly with motor carriers.
Any improvement in the cost or quality of these alternate modes
of transportation could increase competition from these other
modes of transportation and adversely affect FECR's business.

There is continuing strong competition among rail, water and
highway carriers. Price is usually only one factor of impor-
tance as shippers and receivers choose a transport mode
and a specific transportation company with which to do busi-
ness. Inventory carrying costs, service reliability, ease of han-
dling and the desire to avoid loss and damage during transit
are increasingly important considerations, especialty for
higher valued finished goods, machinery and consumer prod-
ucts. Additionally, decisions about ports-of-call can affect
FECR’s business. As international shipping companies alter
their ship rotations into various ports, this could change the
Railroad’s intermodal shipments from the affected port facility.

Regulation

FECR is subject to regulation by the Surface Transportation
Board (STB) of the U.S. Department of Transportation
(USDQOT}. The STB has jurisdiction over some rates, including
the calculation of fuel charges, conditions of service and the
extension or abandonment of rail lines. The STB also has
jurisdiction over the consolidation, merger or acquisition of
control of and by rail common carriers. The USDOT, through
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the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), regulates the safety
of railroad operations, including certain track and mechanical
equipment standards and certain human factor issues. The
USDOT and Occupational Safety and Health Administration
(OSHA) have jurisdiction over a number of safety and health
aspects of rail operations, including the movement of hazard-
ous materials.

Rates in the rail industry were substantially deregulated by the
Staggers Act of 1980 (The Staggers Act) and subsequent leg-
islation and regulation. The Staggers Act encouraged and
enabled rail carriers to innovate and compete for business,
thereby contributing to the revitalization of the industry.
Accordingly, the nation’s rail carriers can be expected to vigor-
ously oppose efforts to re-impose such economic regulation.

On January 26, 2007, the Surface Transpcrtation Board con-
cluded its inquiry into raifroad fuel surcharge practices by issu-
ing a final rufe declaring it an unreasonable practice for railroads
to compute fuel surcharges as a percentage of the base rate.
The STB also determmined that the practice of “double dipping,”
i.8., applying hoth a fuel surcharge and a rate increase that is
based on a cost index that includes a fuel cost component, is
an unreasonable practice. The nuling does not apply to traffic
that is exempt from regulation by previous actions of the STB
or its predecessor agency or to traffic that is handled under a
transportation contract. Most of the Railway's traffic, including
intermodal, aggregate, automobiles and many other commaodi-
ties, is exempt from this ruling either by commodity exemption
or as traffic moving under a contract. The ruling should hava (it-
tle impact to the amount of fuel surcharge billed in 2007, as it
will only affect the method of calculation for shipments moving
under public pricing for non-exempt cormmodities.

FECR s also subject to extensive envircnmental laws and
regulations. Violations of various statutory and regulatory pro-
grams can result in civil penalties, remediation expenses, nat-
ural resource damage claims, potential injunctions, cease and
desist orders and criminal penatties. Some environmental
statutes impose strict fability, renclering a person liable for
environmeantal damage without regard to negligence or fault
on the part of such person, In addition, FECR's present and
historic ownarship and operation of real property, including
rail yards, in connection with its transportation operations
involve the storage, use or disposal of hazardous substances
that may have contaminated and may in the future contami-
nate the environment. FECR may also be liable for the costs
of cleaning any site at which it has disposed (intentionally or
unintentionally) of hazardous substances by virtue of, for
example, an accident, derailment or leak, or to which it has
transported hazardous substances it generated, such as
waste Gil (see ltem 3, Legal Proceedings).

REAL ESTATE

General

FECI conducts its real estate operations through its real estate
armm, Flagler Development Group. Flagler is engaged in the
acquisition, entitlement, development, management, con-
struction, leasing, operation and selected sale of real estate in
Florida, primarily office and industrial property, as well as
undeveloped land. These operaticns are primarily conducted
within its 100% owned properties, as well as those owned
with joint venture partners. Flagler provides real estate services
to third party owners and related party joint ventures. These
include construction, brokerage, property management and
development activities.

Flagler held 68 one-hundred percent owned stabilized buildings
with 7.2 millicn sq. ft. and overall occupancy of 96% at
December 31, 2006 compared to 64 one-hundred percent
owned stabilized buildings with 7.4 milion sq. ft. and overall
occupancy of 95% at December 31, 2005. In addition at
December 31, 2006, Flagier held cne 207,000 sq. fl. stabi-
lized warehouse in an unconsolidated joint venture that was
100% occupied. Same Store one-hundred percent owned
properties include 6.6 million sq. ft. and 96% occupancy at
year-end 2006 compared 10 85% occupancy at year-end
2005. Acditionalty, at December 31, 2006, there were three
buildings with 485,000 sg. fi. that were in lease-up, which
includes one warehouse building, totaling 208,000 sq. ft. held
in an unconsolidated joint venture.

At December 31, 20086, Flagler had 3.8 million sq. ft. of
properties in various phases of development, consisting of
approximately 1.9 million sq. ft. under construction, and
approximately 1.9 million sq. ft. in the pre-development
phase, located in the Jacksonwville, Orlando, Broward and
Miarmi-Dade area markets. This includes 97,000 sg. ft.
under construction and 468,000 sq. ft. in pre-development
that are held in unconsolidated joint ventures, For those
projects in the pre-development phase, Flagler is engaged
in engineering, architectural planning and design.

Flagler owns 567 acres of developable land with entitliements
for the construction of 10.0 million sq. ft. of additional office,
industrial, residential and commercial space. In addition, Flagler
has 286 acres with 6.1 milion sq. ft. of development entitle-
ments held in unconsolidated joint ventures. Developable land
is considered to be land that can be built upon and excludes
wetlands and land under roads. Additicnally, Flagler owns
approximately 3,089 acres of unimproved, unentitled land or
land with limited entitlements in Fiorida, avaitable for potential
future development or disposition. During 20086, Flagler contin-
ued the process to determine the highest and best use for
1,455 acres of unentitled land owned by FECR, which includes
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approximately 641 acres of two of the abandoned rail

escrow with a qualified intermediary, which were used

Customers

of services revenug is from TIAA-CREF.
Competition

competition. There are numerous developers and real

tenants and real estate services such as construction,
ment, brokerage and management. Competition may

several rail cormidors that have been abandoned comprising
872 acres. The Railway is actively discussing the sale of

corridors

to the Horida Department of Environmental Protection.

At Decermnber 31, 2005, Flagler and FECR held net land sale
proceeds, totaling $21.2 million and $1.9 million, respectively, in

1o pur-

chase qualifying reinvestment properties as part of the Codina
acquisition during the first half of 2008. At December 31, 2006,
$1.4 million of land sales proceeds were held in escrow.

Flagler leases in its 100% owned properties to approximately
300 tenants in a variety of industries, including financial ser-
vices, distribution, hospitality services and import/export.
Flagler's largest tenant, based on square footage, occupied
approximately 3.2% of leased space at December 31, 20086.
Flagler’s largest tenant, based on rental revenues, accounted
for approximately 4.4% of 2008 continuing operations’ con-
tractual rental income. Flagler’s five and ten largest tenants,
based on rental revenues, accounted for approximately 21%
and 31% of continuing operations’ contractual rental income,
respectively. In addition to the above, Flagler has two tenants
in the buildings owned by the Beacon Lakes joint venture in
which it has a 21.2% interest. Flagler has multiple customers
that it provides services to through its third party manage-
ment, brokerage and construction services businesses.
Within the real estate services businesses a concentration of
business exists with two key customers. Twenty-eight per-
cent of services revenue is derived, either directly or through
a joint venture with AMB Properties and twenty-two percent

The real estate industry is generally characterized by significant

gstate

companies competing with the Company in Florida for acquisi-
tion of properties, resources for development and prospective

develop-
adversely

affect the Company's ability to attract and retain tenants and
achieve favorable rental rates. Over the past few years, there
has been increased competition for the acquisition of raw land
from residential developers. This competition has increased the
price and reduced the availability of raw land. The Company
may compete with entities having greater financial and other
| resources. Such competition could have a material adverse

effect on the Company’s business, cperations or cash flows.

Regulation

Real estate development in Florida is subject to extensive
regulation at both the state and iocal levels. One of the pri-
mary purposes of regulation is to ensure that infrastructure,

such as traffic circulation, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drain-
age, potable water, parks and recreation and transportaiion
facilities, is adequate to serve proposed development. If the
facilities in the area of the development are inadequate or will
become inadequate as a result of the proposed development,
the developer must either improve the infrastructure to a level
satisfactory to the regulatory agencies or provide financial
assurances that the necessary improvements will be made as
development progresses. In many areas of Florida, significant
infrastructure improvements need to be made in order to
support additional development. Infrastructure improvernent
requirements could adversely affect the ability of developers
in Florida, including Flagler, to develop real estate projects.

Larger developments may be regulated as a Development of
Regional impact (DRI} if they meet statutorily prescribed
thresholds. The process for obtaining governmental approval
of a DRI project includes an evaluation ¢f the project’s impact
on the environment, infrastructure and government services,
and requires the involvernent of numerous federal, state and
local governmental agencies. The DRI review process is
lengthy and expensive and may result in an approval that
requires significant capital improvements or other exactions
as a condition of the approved development.

In addition, federal, state and local regulations govern the
development of lands containing endangered or protected
wildlife species, and sensitive environmental areas such as
wetlands and coastal areas. Much of the developable land in
Florida is impacted by those regulations. As a result, those
regulations may limit the Company's ability to develop its real
estate holdings.

Real estate ownership and development is subject to extersive
federal, state and local environmental regulation governing
hazardous substances. Pursuant to those regulations, the:
owner or operator of contaminated real estate may be
required to perform remediation, regardless of the cause ol
the contamination. The sale or development of properties
may also be restricted due to environmental concerns. In
addition, violation of those regulations may result in ¢ivil
penalties, remediation expenses, natural resource damages,
injunctions and cease and desist orders and criminal penzil-
ties. The Company is not presently aware of any material
contamination, or any material adverse environmental devsal-
opment issues relating to its real estate operations. However,
there can be no assurance that environmental issues will not
arise in the future.

As part of the Codina acquisition, the Company acquired a
permitted, but non-operating construction and demolition
debris facility, This site is required to be closed in accordance
with the regulations of the Miami-Dade Department of
Environmental Resources Management.
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For the brokerage business, all salespersons providing broker-
age services are licensed and regulated through the State of
Florida’s Real Estate Commission {FREC) and must follow the
rules and guidelings of Chapter 475, F.S. The faw's intent is to
protect the public from damage due to fraud or incompetence
by broker licensees.

Financial Information About FECI's Segments

The Company had total segment operating revenues of
$458.2 million, an operating profit of $90.4 million in 2006
and total assets of $1.4 billion at December 31, 2006. (See
Note 10; Segment Information of the Financia! Statements
and Supplementary Data set forth in Part I, tem 8 of this
report on Form 10-K). The Company's total Railway segment
operating revenues were $264.1 million and real estate seg-
ment revenues were $194.1 million (which included realty
sales of $49.2 million). Operating profit included $78.5 million
from the Railway, $28.2 miflion from real estate (which included
realty sales of $16.0 million}, less $16.3 million of corporate
general and administrative expenses.

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

All raw materials FECR and Flagler use, including fuel, track
materials and building construction materials, are available

in adeguate supply from multiple sources. However, there

has been a change in fuel supply. In May 2004 the Bush
Administration signed the Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) Clean Air Non-Road Diesel Rule, which requires stringent
pollution controls on diesel engines used in industries such as
construction, agriculture and mining. The Clean Air Non-Road
Digsel Rule requires a decrease in the sulfur content of diesel
fuel. High suffur diesel fuel contains approximately 5,000 parts
per million (ppm) of sulfur content. This Rule requires the
reduction of the level of sulfur to 500 ppm (low sulfur diesel
fuel) effective June 2007 for non-road, locomotive and marine
{NRLM) diesel fuels. Due to the small refiner and credit provi-
sions of the ruling, the Railway may be able to purchase high
sulfur diesel fuel, if available, until June 1, 2010. However, the
supply of high sulfur diese! fue! is uncertain after May 31,
2007. Effective June 2010, the sulfur content is required to be
reduced to 15 ppm (ultra-low sulfur diesel) for non-road fuel,
and by Jurne 2012 for locomotive and marine fuels. Due to this
Rule, the fuel supply market has been changing to accommo-
date for the demand for low sulfur diesel fuel. The market for
low sulfur diesel fuel is evolving and could increase fuel costs
in the future which could lower operating profit.

Seasonality

FECR's rail traffic is relatively stable throughout the year with
higher volumes ordinarily occurring during the second and
fourth quarters of the year. The Company's real estate busi-
ness is not generally seasonal.

Working Capital

At December 31, 20086, the Company's current liabilities
exceeded current assets by $27.1 milion due primarily to a
significant amount of accounts payable and accrued liabilities
for buildings under construction being outstanding at
December 31, 2006. The Company has a $150 million
revolving-credit facility (see Note 17 of Item 8 of the Financial
Statements). At December 31, 2006, there were ho monies
drawn on the facility {see also Part I, Item 7; Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations). At December 31, 2006, the Company had a
cash and cash equivalent balance of $5.1 million. The
Company expects to fund its development activities with
future cash flows from its rail and real estate businesses as
well as from its un-drawn revolving credit facility.

On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina. The initial con-
sideration included $66 million of cash for certain property
interests, assumption or repayment of $31 million of debit and
the issuance of 1,713,431 shares at $44.60 per share, as
valued at the date of the acquisition announcement, to Mr.
Codina and 288,518 shares {as further described in Note 13)
at an average price of $54.90 per share, as valued at the
grant date, to certain Codina employees. In addition, Mr.
Codina may receive additional contingent consideration based
upon achievernent of certain value-based milestones. These
milestones include 706,581 shares tied to certain land use
approvals, $29.2 million upon certain partnership distributions
from a joint venture, 471,055 shares based on cumulative
FECI stock price improvements of up to an additional $27.00
per share over the next five years; and 117,763 shares is
dependent on the Company agreeing to move forward with
a proposed residential development. All equity related to the
Codina acquisition has been issued from the Company's
treasury stock. The purchase price is subject to post-closing
adjustments based on certain closing conditions and upon
the common stock price on the date when certain of the
contingencies are satisfied. An escrow agent holds the contin-
gent equity. During the second and fourth quarters of 2006,
certain contingencies related to FECI stock price improvements
were satisfied and 282,633 shares, together with applicable
dividends, were refeased to Mr. Codina. An additional 3,860
shares were issued in the fourth quarter of 2006 based cn a
working capital adjustment.

The Company used existing cash, including cash held in
§1031 escrow funds, to satisfy the cash and debt repayment
neads of closing the acquisition.
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Employees

FECI employed 36 people; FECR employed 800, and Flagler
(inclusive of Godina employees) had 217 employees as of
December 31, 2006. Approximately 563 of FECR's employees
are represented by labor unions: United Transportation Union
(UTU), representing train and engine service empfoyees,
Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way Employees (BMWE),
representing track maintenance, structures and roadway
shop employees, and International Brotherhood of Electrical
Workers (IBEW), representing agents and clerical, carmen,
maintenance of equipment foremen, signals and communica-
tions, train dispatchers, boilermakers, electricians, machinists,
sheetmetal workers and shop laborers.

During 2005, the Company successfully ratified bargaining
agreements with the UTU, IBEW and the BMWE. All agree-
ments were extended for a range of three to five years; carry
annual general wage increases of approximately 3%, and
held employee participation rates for health care at current
levels throughout the terms of the agreements.

Company Web Address: www.feci.com

The Company’s Annuat Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments
to those reports are available through the Company’s website
(www.feci.com} as soon as reasonably practicable after such
material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission and print copies are available free
of charge upon request from the Company.

Additionally, the Company’s Code of Conduct, Corporate
Governance Guidelines and Charters of the Committees of
the Board of Directors are also posted on the website. This
information is alse available in print form via mail by request
to the Company.

ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

RAILWAY (AND DRAYAGE)

Cyclical Risks: FECR's freight traffic is subject to economic
cycles in the U.S. national, regional and local economies and,
to a lesser extent, the international economies. Historically, traf-
fic tends to increase at the beginning of an economic recovery.
Traffic tends to decrease early in an economic downturn,

Market Risks: FECR's freight traffic is generally affected by
overall economic conditions in Florida and the southeast.
FECR's largest market, aggregates, is highly dependent upon
the residential construction market, the commercial construc-
tion market and state and federal highway construction. The
pace of residential construction as well as the level of state
and federal highway and other public projects can affect the
amount of aggregate loadings FECR’s customers request.

The condition of international economies, including the
Caribbean, South America and Asian economies can also
affect the Railway’s intermodal traffic. There can be no assur-
ance that the overall economy will rebound quickly from any
slowdowns or that Florida’s economy will continue to experi-
ence growth higher than the national average. Florida's resi-
dential real estate market slowed in 2006 and it is unknown
when the pace of construction will improve.

Claims and Lawsuits: The nature of FECR's business
exposes it to the potential for various ¢claims and litigation
related to labor and employment, personal injury and occupa-
tional illness, property damage, environmental and other mat-
ters. FECR maintains insurance for most of these potential
claimsg, subject to varying deductibles and self-insured reten-
tions. Therefore, FECR may be subject to claims or litigetion
that could involve significant expenditures {see also Part [,
item 3 for a discussion of legal proceedings).

Fuel Price Risks: FECR's operations require significant
amounts of diesel fuel. Prices of diesel fuel can vary greatly.
Increases in fuel price may be passed along to customers
through a “fuel surcharge” or otherwise, though often with
delayed effect. However, there are no assurances that these
surcharges will cover the entire fuel price increase for a given
period, or that competitive market conditions will effectively
allow FECR to pass along this cost. FECR forward purchases
fuel to manage the risk of fuel price increases. As of December
31, 20086, FECR had forward purchase contracts of 2.3 million
gallons of fuel for delivery from January 1, 2007 to December
31, 2007 for an average purchase price of $2.21 per gallon
before taxes and freight. This represents 15% of the estimated
consumption for 2007, The Company has been reducing the
amount of fuel it forward purchases due to an increase in the
number of customers paying a fuel surcharge.

On January 26, 2007, the Surface Transportation Board con-
cluded its inquiry into railroad fuef surcharge practices by issu-
ing a final rule declaring it an unreasonable practice for railroads
to compute fuel surcharges as a percentage of the base rate.
The STB also determined that the practice of “double dipping,”
i.e., applying both a fuel surcharge and a rate increase that is
based on a cost index that includes a fuel cost component, is
an unreasonable practice. The ruling does not apply to traffic
that is exempt from regulation by previous actions of the STB
or its predecessor agency or to traffic that is handled undar a
transportation contract. Most of the Railway's traffic, including
intermodal, aggregate, automabiles and many other commodi-
ties, is exermnpt from this ruling either by commodity exernption
or as traffic moving under a contract. The ruling should hzwve lit-
tle impact to the amount of fuel surcharge billed in 2007, as it
will only affect the method of calculation for shipments moving
under public pricing for non-exempt commoedities.
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In May 2004, the Bush Administration signed the EPA Clean:
Air Non-Road Diesel Rule, which requires stringent pollution
controls on diese! engines used in industries such as con-
struction, agricutture and mining. The Clean Air Non-Road
Diesel Rule requires a decrease in the sulfur content of diesel
fuel. High suffur diesel fuel contains approximately 5,000
parts per milion (ppm) of sulfur content. This Rule reguires
the reduction of the levet of sulfur to 500 ppm (low sulfur die-
sei fuel) effective June 2007 for non-road, locomotive and
marine (NRLM) diesel fuels. Due to the small refiner and credit
provisions of the ruling, the Railway may be able to purchase
high sulfur diese! fuel, if available, until June 1, 2010.
However, the supply of high sulfur diesel fuet is uncertain after
May 31, 2007. By June 2010, the sulfur content is required to
be reduced to 15 ppm {ultra-low sulfur diesel) for non-road
fuel, and by June 2012 for locomotive and marine fuels. Due
to this Rule, the fuel supply market has been changing to
accommodate for the demand for low sulfur diesel fuel. The
market for low sulfur diesel fuel is evolving and could increase
fuel costs in the future lowering operating profit.

Interchange Carrier Risks: Approximately 33% of FECR's
traffic is interchanged from CSXT, SCFE or NS. The ability of
these carriers (CSXT and NS) to market and service south-
bhound traffic into the Florida market will affect the amount of
traffic FECR moves.

Rail Car Utilization Risks: FECR earns per diem rents on the
use of its rail car and intermodal fleet of equipment based on
other railroads’ or transportation service providers' use of the
equipment. Future significant downturns in the overall U.S.
economy, eguipment obsolescence or reduced market
demand for FECR's car and/or intermodal fleet, or efforts by
other railroads or transportation providers to improve equip-
ment utilization practices or increase or decrease the size of
their equipment fleets could affect the utilization of and per
diem rents for FECR’s equipment. Also, FECR, through
operating agreements, currently leases approximately 4,050
rail cars from Greenbrier Leasing Corporation (Greenbrier),
Bornbardier Capital (Bombardier) and other entities, with
lease lengths generally of three, five and ten years. The lease
terms call for FECR to be billed an hourly rate based upon
the length of time the car is on FECR's railroad (on-ling) or on
another railroad (off-line). As a car goes off-line, a per diem
rent sharing arrangement goes into effect whereby Greenbrier
and FECR apportion the rent based upon the length of time
the car is off-line. At December 31, 2006, the Railway owned
323 flatcars that are becoming obsolete in the industry.
FECR is downsizing this fleet over time, as major repairs are
needed, which will lower per diem rents in the future. Rents
from the Greenbzrier, Bombardier and other leases received by
FECR were $4.3 million, $4.7 million, $3.9 million in 2008,
2005 and 2004, respectively, Certain of these leases provide
for base rents payable to Greenbrier and others by FECR if
the car remains on FECR’s line for a specified number of

days. To date, these base rents (i.e., those above normal car
hire} payable to Greenbrier and others have been minimal.

Natural Disaster Risks: FECR's operating assets are located
on Florida’s eastern seaboard and susceptible to damage,
destruction and ¢perational disruption from natural disasters
such as hurricanes and other severe storms. Damage and
destruction of operating assets could be material with accom-
panying long periods of operational outage. Additionally, the
operations and properties of some of FECR's customers {(espe-
cially aggregate suppliers) are also subject to natural disasters,
which can significantly reduce the volumes they ship.

Windstorm Insurance: The Railway renewed its property
insurance, including windstorm coverage, in the fourth quar-
ter of 2008. The market for windstorm coverage remains very
limited and costly. It is unknown how much windstorm cover-
age the Railway will purchase in the future and it is possible
that Railway property will experience windstorm damage and
utility service interruption in excess of insurance limits.

Concentration Risks of Business with Aggregate Customers:
FECR has three primary aggregate customers with operations
in south Florida whose aggregate revenues represents 28% of
FECR’s total annual revenues. One customer represents 20%
of freight revenues. FECR's revenues are affected by the
demand for aggregate material, primarily in Florida, and the
ability of these customers to supply, efficiently and effectively,
this natural raw material. While there are no assurances,
FECR’s customers expact to have adequate reserves of min-
able aggregate material to satisfy demand in the foreseeable
future. Alsc, there have been attempts to consolidate certain
aggregate suppliers in 20068, which could impact FECR's
aggregate volumes if the decision were made to shift traffic
patterns or locations.

Mining Permits: On March 29, 20086, the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida issued a ruling that
several mining permits for the Lake Belt area in South Florida
were granted without issuance of an adequate Environmental
lmpact Statement (EIS} and had other deficiencies. The judge
remanded the matter to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
(Corps), and the Fish and Wilkdlife Service (FWS) for a supple-
mental EIS and consideration of the other deficiencies.

Following the initial order, the court held evidentiary hearings
to consider whether to issue any interim orders to limit or
cease aggregate mining under the permits which are the |
subject of the lawsuit. The hearings were completed in the

fourth quarter of 2006; briefs have been filed, It is unknown

when a ruling regarding current mining activities will be

issued and, if one were issued, what the scope of it would

be and what the impact on our Railway's business would be.

In 2006, aggregate loads accounted for approximately $76.5

million or 29% of the Railway's revenue.
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REALTY

Market Risks: The Company real estate business has ben-
efited from a strong economy in Florida, The Company can-
not assure that the strength of the Florida economy will
continue. Certain significant expenditures associated with the
development, management and servicing of real estate (such
as real estate taxes, maintenance costs and debt payments,
if any) generally could not be reduced even if an economic
downturn caused less revenue to be generated from the
Company's properties. Additionally, capital expenditures
{especially infrastructure related) for development of office
parks occur early in the construction cycle, potentially
becoming subject to longer than expected holding periods
and costs in the event of economic downturns.

Development Risks: The Company's real estate development
activities require significant capital expenditures. Capital
investment at Flagler for 2007 (which includes investments in
joint ventures), before any land acquisitions, is expected to be
between $90 millicn and $115 millior. The Company abtains
funds for its capital expenditures and operating activities
through operating cash flows, property sales and financings.
There can be no assurance that funds available from operat-
ing cash flows, property sales and financings wilt continue to
be sufficient to fund the Company’s required or desired capital
expenditures for development. If the Company were unable to
obtain sufficient funds, it might have to defer or otherwise limit
certain development activities. Further, any new development,
or any rehabilitation of older projects, may require compliance
with new building codes and other regulations. The Company
cannot estimate the cost of complying with such codes and
regulations, and such costs can make a new project, or some
otherwise desirable uses of an existing project, not economi-
cally feasible. Additionally, the Company's current real estate
developments anticipate certain land uses, some of which will
require future governmental approvals and concurrence. The
ability or inability to get such approvals as anticipated, could
effect and alter materially the Campany's current developmen-
tal plans and financial reviews.

Cyclical Risks: Flagler's leasing occcupancy and development
are subject to the effect of economic cycles at the regional
and local levels and, to a lesser extent, in the U.S. national
aconomy. Historically, leasing occupancy and new building
development activity improve late in a period of economic
recovery and are affected negatively later than other busi-
nesses in an economic downturn.

Natural Disaster Risks: Flagler's assets are located in Florida
and are susceptible to damage, destruction and operational
disruption (including rents from tenants} from natural disasters
like hurricanes and other severe storms. Damage and
destruction of operating assets could be material with
accompanying long periods of operational outage.

Windstorm Insurance: Available capacity for windstorm cov-
erage in Florida is limited, and at significantly higher cosls. As
a consequence, in 2006 the Company purchased lesser
amounts of insurance coverage at a greater cost than the
expiring coverage and is self-insuring a greater amount of this
exposure than it has in past years. It is possible that the
Company will experience windstorm damage to its properties
in excess of available insurance.

Joint Venture Risks: From time to time, the Company irvests
in joint ventures in which it does not hold a controlling inter-
est. These investments involve risks that do not exist with
properties in which the Company owns a controlling interast,
including the possibility that partners may, at any time, have
business, economic or other objectives that are inconsistent
with the Company's objectives. In instances where the
Company lacks a controlling interest, the partners may be in
a position to require action that is contrary to the Company’s
objectives. While FECI seeks to negotiate the terms of these
joint ventures in a way that secures the Company's ability to
act in its best interests, there can be no assurance that those
terms will be sufficient to fully protect the Company against
actions contrary to the Company’s interests. If the objectives
of the Company’s partners are inconsistent with FECI’s, the
Company may not in every case be able to act exclusively in
FECI's interests.

Construction Risks: The cornmercial construction industry
has from time to time experienced significant difficulties,
including: shartages of qualified trades peaple; reliance on
local subcontractors who may be inadequately capitalized,
shortages of materials; and volatile increases in the cost of
materials, particularly increases in the price of cement and
steel, which are significant components of commercial con-
struction costs. The Company may not be able to recapiure
increased costs by raising prices either because of market
conditions or because the Company fixes its prices at tha
time construction contracts are signed.

Customer Concentration Risk: Of the tenants leasing space
in the Company's 100% owned buildings, no single customer
exceeds 5% of the overall building revenue or total square
footage of the portfolio. Within the real estate services busi-
ness, there is a customer concentration risk that exists as
50% of real estates services revenues in 2006 were from two
customers, AMB Properties (28%) and TIAA-CREF (229),
either directly or through joint ventures. Loss of business from
either of these companies would have a direct impact on the
revenues of the real estate services business.
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Residential Development Risk: The Company is developing
residential condominium units for sale through its Downtown
Doral joint venture with an affiiate of JPMorgan. Downward
changes in general economic, real estate construction or other
business conditions could adversely affect this project or its
financial results. The residential homebuilding industry is sensi-
tive to changes in economic conditions and other factors, such
as the level of employment, consumer confidence, consumer
income, availability of financing and interest rate levels. Adverse
changes in any of these conditions, could decrease demand
and pricing for condominium units or result in customer cancel-
lations of pending contracts, which could adversely affect the
number of unit deliveries or reduce the prices the Company can
charge for these units, either of which could resutt in a decrease
in FECl's revenues and earnings. In addition, the Company and
the joint venture capitalize certain pre-development costs related
{o its residential development projects. These costs may need
to be written-off if the projects do not move into development.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company's material physical properties at December 31,
20086 are listed below and are grouped by industry segment.

RAILWAY

FECR owns a railroad right-of-way, generally 100-feet wide,
along the east coast of Florida extending for 351 miles from
Jacksonville to Miami, used for its railroad operations. FECR
also owns and operates approximately 268 miles of branch,
switching and other secondary track, 167 miles of yard track,
various rail car marshalling yards, trailer/container and automo-
bile loading and unloading facilities, signaling system facilities,
and a number of operating offices, shops and service house
buildings. In 2006, the Company sold its headquarter facilities
in St. Augustine, Florida. This is included in “Gain on Sale of
Asset” on the income statement. The Railway's headquarters
are now located in Jacksonville, Florida in space leased from
the Company’s real estate (Flagler) arm. FECI has offices in
Jacksonville and Coral Gables.

On March 2, 1998, FECR entered into a Trackage Agreement
with SCFE providing for, among other things, the operation
and maintenance by SCFE of 56 miles of branch mainline
owned by FECR extending from Fort Pierce, west to Lake
Harbor. On November 25, 2005, FECR notified SCFE that the
Trackage Agreement would terminate on January 1, 2025
after the required notice period.

FECR's tracks, bridges and other fixed property and signal
improvernents are maintained to a level based on the needs of
service. The mainline is, in general, constructed of 132-pound
per vard continuous welded rail supported on concrete cross-
ties. These facilities provide a reliable infrastructure for rail
operations suited to the business demands of customers,
including unrestricted movement of double-stacked contain-
ers, tri-level automobiles and heavier axle rail cars. The branch
mainlines, way switching and yard tracks are, for the most
part, of 115-pound per yard materials supported by wood ties.

FECR owns or leases 84 diesel electric locomotives, 6,045
freight cars, 1,663 trailers, containers and chassis for highway
revenue service, numerous pieces of rail-mounted and non-
rail-mounted work equipment and numerous automobiles
used in maintenance and transportation operations. Generally,
FECR's equipment is in good physical condition, considering
its years of service and operating utilization. FECR took deliv-
ery of four new locomotives in December 2006.

During 2003, FECR commenced an “engineering and eco-
nomics™ based study of its principal right-of-way and equip-
ment assets to develop a multi-year maintenance and
replacement plan and associated estimates of the assets’
remaining lives. The engineering studies segregated the
equipment and right-of-way asssts into the following major
groupings: locomotives, rolling stock and equipment (e.g.,
hoppers, flatcars, auto racks, trailers, etc.), bridges, and track
structure {rail, ties, ballast, and other track material). These
studies ware finalized in the following periods: locomotive and
rolling stock - second half of 2004; bridges — first quarter of
2005; and the track structure - fourth quarter of 2005.

The locomotive and rolling stock study indicated no substantive
change in annual maintenance or capital replacement program.
The bridge study indicated no substantive change in the
depreciable lives and generally, bridges would continue to be
depreciated over a 61.5-year life. The bridge study also indicated
that while FECR's bridge assets are in acceptable operational
condition based on the Company's continuing maintenance
and ingpection programs, FECR is entering a 10 to 20 year
period where, based on the age and construction materials
used, certain bridges will be studied further, monitored and
possibly replaced. The management team does not expect
replacement costs for bridges to matenially alter its normative
annual capital budget, however this estimate is subject to
change, and such changes could be materal. Overall, the
study indicated the track system to be in good condition.

Based upon the results of the study, the foliowing depreciable
lives were changed. Annual depreciation is expected to
increase approximately $0.7 million as a result of the change.
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Previous Current

Depreciable Life Depreciable Life

Locomotives:

Hulk/chassis 10 years 7 years

Overhauls 10 years 7 years
Rolling Stock:

Hoppers & gondolas 7-32.5 years 7-50 years

Flats 7-18.5 years 7 =50 years

Vans & flatbeds 10 years 20 years

Chassis 10 years 20 years

Auto racks 19 years 15 years
Track:

Rail/other track material 50 years 45 years

Turnouts 50 years 45 years

in addition, FECR currently manages approximately 4,050 rail cars from Greenbrier Leasing Corporation, Bombardier Capital and
other entities, with lease lengths generally of three, five and ten years. The lease terms call for FECR to be billed an hourly rate based
upon the length of time the car is on FECR's railroad {on-ting) or on another railroad (off-line). As a car goes off-line, a per diem rent
sharing arrangement goes into effect whereby Greenbrier and FECR apportion the rent based upon the length of time the car is
off-line. At December 31, 20086, the Raitway owned 323 flatcars that are becoming obsolete in the industry. FECR is downsizing
this fleet over time, as major repairs are needed, which will lower per diem rents in the future. Rents from the Greenbrier, Bombardier
and other leases received by FECR were $4.3 million, $4.7 million, $3.9 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Certain of
these leases provide for base rents payable to Greenbrier and others by FECR if the car remains on FECR's line for a specified
number of days. To date, these base rents {i.e., those above normal car hire) payable to Greenbrier and others have been minimal,

REAL ESTATE

Flagler is headquartered in Coral Gables, Florida and has offices in Jacksonville, Orlando and Miami, At year-end 2006, Flagler’s
commercial and industrial portfolio included 68 100% owned buildings, exclusive of buildings in lease-up, which aggregated
7.9 million rentable sqg. ft. Flagler’s income-producing properties are detailed below:

Flagler's Income-Producing Buildings
{100% Owned Properties)
{at December 31, 2006)

No. of Rentable Qccupied % Year
Location Bldgs. Type Sq. F. Sq. Ft.  QOccupied Built
100% Owned Properties
duPont Center
Jacksenville, FL. 2 Office Buildings 160,000 143,488 90 1987-88
Deerwood North
Jacksonville, FL 4 Office Buildings 496,841 449,651 91 1999-05
Deerwood South
Jacksonville, FL 4 Office Buildings 520,022 455,908 88 1996-04
Flagler Center
Jacksonvilte, FL 4 Office Buildings 466,872 463,920 99 1998-05
2 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 209,613 209,613 100 1997-99
1 Fromt Load Warehouse 98,800 98,800 100 1997
2 Rail Warehouses 258,000 253,000 100 1997
Gran Park at The Avenues
Jacksonville, FL 3 Office Buildings 241,568 227,696 94 1992-95
3 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 169,179 123,961 73 1992-97
1 Oifice Warehouse 154,326 154,326 100 1936
Office Center at Southpoint
Jacksonville, FL 1 Office Building 59,600 51,848 87 1939
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No. of Rentable  Occupied % Year
Location Bldgs. Type Sq. Ft. Sq. Ft.  Occupied Built
SouthPark Center | & 1l
Oriando, FL 6 Office Buildings 843,608 820,294 97 1998-05
1 Office/Showroom/Warehouse 131,607 131,607 100 1998
Flagler Station
Miami, FL. 2 Office Buildings 339,864 339,864 100 2000
5 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 367,301 363,301 99 1988-94
11 Office Warehouses 1,629,241 1,528,286 100 1990-01
4 Rail Warehouses 397,680 375,480 o4 1989-94
8 Front Load Warehouses 1,027,984 1,027,984 100 1991-95
1 Office Service Center 38,956 32,796 84 1994-02
1 Retail Building 42,800 24,449 57 2002
Dorat Concourse
Miami, FL 1 Office Building 240,144 223,740 g3 2001
Sunrise Corporate Plaza
Sunrise, FL 1 Office Building 106,648 106,648 100 1999
Total 100% owned buildings 68 7,901,654 7,612,660 96
Flagler's Income-Producing Buildings
(Joint Venture Properties)
{at December 31, 2008)
No. of Rentable Occupied % Year
Location Bldgs. Type Sq. Ft. S8q. Ft. Occupied Built
Joint Venture Properties
Beacon Lakes
{21.2% ownership}
Miami, FL 1 Warehouse 206,650 206,650 100 2004
Total Joint Venture Properties 1 206,650 206,650 100

Certain of these buildings are mortgaged to secure loans with
outstanding balances due of $332.8 million as of December 31,
2006. The mortgage notes consist of $247 million of seven-
and ten-year notes with $232.0 million outstanding at
December 31, 2006, and a blended interest and principal
repayment payable monthly based on a fixed 7.23%
weighted-average interast rate on the cutstanding principal
amount of the martgage notes and a thirty-year amortization
period. In addition, $105 million of seven-year mortgage
notes were issued on August 10, 2004 with $100.8 million
outstanding at December 31, 2006. These seven-year mort-
gage notes consist of a $60 million note with a fixed rate of
interest of 5.27% and a $45 million note with a floating rate of
interest based on the 90-day LIBOR Index plus 1.00%
{6.37% at December 31, 2006). Repayments of principal and
interest are payable menthly based upon a thirty-year amaorti-
zation schedule. These notes mature with remaining principal
due of $79.5 million in 2008 and $229.5 million in 2011.

The Company pericdically reviews its inventary of income-
producing commercial and industrial properties, as well as
undeveloped properties to determine how best to maximize
its value, including possible sale, if market conditions warrant.

The Company will continue to develop additional rentable
commercial and industrial space if market conditions warrant.
The Company currently has 1.9 million sq. ft. under construc-
tion and 1.9 milion sq. ft. in the pre-development phase,
including 970,000 sq. ft. under construction and 468,000
sq ft. in pre-development that are held in unconsolidated
joint ventures.

Projects Under Development: The primary geographic
focus of Flagler's development activities has been in the Miami,
Sunrise, Jacksorwille and Orando markets. The following is a
summary of the Company's development activity as of
Decernber 31, 2006:

At year-end 2006, Flagler had three buildings in lease-up
consisting of two 100% owned buildings and one building
held in an unconsolidated joint venture. Lease-up is defined
as the status of a project that has been issued a certificate of
occupancy, but has not reached the earlier of 90% occupancy
or one year from issuance of certificate of occupancy. The
percentage leased/pre-leased denotes the percentage of
net rentable sq. ft. for which leases had been signed at
December 31, 2006. These properties are detailed below:
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Flagler's Development Activity
{at December 31, 2006)

Actual or Expected

Net Rentable Estimated Costs % Cenlificate of %lLeased/  Property
Ownership % Sq. Ft. to Complete Complete Occupancy Pre-Leased Type
Projects in Lease-Up
100% Flagler Station —~ OW 25 160,211 878,771 90% Apr-06 29% Industrial
21% Beacon Lakes, LLC - Building 6 206,494 1,228,744 90% Apr-06 81% Industrial
100% Flagler Station — Building 1100 118,723 462,824 7% Sep-06 80% Office
Total Projects in Lease-Up 485,428 2,570,339
Projects Under Construction
100% Flagler Center — Lakeside | 112,306 4,813,491 67% Jan-07 63% Office
100% Flagler Center - Lakeside I 112,306 13,071,953 13% Sep-07 0% (Office
100% Flagler Station — OW 28 172,048 2,148,638 7% Feb-07 37% Industrial
100% Flagler Station — OW 29 172,048 1,864,672 80% Feb-07 0% Industrial
100% SouthPark Center | - Building 700 83,262 4,649,004 63% Jan-07 87% Office
50% Beacon Village, LLC Phase 1 Bldg E-1 52,918 1,842,708 72% Jan-07  Held for Sale Industrial
100% SouthPark Center Il - Building 1400 111,888 13,330,949 24% Jun-07 0% Office
100% Flagler Staticn Bldg. 1200 118,296 14,109,874 18% Jul-07 0% Office
21% Beacon Lakes, LLC - Building 7 192,476 4,833,867 66% Feb-07 0% Industrial
20% Flagler Corp Center (Boca 54) -
Office Depot 624,230 148,598,718 8% Oct-08 100% Office
21% Beacon Lakes — Commerce Bank 100,000 13,636,103 8% Dec-07  Held for Sale Office
Total Projects
Under Construction 1,851,888 222,899,977
Projects in Pre-Development
100% SouthPark Center Il - Building 1300 136,709 TBD 0% Office
100% SouthPark Center | — Building 900 18,000 TBD 0% Office
100% Flagler Center — Lakeside V 142,000 TBD 0% Office
100% Flagler Center — Gran Bay Suites
office condos 7,445 T8O 0% Office
100% Flagler Plaza 250,000 T8D 0% (Office
50% Downtown Doral {Denver Building) 65,000 TBD  Held for Sale Office
50% Downtown Doral
(Residential Building G-1) 299,435 TBD  Held for Sale  Residantial
100% C/CM Lejeune (Burger King Building) 248,000 TBD  Held for Sale Office/Retail
50% Beacon Village, LLC
Phase 1 Building £-2 52,918 TBD  Held for Sale Industrial
50% Beacon Village, LLC
Phase 1 Building F-1 35,495 TBD  Held for Sale  Industrial
50% Downtown Doral
{Residential Building K-1}) 223,729 TBD  Heid for Sale Residantial
21% Beacon Lakes, LLC - Building 12 189,740 TBD 0% Industrial
21% Beacon Lakes, LLC - Building 13 189,740 TBD 0% Industrial
Total Projects in
Pre-Development 1,818,211

Total Development &
Pre-Development Projects 4,255,527
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100% OWNED PROPERTIES
UNDER DEVELOPMENT:

SouthPark Center | - Orlando, FL: Located near the inter-
section of John Young Parkway and Beeline Expressway.
Six buildings, totaling 836,000 sq. ft., have been completed,
one of which {(a building of approximately 133,000 sq. ft.}
was sold to a third party during 2003. A seventh building of
approximately 83,000 sq. ft. is currently under construction.
The park has entitlements for an additional 77,490 sq. ft. of
office space. An eighth building of approximately 18,000 sq. ft.
remaing in pre-development.

SouthPark Center Il - Orando, FL: in 1999, based on the
success of SouthPark Center |, Flagler acquired approximately
90 acres across John Young Parkway from its existing park.
The land has remaining entittements for 1.35 million sq. ft. of
office space, as well as 98,000 sq. ft. of commercial space.
Three buildings totaling approximately 332,000 sq. ft., have
been constructed, one of which, a 60,000 sq. ft. build-to-suit
project, was sold to a third party during 2004. At December
31, 2008, a fourth office building (112,000 sq. fi.) was under
construction. One additional building, totaling 137,000 sq. ft.
remains in pre-development.

Flagler Station - Miami, FL: Located northwest of Miami
International Airport. Flagler owns and operates thirty-four
buildings, totaling 4.0 million rentable sg. ft., at December 31,
20086. At December 31, 20086, two of these buildings {279,000
sq. ft.) were in lease-up. Construction is currently underway
for two warehouses totaling 344,000 rentable sg. ft. and a
118,000 sg. ft. rentable office building. The park has entittements
for an additional 2.2 million sq. ft. of office, industrial and retail
space. Flagler owns approximately 81 acres adjacent to this
park for future development or sale.

Flagler Center - Jacksonville, FL: Located in south
Jacksonville at the Old St. Augustine Road and 1-95 interchange.
Flagler owns and operates nine buildings, totaling 1,034,000
rentable sq. ft. The tenth and eleventh office buildings, total-
ing 225,000 sq. ft., are under construction. Additional build-
ings, including a 142,000 sg. ft. office building and 67,000
sq. ft. for office condominiums are in pre-development. The
park has entitlements for an additional 2.5 million sq. ft. of
office, industrial and retail space, as well as entitlements for
260 multi-family units and 130 hotel rooms on approximately
233 developable acres.

Flagler Plaza - Sunrise, FL: A 41-acre tract located in west
Broward County. The property is entitled for 823,000 sq. ft.
of office space. The site is master planned for three office
buildings. Flagler is evaluating the property for future develop-
ment. The first building of approximately 250,000 sq. fi. is in
pre-development,

Sevilla Building - Coral Gables, FL: A 45,000 sq. fi. office
building located in Coral Gables, FL is currently under con-
struction. Two-thirds of this building will be used as corporate
office space for Flagler and FECI in Coral Gables. The remain-
ing one-third of the completed building will be exchanged with
the owner of the underlying land for a pro-rata condominium
interest in that land. This building will not generate ongoing
rental revenues for the Company and therefore is not included
in the Flagler Development activity table.

Burger King Headquarters Building (CM Lejeune LLLP) -
Coral Gables, FL: At December 31, 2006 this project was
100% owned and consolidated by the Company. In January
2007, the Company entered into a joint venture with an affiliate
of JPMorgan in which the Company now retaing a 30% interest
in the project. The venture purchased two acres of land on
which to construct the 225,000 sq. ft. of office and 23,000 sq. ft.
of retail space. At December 31, 2006 this building was in
pre-development.

JOINT VENTURE PROPERTIES
UNDER DEVELOPMENT:

Consolidated Joint Ventures

Downtown Doral (CM Doral Development Company LLC):
A venture with an affiliate of JPMorgan that holds an exclusive
option to acquire and redevelop a 77-acre property in Doral
for residential and commercial uses. The Company has an
interest in a partnership {Codina Doral Ltd.) with Armando
Codina and his children, which holds a 50.1% interest in this
venture. The land is currently entitled for 580,000 sq. ft. of
office and retail space as well as entitlements for 2,840
residential units. At December 31, 2006, there was a 65,000
sq. ft. office building and two residential buildings, totaling
523,000 sq. ft. in pre-development.

Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Beacon Lakes — West Dade, FL: AMB Codina Beacon
Lakes LLC is owned 21.2% by the Company and 78.8% by
an affiiate of AMB Properties. Within the Beacon Lakes devel-
opment is included a proposed 120-unit warehouse condo-
minium project on 57 acres, Beacon Village. Beacon Village is
owned by Beacon Village LLC, which is owned 50% by the
Company and 50% by an affiiate of AMB Properties. The total
480-acre industriat park includes three completed industrial
buildings totaling 605,000 sq. ft. Of these, one building total-
ing 192,000 sq. ft. was sold by the partnership to an affiiate
of AMB Properties in December 2006. Of the remaining two
buildings, one at 206,000 sq. ft. was in lease-up at December
31, 2006. Additionally, 2.5 acres of land was sold during the
year from the park. There are also two industrial buildings
totaling 292,000 sg. ft. and one warehouse condominium
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building at 53,000 sq. ft. under construction. Two industrial
buildings totaling 379,000 sq. ft. and two warehouse condo-
minium buildings totaling 88,000 sq. ft. are in pre-development.
The park has entitlements for 5,749,000 sq. ft. of industrial,
14,000 sq. ft. of office and 75,000 sq. ft. of retail space.

Flagler Corporate Center (Boca 54) - Boca Raton, FL:
Boca 54 Land Associates LLC is owned 20% by the Company
and 80% by an affiiate of TIAA — CREF. The venture owns a
55-acre land parcel. Flagler is developing Office Depot’s new
624,230 sq. ft. global headquarters. The headquarters complex
will be on 29 acres within the 55-acre site. Occupancy is pro-
jected for the fourth quarter of 2008. The project has remaining
entittements of 317,000 sq. ft of office space.

Flagler's land portfolio includes the following major
land holdings:

100% Owned Properties

Cordova Palms (Lemberg North) & Lemberg South: The
Cordova Palms site, located in St. Johns County along U.S.
1 between Jacksonville and St. Augusting, is comprised of
582 acres and will be bisected by the planned future State
Road 313. The Company is pursuing the necessary govern-
mental approvals for the development of a mixed-use project
on the site. if successful, Flagler plans to develop 1,700 resi-
dential units, 100,000 sq. ft. of office, 800,000 sq. fi. of retail
and 200,000 sq. ft. of industrial space. The Lemberg South
site is 518 acres also located in St. Johns County near U.S. 1
between Jacksonville and St. Augusting, 133 acres of which
are currently under conservation easement. The Company is
evaluating the highest and best use of the remaining acreage
at Lemberg South.

Lakeland Central Park: Flagler is in the regulatory approval
phase of the development of this site, which contains 386
developable acres. The property is situated just off Interstate
4 in Lakeland, which is between the Tampa and Crando mar-
kets. Flagler is processing a Development of Regional Impact
application for the project, which if successful, will provide
entitlements for a mix of uses. The development plan includes
5.0 million sq. ft. of industrial, 850,000 sq. ft. of office and
225,000 sq. ft. of retail space. Additionally there would be
300 residential units and 125 hotel rooms.

Fort Pierce K-4: A 320-acre tract is located in St. Lucie County
at the southeast quadrant of the intersection of I-95 and the
Florida Turnpike. The land use designaticn for the property is
for mixed-use development, with 245 acres of the property
presently zoned for heavy and light industrial uses. When
market analysis reflects the proper demand for industrial use,

the property could be developed as industrial zoned proparty.
Various approvals from state, regional and local government
entities will be required.

Downtown Miami Lot: This B.4-acre tract is located in
downtown Miami fronting on NW First Avenue adjacent to
the Miami Arena, the Stephen P. Clark county administration
building and the recently completed federal courthouse. The
future land-use designation and zoning of the property are
for office/mixed-use. Flagler continues (o evaluate the best
method to develop the property.

Beacon Commons: A 92-acre parcel located in Dade
County on NW 74th Street between 97th and 107th Avenues
in the city of Doral, Florida. The property is approved for
mixed-use development. Flagler is currently evaluating the
development plans for the site. The site could be developed
with up to 200,000 sq. ft. of office space, 533,000 sg. ft. of
retaii, 282 multi-family units and 250 hotel rooms.

Beacon Countyline: This 497-acre parcel is located in
Dade County in the city of Hialeah, Florida. The city of
Hialeah is currently pursuing including this parcel within the
Urban Development Boundary (UDB). Once included in the
UDB, Flagler intends to commence the Developrment of
Regional Impact and zoning processes. Flagler intends to
develop 4.4 million sq. ft. of industrial space, 1.2 million sq.
ft. of office space and 380,000 sq. ft. of retail space at
Beacon Countyline.

Flagler Crossing (Miller Tract): FECR owns approximately
62 developable acres west of the railroad right-of-way and
fronting on the San Sebastian River in addition to Flagler’s
64 developable acre parcel at the Miller Tract, which fronts
U.S. 1 at the northem boundary of the City of St. Augustine.
Flagler is assisting the Railway in evaluating appropriate uses
and in obtaining development approvals for this real estate.
The 62-acre parcel has zoning approval in place for 248
multifamily residential units. During 2006, development rights
were obtained for up to 640 multifamily residential units and
150,000 sq. ft. of retail development on the 64-acre parcel.

FECR Properties

FECR also owns or has an interest in 1,455 acres of ancillary
properties outside of the right-of-way, which are redundant to
the Railway's operating requirements, including several aban-
doned rait corridors containing 872 acres. FECR continues to
evaluate these holdings and, when appropriate, engages in
strategic activities (sales, development, etc.) Exclusive of
operating rail yards, some of FECR’s land portfolio includes
the following:
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Right-of-Way Corridors: The Company continues to hold
an interest in several corridors, upon which rail service is
not currently provided.

The Titusville Branch in Volusia and Brevard counties is
approximately 35 miles in length and contains 450 acres. In
addition, the Edgewater Branch extends from Edgewater to
Maytown connecting with the Titusvile Branch. This corridor
is approximately 16 miles in length and contains 191 acres.
The Cormnpany is negotiating an agreement to sell both of
these corridors to the state of Florida.

The Wye parcel, originating at the former Maytown connec-
tion discussed above, containg 84 acres. The Company is
negotiating an agreement to sell the Wye parcel to an adja-
cent owner.

A remaining 4.5-mile section of the Palatka Branch in Putnam
County, containing 55 acres, that extend south from SR 207
in East Palatka, has been abandoned for a considerable
period of time. The Company is evaluating aiternative uses of
the right-of-way and may offer it for sale.

A corriclor extends south for approximately six miles fram
the Miamni International Airport to a major metropolitan mall

in Miami-Dade County. The northern portion of this corridor
remains in rail service. In 2005, the southern five miles
{containing 61 acres) were abandoned. While the Company
continues io use the property for various operating purposes,
it is evaluating alternative uses for the right-of-way.

Lakeland Distribution Center {(Key Safety): This 117-acre
site is located on County Line Road in Lakeland, Florida.
Flagler is seeking permits to develop the site for industrial/
warehouse uses of up to 1.1 million sq. ft. on approximately
60 developable acres.

Cadillac Gage Property: This property is located in an
industrial area fronting on Cideo Road in Cocoa, Florida. This
92-acre property has over 115,000 sq. ft. of existing ware-
house space and approximately 50 acres of usable property
on which additional industrial sites can be developed.

Eyster Boulevard: This site is located in the City of
Rockledge, south of Eyster Boulevard, and consists of
37 acres with approximately 1,290 ft. of frontage along
Eyster Boulevard and over 2,600 ft. of rail frontage. A por-
tion of the site has 330 ft. of frontage along Murrell Road.
Approximately 27 acres were sold in 2006 to an industrial
company that is required to construct an access road within
the granted easernent (3 acres). The road will provide
access to the buyer's parcel as well as the remainder of the

property still owned by the Company. Approximatety 20
acres are expected to be leased to a rail customer. The
remaining 17 acres are expected to be developed or mar-
keted for commercial and industrial uses.

New Smyrna: Thig site is located on Route 44 in New Smyrna
Beach along Florida's east coast. The property includes
undeveloped acreage and an active FECR locomotive repair
shop. The undeveloped acreage offers a variety of uses and
will require re-zoning to take advantage of alternative uses to
its current industrial zoning.

Summary of FECI Land Holdings

The Company owned and managed 5,752 acres of land at
year-end 2006, which included 641 acres on which buildings
are located; 567 acres of developable land with entitlements,
including the projects under development described in ltem 1,
Part | of this report; 3,089 acres of unentitled land, including
the undeveloped properties described in ltem 1, Part | of this
report, and 1,455 acres held by FECR. These properties are
held for lease, development and/or sale and are in fourteen
counties of the state of Florida with 4,297 acres held by
Flagter and 1,455 acres held by FECR. The land holdings
held in unconsolidated joint ventures include 72 acres on
which buildings are located and 286 acres of developable
land with entittements.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is the defendant and plaintiff in various lawsuits
resulting from its operations. In the opinion of management,
appropriate provision has been made in the financial state-
ments for the estimated liability that may result from disposi-
tion of such matters. The Company maintains comprehensive
liaility insurance for bodily injury and property claims, but is
self-insured or maintains a significant self-insured retention
{i.e., deductible) for these exposures, particularly at FECR.
These lawsuits are related to alleged bodily injuries sustained
by Railway employees or third parties, employment related
matters such as aileged wrongful termination and commercial
or contract disputes, including disputes related to real estate,
property management and bankruptcies.

The Company is subject to proceedings and consent decrees
arising out of its historic disposal of fuel and oil used in the
transportation business. The Company has on-going ground-
water treatment systems at its major vard facilities. It is the
Company's policy to accrue environmental cleanup costs
when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an
amount can be reasonably estimated. As assessments and
cleanups proceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted.
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The Company participated, together with other parties (work-
ing group), in the remediaticn of a former waste oil disposal
site in Jacksonville, Florida pursuant to an agreement with the
United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). The
construction phase was completed in 2006. The site will have
on-going maintenance requirements for an extended period
of time. The working group has pre-funded 100% of the
expected maintenance costs. The Company does not antici-
pate any additional costs for this site.

The Beacon Countyline project acquired in the Codina acquisition
transaction on April 27, 2008, consists of 497 acres of vacant
land in Hialeah, Florida. Approximately 400 acres of the site
were previously operated as a permitied construction and
demolition debris disposal facility. While certain portions of the
site have been closed in accordance with applicable regula-
tions, a significant portion of the site still needs to be closed in
accordance with regulations of Miami-Dade Department of
Environmental Resources Management. The closure activities
consist primarily of clearing, compaction and providing a cover
for the Jandfill. Consulting environmental and geotechnical
engineering firms have evaluated the expected costs of closure.
The expected cost of $24.2 million is included in other long-
term liabilities as of December 31, 20086,

The Company monitors a small number of other sites leased
to others, or acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries.
Based on management’s ongoing review and monitoring of the
sites, and the ability to seek contribution or indemnification
from the potentially responsible parties (PRPs), the Company
does not expect to incur material additional costs, if any.

It is difficult to quantify future environmental costs as many issues
relate to actions by third parties or changes in environmental reg-
ulations. However, based on information presently avaitable,
management believes that the ultimate dispasition of currently
known matters will not have a material effect on the financial
position, liquidity or results of operations of the Company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF
MATTERS TO A VOTE OF
SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders
during the fourth quarter of 20086.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S
COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock and
Dividend Policy

The common stock of FECI is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange with the symbol “FLA.” As of February 20, 2007,
there were 1,501 holders of record of FECl’'s common stock.

The foliowing table shows the high and low sales prices end
dividends per share by quarter for 2006 and 2005:

Cash
Dividends

Common Stock Price High Low Paid
2006
Fourth Quarter

Common stock $63.64 $56.18 $0.07
Third Quarter

Common stock $58.67 $44.98 $0.07
Second Quarter

Common stock $57.66 $48.55 $0.07
First Quarter

Common stock $54.28 $41.86 $0.06
2005
Fourth Quarter

Common stock $45.70 $40.55 $0.08
Third Quarter

Common stock $48.49 $39.91 $0.06
Second Quarter

Common stock $44.10 $38.90 $0.06
First Quarter

Common stock $45.50 $40.50 $0.05

The Company pays quarterly cash dividends on its outstanding
shares of common stock. The Company currently expects to

continue paying quarterly cash dividends in an amount at least
equal to the dividends paid in 2006; however, the determination
of the amount of future cash dividends, if any, to be declarad

and paid by the Company will depend upon, among other things,
the Company’s financial condition, funds from operations, level
of capital expenditures, future business prospects and othar

factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors. The closing
price of the common stock was $64.01 as of February 20, 2007.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan

Number of Securities to be

Issued Upon Exercise of
Qutstanding Options,

Weighted Average

Exercise Price of
Qutstanding Options,

Number of Securities Remaining
Available for Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans
(excluding securities

Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights reflected in column (&)
(@ () ©
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 271,993 $32.84 2,617,095
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders 288,518@ -
Total 560,511 $32.84 2,617,085

(1) As of December 31, 2006, includes 1,803,680 sharas available for future issuance under the Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended
and restated effective June 2, 2005, and 715,834 shares reserved for issuance under the Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

(2) These shares are restricted stock issued to Codina Group employees upan their employment with the Company.

The following graph and table compares the cumulative 5-year total return provided shareholders on Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc.'s common stock refative to the cumulative total returns of the Russell 2000 index, the Russell 3000 index, the
NAREIT Equity index and the S & P 1500 Railroads. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to
have been made in the Company’s common stock and in each index on December 31, 2001 and its relative performance is

tracked through December 31, 20086.

Comparison of 5-Year Cumulative Total Returns *
Among Florida East Coast Industries, Inc., the Russell 2000 Index, the Russell 3000 Index,

the NAREIT Equity Index and the S&P 1500 Railroads

$300 [ NARETT Equity
Florida East Coast Industrias, Inc.
$250 [
$&P 1500 Rajkoads
$200 [
Russell 2000
$150 [ ‘/ Russell 3000
mraalff—
$100 [
$50
12 12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06
— — —r— —— R, W—
Florida East Coast Industrias, Inc. Russell 2000 Russell 3000 NAREIT Equity S5&P 1500 Railroads
Fiscal Year Ending December 31,”
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. 100.00 100.64 151.41 207.31 195.80 276.83
Russell 2000 100.00 79.52 117.09 138.55 144.86 171.47
Russell 3000 100.00 78.46 102.83 115.11 122.16 141.35
NAREIT Equity 100.00 103.82 142.37 187.33 210.12 283.78
S & P 1500 Railroads 100.00 88.44 120.33 150.52 199.99 229.87

* $100 invested on 12/31/01 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends
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On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held Codina
Group and certain related property interests. Equity, which
includes that was issued in the transaction included approxi-
mately 3.3 million shares of common equity to the contributors,
1,295,399 shares of which are contingent upon the achieve-
ment of certain value-based milestones and 288,518 shares to
certain Codina Group employees. Through December 31, 2006,
282,633 shares of contingent equity had been earned and
issued. In addition, up to $29.2 milion of common stock may
be issued in connection with partnership distributions related
to the Downtown Doral joint venture. Mr, Codina and family
members are eligible to earn the common stock after Flagler
eams 9% on capital contributed to the partnership.

Average Price
Paid Per Share
(including commissions)

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

The shares issued to date have been treasury shares that
were held by the Company. Exclusive of the rastricted stock
issued to certain Codina Group employees, which has been
registered on Form S-8, the shares issued in the transaction
are unregistered. The shares may not be sold or transferrad
for periods ranging from one to five years after the closing.

The Company has a repurchase program for up to $40 millon
of common stock through a program of open market purchases
and privately negotiated transactions, from time to time. Tha fol-
lowing table sets forth the total repurchases, including those
made and not made pursuant to the $40 million repurchase
program for the three months ended December 31, 2006:

Maximum Amount of

Value that may yet be

of Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs Plans or Programs

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part

QOctober 3484 $57.08
November - -
December 1320 $61.64

- $37,711,048
- $37,711,048
- $37,711,048

(1) Shares purchased represent shares surrendered to the Company for federal withholding obligations related to employees’ vesting on previousty restricted stochk.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below with respect to the Company’s consolidated statements of income for
each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2006, and with respect to the consclidated balance sheets for the
same periods are derived from the consolidated financial statements. This selected financial data should be read in conjunction
with Part Il lterns 7 (Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations), and 8 {Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data) included elsewhere herein. Income statement data, discontinued operations and earnings
per share results for all years have been reclassified to treat the Company's former telecommunication (EPIK) and trucking {FLX)
operations as well as certain Flagler buildings as discentinued operations, consistent with the 2006 presentation. See Note 5 to
the Financial Statements in Part !, Item 8 below for additional discussion. Included in 2002 discontinued operations is the
impairment of certain telecommunications assets.

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Income Statement Data

Operating revenues™ 458,202 362,346 378,187 338,264 300,515
Operating expenses! (367,761) {280,083} (247,955) {264,554) (210,773)
Operating profit 90,441 82,263 130,232 73,710 89,742

Loss from investment in unconsolidated joint ventures (970) - - - -
Minority interest 81 - - - -
Interest income 1,565 1,659 1,124 946 425
Interest expense {20,378) (20,1085) {16,671) (17,058) {19,602}
Gain on sale of asset 4,787 - - - -
Other income 11,478 14,555 13,023 9,544 10,803
Income before income taxes 87,004 78,372 127,708 67,144 81,368
Provision for income taxes (29,598) {29,006} (42,806) (25,851) (31,327)
Income from continuing operations 57,406 49,366 77,902 41,293 50,041

Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued

operations (net of taxes) {(see details following) - - 1086 (173) (168,615)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations

(net of taxes) 5,713 - 2,590 2,104 10,823
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 5,713 - 2,696 1,931 (157,792)
Net income (l0ss) 63,119 49,366 80,598 43,224 (107,751)
Earnings Per Share
Income from continuing operations — basic $1.67 $1.53 $2.25 $1.13 $1.37
Income from continuing operations — diluted $1.66 $1.52 $2.21 $1.12 $1.36
Loss from operation of

discontinued operations — basic - - - $(0.01) $(4.63)
Loss from operation of

discontinued operations - diluted - - - $(0.01) $(4.60)
Gain on disposition of discontinued

operations — basic & diluted $0.17 - $0.08 $0.06 $0.30
Net income (loss) - basic $1.84 $1.53 $2.33 $1.18 $(2.96)
Net income (loss) — diluted $1.83 $1.52 $2.29 $1.17 $(2.94)
Weighted-average shares — basic (in thousands) 34,380 32,281 34,530 36,502 36,446
Weighted-average shares — diluted (in thousands) 34,533 32,584 35,217 36,865 36,635
Cash dividends declared on common stock 9,489 7,518 65,498 60,453 3,658
Cash dividends declared per share on cormmon stock  $0.27 $0.23 $0.19 $1.645 $0.10

{1) Inclutes costs and recoverles associated with hurricane related damage, See ltems 7 & 8 for breakout and discussion of these costs and recoveries. X
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Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Balance Sheet Data

Total assets 1,394,826 1,137,744 1,063,193 1,008,350 1,051,236
Cash and cash equivalents 5,096 75,890 126,166 125,057 83,872
Restricted Cash 424 - - - -
Properties, less accumulated depreciation 1,179,641 955,395 853,458 814,683 795,653
Long-term debt 328,638 332,760 338,065 238,305 294,143
Shareholders’ equity 713,236 538,162 464,926 558,133 573,318

Details of certain Flagler buildings' income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations are provided in the following tables:

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Summary of Operating Results of
Discontinued Operations

Flagler realty rental revenues - - 718 2,030 4,133
Flagler realty rental expenses - - 545 2,540 2,440
Operating income - - 173 B10) 1,693
Interest income - - - 43 73
Income before income taxes - - 173 {467) 1,766
Income taxes - - 67) 180 {680}
Income from operation of discontinued operations - - 106 (287) 1,086

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Management's discussion and analysis should be read in
conjunction with Part li, Item 8; Financial Statements, Part |,
Itern 1, Business; and Part [, Item 2, Properties, included
elsewhere herein. The following discussion contains forward-
looking statements (see cautionary statement at the front of
this report). The Company’s actual results may differ signifi-
cantly from those projected in the forward-looking statements,

GENERAL OVERVIEW

FEC! is a holding company engaged in the rail and real
estate businesses.

The Company's assets and operations are located in Florida.
Consequently, the Company's performance is significantty
affected by the general health of the Florida economy, while
more broadly affected by the national economy, and international
economies, including the Caribbean, South America and Asia.

The Company generates rail-operating revenues primarily from
the movement of freight in both conventional freight cars and
intermodal shipments of containers and trailers on flatcars.
Starting in November of 2002, FECR began certain drayage

operations for intermodal shipments (drayage is the movement
of containers or trailers by truck to and from a rail yard), Freight
and drayage revenues are recorded as freight moves from ori-
gin to destination. Modest non-freight operating revenues ere
derived frorm demurrage and detention {equipment per diern
paid by customers), switching, weighing, special train and other
transportation services. The Company has one railroad cus-
tomer that accounted for approximately 20%, 20% and 21% of
the railroad's freight revenues in 2008, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively. The Company does not believe that this custormer will
cease to be a rail shipper, or will significantly decrease its freight
volume in the near future other than normal economic changes
and any impact from the Lake Belt niling (see also Part |, Item
1A; "Risk Factors” for discussion regarding mining permits),
FECR's top five customers accounted for approximately 41 %,
42%, and 43% of its 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, freight
revenues. While FECR may compete directly with certain of its
connecting rail carriers, broader rail industry issues like serv.ce
reliability, shipper satisfaction and government regulation can
also affect FECR ravenues. Additionally, broader transportation
industry issues associated with moior cariers, ships, barges
and ports can affect transportation logistics and patterns,
which influence rail shipments and freight revenues. In addition,
consolidation within an industry served by the Raitway, such as
the aggregate industry can aifect rail volume.

The Company's rail expenses consist of salaries and wages
(approximately 70% of FECR's work force is covered by col-
lective bargaining agreements, which were amended in 2C05,
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with terms ranging from three to five years), related payroll
taxes and employee benefits, depreciation (primarily reflecting
FECR’s capital requirerents for maintaining the current opera-
tions), insurance and casualty claim expense, diesel fuel, car
hire (generally, a net rent credit received from others utilizing
FECR's car fleet less rents paid by FECR to use foreign equip-
ment), property taxes, materials and supplies, purchased ser-
vices and other expenses. Many of the Railway's operating
expenses are of a relatively fixed nature, and do not increase
or decrease proportionately with increases or decreases in
operating revenues unless the Company's management takes
specific actions to restructure the Company’s operations.
The Company experiences increases/decreases in fuel costs
as the price of diesel fuel fluctuates in the market.

The Company's real estate operations are cyclical and are
affected by local demographic and general economic trends
and the supply and rate of absorption of new constuction.
Although the Company’s real estate business has a large port-
folio of income-producing properties expected to provide rea-
sonably stable operating results from a large and diverse
customer base, the Company’s real estate earnings may be
significantly affected from period to period by the nature and
timing of sales of developed property and non-core real estate
assets as well as market conditions that tighten competition
for tenants. Acquisitions may also significantly affect the
comparability of operating results period to period due to the
immediate impact from the addition of income-producing
developed operating properties like acquisitions utilizing tax-
deferred net land sales proceeds as was the case in 2005 and
the Codina acquisition in 2006. Additionally, certain significant
expenditures {including capital for maintaining or providing
infrastructure to the properties) may fluctuate significantty over
time. The Company invests in joint ventures in which it does
not hold a controlling interest. These investments involve risks
that do not exist with properties in which the Company owns
a controlling interest, including the possibility that partrers
may, at any time, have business, economic or other objectives
that are inconsistent with the Company’s objectives. In
instances where the Company lacks a controlling interest, the
partners may be in a position to require action that is contrary
to the Company's objectives. While FECI seeks to negotiate
the terms of these joint ventures in a way that secures the
Company's ability to act in its best interests, there can be no
assurance that those terms will be sufficient o fully protect the
Company against actions contrary to the Company’s interests.
If the objectives of the Company's partners are inconsistent
with FECI's, the Company may not in every case be able to
act exclusively in FECI's interests.

On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectiy by Mr. Armando Codina. The initial con-
sideration included $66 million of cash for certain property

interests, assumption or repayment of $31 million of debt and
the issuance of 1,713,431 shares at $44.60 per share, as
valued at the date of the acquisition announcement, to Mr.
Codina and 288,518 shares (as further described in Note 13}
at an average price of $54.90 per share, as valued at the
grant date, to certain Codina employees. In addition, Mr.
Codina may receive additional contingent consideration
based upon achievement of certain value-based milestones.
These milestones include 706,581 shares tied to certain tand
use approvals, $29.2 milfion upon certain partnership distri-
butions from a joint venture, 471,055 shares based on curnu-
lative FECI stock price improvements of up to an additional
$27.00 per share over the next five years; and 117,763
shares is dependent on the Company agreeing to move for-
ward with a proposed residential development. All equity
related to the Codina acquisition has been issued from the
Company's treasury stock. The purchase price is subject to
post-closing adjustments based on certain closing conditions
and upon the commen stock price on the date when certain
of the contingencies are satisfied. An escrow agent holds the
contingent equity. During the second and fourth quarters
2008, certain contingencies related to FECI stock price
improvements were satisfied and 282,633 shares, together
with applicable dividends, were released to Mr. Codina. An
additional 3,860 shares were issued in the fourth quarter of
2006 based on a working capital adjustment.

Flagler has a portfolio of land, which includes land held for
future development {entitled and unentitled), surplus land,
some of which is under contract or held for sale, and land
located in the business parks that is under the existing build-
ings (641 acres) or undevelopable. With the addition of devel-
opable properties from the Codina acquisition, the pace of
development is expected to increase over the next five to ten
years. The Company's determination to develop or sell prop-
erty is based on market conditions. Flagler holds approxi-
mately 22.7 acres of entitled land, which is under contract for
sale and expected to be sold during 2007.

Real estate operating revenues are generated from (i) realty
rental agreements on its office and industrial portfolio of build-
ings, as well as rents on its land holdings, i} realty sales of land
and/or buildings and {iii) construction, development, brokerage
and property management services provided to customers,

Real estate operating expenses include costs of managing its
office and industrial properties, costs associated with providing
senvices to customers, including costs of constructed assets,
and costs associated with land (including holding costs) and
building sales. The Company incurs property management
expenses, such as building maintenance, leasing costs and
property taxes, beginning when buildings are completed and
placed in the Company's inventory of leasable properties. The
Compary sells certain real estate holdings when the reiurn on
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such sales is considered advantageous, causing fluctuations in
costs of real estate sales based on the basis in the properties
sold, timing, and significance of such dispositions.

FECR owns or has an interest in approximately 1,455 acres of
land that is held for lease, development and/or sale, including
several rail corridors (872 acres) that are abandoned. FECR
continues to evaluate the appropriate uses for the remaining
land. The abandoned corridors include approximately fifty miles
of rail lines in East Central Florida, which the Company expects
to sell to the state of Florida for recreational purposes, and an
additional 4.5 miles in Palatka, Florida. FECR owns an addi-
tional abandoned rail corridor, approximately five miles, in
Miami, Florida. While the Company continues to use the prop-
erty for various operating purposes, it is evaluating alternative
uses of the right-of-way.

Passive revenues are generated from leases and licenses of
railroad right-of-way to telecommunication and other compa-
nies for the installation of fiber optic, utilities, and other con-
duits, and additional uses of the right-of-way (e.g., signboards)
and one-time income associated with the sale of air rights and
related surface and sub-surface easements and licenses on
the right-of-way. These revenues, along with their associated
expenses, are recorded net in “other income.”

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND
CAPITAL RESOURCES

Net cash generated by operating activities was $106.6 million,
$84.9 million and $72.3 million in the years ended December 31,
20086, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The year-to-year (2006
versus 2005) fluctuation in net cash generated by operating
activities primarily reflects the gain on involuntary conversion
due to Hurricane Witma as well as increased cash earnings
from operations adjusted by the effect of changes in working
capital and certain non-cash items. The 2005 to 2004 year-to-
year fluctuation in net cash generated by operating activities,
primarily reflect increased cash earnings from operations
impacted by the effect of changes in working capital and cer-
tain non-cash items.

During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004,
cash flows {used in) provided by investing activities were
$(145.7}) million, $(139.6) million and $10.0 milicn, respectively.
Investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006
included $65.8 million for the acquisition of Codina Group, Inc.
and related interests, net of cash acquired, $3.3 million for a
Hurricane Wilma related insurance settlement, and $11.6 mil-
lion invested in unconsolidated joint ventures, net of distribu-
tions. Investing activities for 2005 and 2004 represent primarily
costs of development and purchases of properties (including
the purchase of $78.5 milion in 2005 for buildings and land
partially with §1031 funds), offset by proceeds from the dispo-
sition of assets (mostly buildings and land). Proceeds from

asset sales were $71.3 million, $35.2 million and $121.5 mil-
lion in 20086, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and
2004, the Company invested approximately $107 million,
$133 million and $80 million, respectively, at Flagler. The
increase in 2005 primarily relates to the purchase of two
office buildings in the first quarter 2005 by Flagler and FIECR
using §1031 proceeds, totaling $60.6 million. Flagler's 2006
capital expenditures reflect a total of $25 million for land
acquisitions, $70 million for new development and $12 rnillion
for improvements to current buildings.

Capital investment at Flagler for 2007 {including investmants
in joint ventures), before any land acquisitions is expected to
be between $90 million and $115 million which includes $80
million to $100 million for new development and $10 million to
$15 million for improvements to current buildings.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
the Company’s capital investments at FECR were approxi-
mately $45 million, $39 million and $30 million, respectively.
The increase in 2006 primarily relates to the construction of
6.1 miles of new double track and the rehabilitation of 5.9
miles of track from Inclian River south to north Frontenac: for
$7.1 million. Capital invesiments at FECR for 2007 are
expacted to be between $42 million and $47 million before
the purchase of any strategic land parcels to be inventoried
for future Railway customers.

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities was
$(31.7) million, $4.5 milion and ${81.1) million in the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Financing activities for 2006 include the repayment of debt
acquired in the Codina acquisition ($30.1 million), increaced
dividend payrments, and decreased proceeds from the exer-
cise of stock options. Financing activities for 2005 included
payments for the purchase of common stock, increased mort-
gage debt payments at Flagler, and increased dividend pay-
ments, offset by proceeds from the exercise of stack options,
Cash used in 2004 financing activities included proceeds: from
the issuance of $105 million seven-year non-recourse mort-
gage notes offset by the purchase of 5.5 milion shares cf
common stock from The Alfred |. duPont Testamentary Trust
and The Nemours Foundation for approximately $191 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into operat-
ing leases and cther commercial commitments (see also, the
discussion of Debt and Other Commitments in Note 17 of
Part I, tem 8 of the consolidated financial statements) that
are disclosed in the next secticn, “Contractual Obligations
and Commercial Commitments.”
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Contractual Obligations
Payments Due by Period

{dollars in thousands)

Contractual Cash Obligations Less than After
At December 31, 2006 Total 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years
Long-term debt obligations®? 419,599 27,916 126,889 264,794 -
Capitat lease obligations 539 184 355 - -
Operating lease obligations 50,324 5,095 4,340 2,712 38,177
Purchase obligations!" 8,949 7,931 1,018 - ~
Cther long-term labilities reflected

on the balance shest - - - - -
Total contractual cash abligations 479,411 41,126 132,602 267,506 38,177

(1) Unconditional purchase obligations at December 31, 2008 consisted of outstanding forward purchase agreements for diesel fusl at FECR and
various purchase agreements.

{2) Includes payments of principal and interast.

The Company’s principal operating lease obligation is a 99-year ground lease of real property in Coral Gables, Florida assumed
in the Codina acquisition upon which the Company is constructing an office building which will be used by Flagler and FECI.
One-third of the building will be owned and occupied by a bank. Future minimum payments under the lease are $0.4 millicn in
2007 and would be $34.3 million in total. Subsequent to year-end, the Company exercised its option to terminate the ground
lease for the land under the Sevilla building by exchanging a condominium interest in one-third of the building with the bank in
exchange for a two-thirds condominium interest in the underlying land. If not terminated, this ground lease accounted for
$34.3 million of the operating lease obiigations shown above of which $32.6 million is due in 2012 and beyond.

Amount of Commitments
Expiration per Period
(dollars in thousands)

Other Commercial Commitments Total Amounts  Less than Over
at December 31, 2006 Committed 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years
Lines of credit - - - - -
Standby letters of credit™ 2,588 600 1,988 - -
Guarantees 5,136 5,136 - - -
Other commercial commitments 62,918 62,168 750 - -
Total commercial commitments 70,842 67,904 2,738 - -

(1) Excludes letters of credit for AMB Codina Lakes, LLC {a Codina joint venture with AMB Properties in West Dade) in the amounts of $338,387 and $433,218
with expirations of less than one year and 2-3 years, respectively.

Properties LP. In addition there is $0.8 miilion in various letters
of credit outstanding. The Company has guaranteed $5.2 mil-
fion of the combined debt and outstanding letters of credit.
The $35 million construction revolver has a maturity of October
2007 with one one-year extension remaining. The $22.3 milion
land and construction loan has a maturity of April 2007 with

At December 31, 2008, the standby letters of credit were primar-
ity for construction commitments related to building and infra-
structure projects at Flagler's project locations and to cover
deductibles related to insurance policies. Other commercial
commitments primarily include amounts committed to custom-
ers and vendors for construction projects, which will be incurred

and paid as performed at 100% owned developments.

The Company owns interests in unconsolidated real estate
entities, with ownership interests up to 50%. One of these
unconsolidated real estate entities, Beacon Lakes (AMB Codina
Beacon Lakes, LLC), has debt outstanding of $30.8 million as
of December 31, 2006 consisting of $18.7 miilion on a $35 mil-
lion construction revolver with Wells Fargo Bank, and $11.2 mil-
lion on a $22.3 million land and construction loan from AMB

one one-year extension. The letters of credit carry various
maturity dates. Additionally, the Beacon Lakes project includes
the Beacon Lakes Community Development District (CDD).
This CDD has financing outstanding of $53.6 million from spe-
clal assessment bonds (series 2003A) carrying an interest rate
of 6.9% and a maturity date of May 2035. Additional discussion
of these entities can be found in Note &, “Investments in Joint
Ventures,” of the Consolidated Financial Statements locatad
elsewhere in this report.
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. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
! Cash Flows from Operating Activities
| Net income 63,119 49,366 80,5498
| Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash generated by operating activities:
| Depreciation and amortization 59,658 55,477 48,769
Gain on involuntary conversion, due to Hurricane Wilma (1,913) - -
Gain on disposition of properties, including those discontinued (30,113) (25,351) (93,265)
Tax benefit associated with equity based compensation - 5,261 4,056
Deferred taxes 8,019 7,438 48,052
Stock compensation expense (Note 13) 12,667 9,900 4,819
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,276 (3,297) (8,836)
| Prepaid expenses (5,748) (2,012) 206
Materials and supplies (1,305) (2,018) (219)
Straight line rent (2,498) {6,488) (5,604}
Prepaid commissions (7,307) (5,448} (1,172}
Other assets and deferred charges 2,877 (201} (8.224)
Accounts payable (1,700) 1,194 17,356
' Taxes payable (2,246) 2,201 (8,335)
| Incormne tax refund - 2,800 -
' Other current liabilities 11,207 (2,915) (7.494)
Cther long-term liabilities (402} (1,013} 1,548
Net cash generated by operating activities 106,591 84,894 72,255

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of properties and equipment,

net of accrued capital expenditures of $8,576 in 2006 (144,329) (174,752) (111,551)
Acquisition of Codina Group Inc. and related interests, net of cash acquired (65,844) - -
Investment in unconsolidated real estate joint ventures (14,403) - -
Distributions from unconsolidated joint ventures 2,840 - -
Decrease in restricted cash 1,382 - -
Proceeds from hurricane related insurance settlement 3,343 - -
Proceeds from disposition of assets, including those discontinued 71,271 35,202 121,587

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (145,740) (139,550} 9,986
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Borrowings from long term debt {Note 17) 389 - 105,000
Payment of maortgage debt (5,199) (4,896} (3,289)
Payment of acquired debt (30,117) - -
Payment of dividends (9,489) {7,518) (6,498)
Proceeds from exercise of options 10,550 21,504 16,674
Tax benefit associated with equity based compensation 3,213 - -
Stock repurchase program payments (Note 17) - (2,289) {191,128)
Purchase of common stock {2,447} (2,411) {(1,893)
Investment by minority interest 1,355 - -
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (31,745) 4,480 {81,132)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (70,894) (50,176) 1,109
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 75,990 126,166 125,057
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 5,096 75,990 126,1€6
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for income taxes {net of refunds) 22,719 11,500 4,700
Cash paid for interest 22,825 22,320 19,282

{Priar year results have been reclassified ta conform to curent year presentation}
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statamants,
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Supplemental Schedule on Non-Cash Investing
and Financing Activities

The Company purchased Codina and related interests for
combined equity and cash consideration of $147.9 million.
In conjunction with the acquisition, liabilities were assumed
as follows:

{dollars in thousands)

Fair value of assets acquired 246,193
Acquisition transaction costs 5,656
Equity issued for initial consideration (76,412)
Cash paid for acquired Company!" (71,501)
Liahilities assumed 103,936
{1) Reconciliation to Statements of Cash Flows

Cash paid for acquired Company 71,501

Less cash acquired (4,125}

Less transaction costs paid in 2005 {1,532)

Acquisition of Godina Group, Inc. per

Statemen?s of Cash Flows 65,844

Cn February 22, 2005, the Company entered into a new unse-
cured $150 million, 5-year revolving credit agreement with a
syndication of banks. The new credit facility provides a more
favorable interest rate and terms and replaces the Company’s
previous $200 milion credit agreement. The Company pays
{quarterly) commitment fees, as applicable under the agree-
ment, at a range of 12.5 to 25.0 basis points. The Company’s
revolving credit agreement requires the maintenance of certain
financial ratios {interest coverage and leverage) and mainte-
nance of minimum established levels of net worth. The
Company believes the most restrictive of such ratios is the
Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility Agreement).
The Credit Facility Agreement provides that at December 31,
2008, the Company's Adjusted Total Debt/Adjusted Total
EBITDA ratio shall be no greater than 3.00 to 1.00. At
Decemtier 31, 20086, the Company's actual Adjusted Total
Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio was 0.41 to 1.00. In addition
there are various established limitations {doltars and otherwise)
on certain types of liens, investments (including loans and
advances) and acquisitions, limitation on transactions with affili-
ates, merger and sales of all or substantially all of the assets;
and use of proceeds. Some of the above covenants provide
specific exclusion of certain financing and investing activities at
Flagler. Borrowings under the credit agreement bear interest at
variable rates linked to the LIBOR index. Interest on borrowings
is due and payable on the “rollover date” for each draw.
Cutstanding borrowings can be paid at any time by the bormower,
or at the conclusion of the facility’s term. At December 31, 20086,
there were no borrowings outstanding on this facility.

On Agril 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held
Codina Group. Inc. and certain refated property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina. The initial con-

sideration included $66 million of cash for certain property
interests, assumption or repayment of $31 million of debt
and the issuance of 1,713,431 shares at $44.60 per share,
as valued at the date of the acquisition announcement, to
Mr. Codina and 288,518 shares (as further described in
Note 13) at an average price of $54,90 per share, as valued
at the grant date, to certain Codina employees. In addition,
Mr. Codina may receive additional contingent consideration
based upon achievement of certain value-based milestones.
These milestones include 706,581 shares tied to certain land
use approvals, $29.2 milion upon certain partnership distri-
butions from a joint venture, 471,055 shares based on cumu-
lative FECI stock price improvernents of up to an additional
$27.00 per share over the next five years; and 117,763 shares
is dependent on the Company agreeing to move forward with
a proposed residential development. All equity related to the
Codina acquisition has been issued from the Company’s
treasury stock. The purchase price is subject to post-closing
adjustments based on certain closing conditions and upon
the common stock price on the date when certain of the
contingencies are satisfied. An escrow agent holds the con-
tingent equity. During the second and fourth quarters 2008,
certain contingencies related to FECI stock price improve-
ments were satisfied and 282,633 shares, together with
applicable dividends, were released to Mr. Codina. An addi-
tional 3,860 shares were issued in the fourth quarter of 2006
based on a working capital adjustment.

On April 27, 2006 the Company amended its existing credit
agreement to accommodate the acquisition of the Codina
Group and related assets. Amendments to increase the limits on
advances, loans, extensions of credit and guarantees of debt of
persons that are not Loan Parties and other administrative
changes were made. There were no changes to the existing
credit imit and the minirmum required level of financial covenants.

On October 16, 2006 the Company amended its existing
credit agreement to allow the execution of a forbearance
agreement/guarantee of repair by Flagler Developrment
Company. The forbearance agreement was related to a wind-
storm coverage requirement under the Company’s mortgage
debt agreements.

On January 25, 2007, the Company amended its existing
credit agreement to allow performance bonds and perfor-
mance and completion guarantees, issued in the normal
course of business which may be required in the Company’s
role as development partner and/or general contractor in sev-
eral joint ventures and for third party work, to be excluded
from the definition of traditional guarantees and to establish a
cap on the total dollars that would be permitted.

In connection with the Codina acquisition, the Company
assumed a $2 million note payable to an affiliate of JPMorgan.
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The note was issued in connection with the Downtown
Doral joint venture. The amount outstanding on the note at
December 31, 2006 was $1.4 milion, The note bears interest
at 4%, and the outstanding principal batance together with
accrued interest is payable December 31, 2011.

Results of Operations for 2006 Compared to 2005
and 2005 Compared to 2004

Discussions are based on segment information — see Note 10
included in ltem 8 of this report.

Impact from Hurricanes

The Railway suspended service early Sunday, October 23, 2005,
in anticipation of the arrival of Huricane Wilma. Rail service was
disrupted for approximately two weeks due to widespread
power outages that prevented automatic grade crossing warmning
systerns and railroad signals from operating. All scheduled ralil
service resumed on Novemnber 7, 2005 after all sections of track
power was restored and all rail crossings passed inspection.

The Raitway {Railway segment) incurred approximately $3.6 mil-
lion of total hurricane costs related to clean-up costs, property
damage, grade crossing operations, support and additional train
crew costs as a result of traing operating at reduced speeds for
hurricanes experienced in 2005. The Rallway estimates that it
will incur an additional $0.1 million of incremental hurricane costs,
which are expected to be covered by insurance. The Railway
received $5.9 million in insurance claim recoveries during 2006
related to utillity service interruption ($3.7 million) and recovery of

2005 and 2006 Hurricane Cost and Recovery Summary

(dollars in thousands)

Total Estimated
Cost and (Recovery)

physical damage and extra expense incurred ($2.2 milion}.
The Company also received an insurance recovery of $0.2 mil-
lion in 2006 for Raitway real estate asset physical damage and
extra expense incumred related to the 2005 hurricanes.

Several of Flagler Development Group’s buildings located in
Flagter Station sustained damage from Hurricane Wilma, pri-
marily roofs and landscaping. The total damage (cash outlays)
was $7.5 million, of which approximately $3.9 million has been
recovered from insurance to offset expenses and to replace
damaged assets. Approximately $0.7 million is expected to be
recovered from tenants. There was additional damage due to
Hurricane Katrina that was less than $0.1 million.

The American Institute of CPAs (AICPA) issued Technical
Practice Aide (TPA) §5400.05 in September 2005, which pro-
vides guidance on the accounting treatment of natural disas-
ter related costs. TRA §5400.05 does not allow recognition of
a natural disaster related cost until such time that the cost is
a legal obligation of the Company. Accordingly, the Company
has recorded those costs where a legal obligation was pres-
ent at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
However, in an effort to provide a more complete accounting
for the cost of the hurricane damages, management provides
the table below. This table reflects the total estimated cost
and expected recoveries related to the hurricane damage.
The table also shows costs and recoveries reflected on the
operating results and capital accounts for the year ende
2006 and since the hurricanes affected the Company.

Cost {Recovery)
Cost (Recovery) Recognized
Recognized in 2006  Since Inception

Railway

Operating expenses {Hurricane Costs) 3,696 880 3,598
Hurricane recoveries {net)" (997} (380) (997)
Insurance recovery — Physical damage and extra expenses (2,302} (2,202} {2,202)
Utility service interruption ingurance settlement (3,732 (3,732) (3,732)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses (3,335) (5,324) (3,335)
Railway Realty Rental
Operating expenses (Hurricane Costs) 461 177 461
Insurance recovery — Physical damage {195) (195) (195)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses 266 {18} 266
Flagler
Flagler CAM recoveries associated with Hurricane (680) (337} (680)
Capital expenditures (Properties) 6,080 5,781 6,060
Operating expenses {Hurricane Costs) 1,418 646 1,418
Asset write-off due to replacernent? 1,937 1,750 1,837
Insurance proceeds (3,862} (3.862) (3,862)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses (507) (1,466) (507)

(1) Hurricans recaveries (net} represent amounts recoverad from various municipalities located along the Railway's right-of-way and other governmentat
authorities for reimbursemant for operation of rail crossings during the outage and for related repairs of those crossings.

(2} Represents assets {primarily roofs) most of which have been replaced during 2006 and their related write-off of remaining net book value.
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RAILWAY

The Railway revenues increased $26.2 million, or 11.0% in 2006
resulting from higher pricing, fue! surcharges, higher volumes
and the impact of Hurricane Wilma, which occurred in October
2005. Approximately 39% of this increase was due to higher
fuel surcharge amounts. Volumes were up 2.8% from 2005
with the majority of this increase represented by the intermodal
business. Higher levels of aggregate were transported during
2006 and 2005 in support of the Florida construction industry.
The Florida construction industry experienced a softening in
the second half of 2008, which contributes to a 7.3% decrease
in Railway revenues from the first half of 2006 compared to the
second half of 2006. The decline in aggregate traffic is expected
to continue into 2007 due to the residential construction indus-

in 2006 and 2005 in both operational and human capital to
enhance customer service, productivity and safety while con-
trolling costs. During 2006 and 2005, the Company reinvested
approximately $45 million and $39 milion, respectively, of capital
in equipment, land, improved physical plant and new technolo-
gies at the Railway including $7.1 milion for construction of
6.1 miles of double track and the rehabilitation of 5.9 miles of
track from Indian River City to Frontenac to meet increases in
demand and maintain the fluidity and operating efficiency of
the Railway.

Railway Operating Results
Years Ended December 31

{doliars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
try projections. The intermodal business continues to be strong Rai .
) ) ) ailway segment's
as evidenced by a 15?.1 % increase in revenues over 2005 operating revenues 264,003 237.870  200.762
although the growth in the second half of 2006 moderated Railway segment’s
from Fhe growth 9xpenenced in the first s:x. months of 2OQB. operating expenses 185,622 174,141 153,436
Leading the way is the growth of our local intermodal business - ;
with increased business in our international, retail and motor Railway slegmenFs
carrier segments. The “Hurricane Train” service, an Atlanta operating profit 78471 63.729 47,326
based intermodal service introduced in 2001, also contributed Railway segment’s
to the increased revenues. Continuing investments were made operating ratio 70.3% 73.2% 76.4%
Traffic
Years Ended December 31
(dollars andt units in thousands) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Commodity Units Units Units Revenues Revenues Revenues
Rail carloads
Crushed stone {aggregate) 145.1 140.3 127.2 76,468 69,897 60,271
Construction materials 7.2 7.2 5.7 5,766 5,333 3.827
Vehicles 222 23.5 222 20,059 19,025 17,577
Foodstuffs & kindred 134 137 12.5 12,611 11,872 9,922
Chemicals & distillants 3.4 3.5 3.7 4,988 4,489 4,367
Paper & lumber 7.0 7.4 5.6 8,050 8,002 6,162
Other 14.0 15.0 141 11,422 10,486 8,592
Total caroad 2123 2106 191.0 139,364 129,294 110,718
Intermodal 322.2 309.3 283.3 118,584 103,008 86,379
Total freight units/revenues 534.5 519.9 4743 257,948 232,302 197,097
Ancillary revenue - - - 6,145 5,568 3,665
Raitway segment revenue - - - 264,093 237,870 200,762
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Railway Operating Expenses

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Compensation & benefits 62,769 58,714 54,775
Fuel 31,867 25,117 16,273
Equiprment rents (net) 4,238 4,290 3,315
Car hire (net} {169) (1,954) (2,818)
Depreciation 22,430 21,820 20,167

Purchased services 10,926 9,786 0,793
Repairs billed to/

by others (net} (4,105} (3,680) (3,454)
Load/unload 9,550 9,188 8,009
Casualty & insurance 4,328 5,352 6,212
Property taxes 6,170 5,797 5,565
Materials 13,556 12,487 10,220
General & administrative

expenses 9,099 8,167 8,724
Qutside contractor

delivery costs 16,847 14,376 11,651
Other® 1,848 4,691 5,004

Utility service interruption
insurance settlement  (3,732) - -

Total operating expenses 185,622 174,141 153,436

(1) 2006 includes $1.0 million of hurricane costs and $2.6 million of hurricane
recoveries (net). 2005 included $2.0 million of hurricane costs {net).

Revenues - 2006 versus 2005

Railway segment revenues increased $26.2 milion to $264.1
million in 20086 from $237.9 million in 2005, Included in the
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, is $23.3 milion and $13.2 million in fuel surcharges
for increased fuel prices; a net increase of $10.1 million. The
fuel surcharge increase is driven in part by additional customers
paying a fuel surcharge in 2006 and a change to the fuel sur-
charge palicy the Railway implemented effective September 1,
2005. This change more accurately reflects the increasing fuel
prices in the Railway's freight pricing over the long run. The Raitway
incurred cne day of no traffic and thirteen days of limited traffic
in fourth quarter 2005 resulting from Hurricane Wilma resulting
in lower fourth quarter 2005 revenues.

Cartoad revenues increased $10.1 million {Rate/Mix increase —
$9.0 million; Volume increase — $1.1 million) over 2005 levels.
Aggregate revenue increased $6.6 million in 2006 over 2005
and was driven by rate/mix — $4.2 million and volume — $2.4 mil-
fion. The increase in demand was driven by the Florida construc-
tion market in the first half of the year. As a result of a decline in
the Florida residential construction activity in the second half of
2008, the Railway experienced a decline in shipments from its
aggregate customers compared to 2005. To offset this decline
in volume, the Raitway's customers are shifting their sales and
marketing efforts from the residential construction market into
the commercial and public infrastructure markets. This shift

may replace some of the aggregate lost due to the slow-down
in the residential construction market afthough timing is uncertain.
Vehicle revenue increased $1.0 million (Rate/Mix increase —
$2.0 million; Volume decrease - $1.0 million). The volume
decrease was driven by the decline of domestic manufacturers’
shipments, which was partially offset by an increase in shipments
of foreign manufactures. Foodstuffs and Kindred products
increased $0.6 million due 1o a rate/mix increase of $0.9 million,
offset by a 2.2% decline in volume ($0.3 million} due to the loss
of one customer. Chemical and distillants revenue increased
$0.5 million primarily due to price/mix. Other revenue increased
$0.9 million mainly due to the following commaodities: waste &
scrap materials - increased $0.8 million mainly due to the
addition of a customer in September, 2005; hazardous material —
increased $0.4 million primarily due to rate/mix; and primary
metal products — decreased $0.4 million mainly due toa 17%
volume reduction. Various other commmodities make up the
remaining $0.1 million increase in other revenues,

intermodal revenue increased $15.6 million (Rate/Mix
increase — $11.3 million; Volume increase ~ $4.3 miillion) to
$118.6 million in 2006 from $103.0 million in 2005, an
increase of 15.1%. Leading this increase was higher pricing
on the Railway’s intermodal business and dray services,
increased fue! surcharges and the added velumes of local
traffic due to increased demand in the international shipper,
retail carrier and motor carrier segments.

Revenues - 2005 versus 2004

Railway segment revenues increased $37.1 milion to $237.9
million in 2005 from $200.8 million in 2004, Carload revenues
increased $18.6 milion {Rate/Mix — $7.3 milion; Volume ~
$11.3 million) over 2004 levels, which was driven by record
levels of traffic. Aggregate revenue increased $9.6 million in
2005 over 2004 mainly due to the continued demand in the
Florida construction market. Foodstuffs and Kindred prodiscts
increased $2.1 million due to growth in the existing custorner
base as well as the addition of a new customer. Hurricane relief
products continued to be shipped during the year 2005 as
evidenced by the increased revenues ($1.5 milion and $1.9 mil-
lion) in both Construction Materials and Paper and Lumber
commodities, respectively. Vehicles increased $1.4 million rnainty
due to volume. Intermodal revenues increased $16.6 million
(Rate/Mix — $8.7 million; Volume - $7.9 million} in 2005 over
2004. Leading this increase was the local intermodal business
and dray services. The local intermodal business growth vras
mainly attributed to retail customers, international shippers and
parcel LTL camiers. Included in revenues for the years ending
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, is $13.2 millicn
and $4.6 million of fuel surcharges for increased fuel prices.
The variance in fuel surcharges year over year of $8.6 million is
included in the Rate/Mix variance above. The Company
changed its fuel policy effective September 1, 2005 to more
accurately match increasing fuel prices to fuel surcharges
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passed on to our customers. The year to date impact of the
policy change is estimated at $0.8 million in additional fuel sur-
charge revenuse. FECR incurred one day with no traffic and thir-
teen days of limited traffic in fourth quarter 2005 due to
Hurricane Wilma.

Expenses — 2006 versus 2005

Operating expenses increased $11.5 milicn to $185.6 million
in 2006 compared to $174.1 million in 2005. Reducing 2006
operating expenses are $1.6 million of insurance recoveries,
net of related extra expenses incurred (included in other
expense) and a $3.7 million utility service interruption insurance
settlement, refated to Hurricane Witma. The utility service
interruption insurance settlement is the impact of lost revenue
offset by variable operating costs not incurred due to the
Hurricane. Operating expenses in 2005 included $2.0 million
of Hurricane Wilma related extra expensas incurred (net of
2005 recoveries). Railway cperating expenses before the net
hurricane recoverigs increased $18.8 million to $190.9 million.
Compensation and Benefits increased $4.1 milion mainfy due
to general wage increases, variable compensation expenses
(stack compensation costs and bonus), the labor mix of
hours worked on capital projects versus operating projects
and $0.6 million of increased transportation labor due to
increased volumes. Fue! increased $6.8 millicn (Price increase
- $6.4 million; Volume increase - $0.4 million). This increase in
fuel expense is offset by fuel surcharges included in revenue.
Car hire is the net of rents received from foreign rail carriers
while the Railway's owned/leased car fleet is on foreign lines
offset by renis paid to foreign rail carriers while thair car fleet
is on the Railway's line. Car hire (net) increased $1.8 million in
2006 due to the reduction of the Railway’s 89 ft intermodal
flatcar fleet that is ocbsolete and fewer rent producing cars
being in service in 2006 versus 2005 due to a repair call on
certain cars. Also adding to this increase is an increased
usage of foreign rail cars on our railway, offset by decreased
foreign rail trailers used on line. Purchased services increased
$1.1 million due to increased cost of mowing the right of way,
additional spot undercutting in 20086 to eliminate mud from
rains, tie disposal performed in 2008, locomotive repairs
being performed by an outside vendor due to increased loco-
motive fleet, and amortization of freight incurred on the new
all purpose revenue share cars put in service in the second
quarter of 2005. Casualty & insurance expense decreased
$1.0 million as a result of improved claims experience.
Materials increased $1.1 million due to increased price for
wheel replacermnents, increased foreign car repairs, and
increased hopper and locomotive fleets, This was partially
offset by the decrease in Repairs to/by Others of $0.4 million.
Outside contractor delivery costs increased $2.5 million in
2006 over 2005 due to increased drayage business and
increased costs for driver services. Included in other expense

for the year ended December 31, 2006 is $0.5 million of
additional expenses, net of estimated insurance recovery, for
a mainline derailment that occurred on August 22, 2006 in
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida and $0.2 million for a smaller derailment
that oceurred on August 11, 2008,

Expenses — 2005 versus 2004

Cperating expenses increased $20.7 million to $174.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared with
$153.4 million for the same period last year. Compensation
and benefits increased $3.9 million due to general wage
increases, and variable compensation expenses (stock
compensation costs and benus). Fuel expense increased
$8.8 million of which $7.2 million is related to price increases.
Equipment rents increased $1.0 million due to increased
rates and volume. Car hire increased $0.9 million due to vol-
ume and rate increases as well as reductions in off-line rents
for equipment that is at the end of its life cycle. Increased
2005 depreciation expenses {$1.7 million} results primarily
from $0.8 million of depreciation on 2005 capital additions
and $0.7 million of increased depreciation resulting from the
adjusted depreciation lives from the locomotive and rolling
stock economic engineering studies. Load/unload expenses
increased $1.2 million primarily due to volume. Materials
increased $2.3 million primarily due to freight car wheel
replacement and repairs required by rules of the Assaciation
of American Railroads, the Company raising its own repair
standards for owned equipment, the replacement of certain
defective wheels manufactured in 2005 by a certain vendor,
and the increased price of steel. Outside contractor delivery
costs increased $2.7 millicn due to increased business and
increased costs for driver services. The above expense
increases were offset by a decrease in Casualty & Insurance
of $0.9 million primarity due to lower personal injury claims.
The decrease in other expenses of $0.3 million is mainly
attributed to $2.0 million in net costs incurred in 2005 for
Hurricanes Wilma, Katrina and Rita compared to net costs
incurred in 2004 for an $0.8 million main line derailment and
$2.0 million for Hurricanes Frances and Jeanne.

During 2003, FECR commenced an “engineering and eco-
nomics” based study of its principal right-of-way and eguip-
ment assets to develop a multi-year maintenance and
replacement plan and associated estimates of the assets’
remaining lives. The engineering studies segregated the
equiprment and right-of-way assets into the following major
groupings: locomotives, rolling stock and eguipment (e.g.,
hoppers, flatcars, auto racks, trailers, etc.), bridges, and track
structure {rail, ties, ballast, and other track material). These
studies were finalized in the following periods: locomotives
and rolling stock — second half of 2004, bridges - first quarter
of 2005; and track structure — fourth quarter of 2005.
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The locomotive and rolling stock studies indicated no substan-
tive changes in the annual maintenance or capital replace-
ment programs. The bridge study indicated no substantive
change in the depreciable lives and generally, bridges would
continue to be depreciated over a 61.5-year life. The bridge
study also indicated that FECR's bridge assets are in accept-
able operational condition based on the Company’s continu-
ing maintenance and inspection programs. FECR is entering
a 10 to 20 year period where, based on the age and con-
struction materials used, certain bridges will be studied fur-
ther, manitored and possibly replaced. The management
team does not expect replacement costs for bridges to
materially alter its normative annual capital budget, however
this estimate is subject to change, and such changes could
be material. Overall, the study indicated the track system to
be in good condition.

Based upon the results of the study, the following depreciable
lives were changed. Annual depreciation is expected to
increase approximately $0.7 million as a result of the change.

Previous Current
Depreciable Life Depreciable Life

Locomotives:

Hulk/chassis 10 years 7 years

Overhauls 10 years 7 years
Rolling Stock:

Hoppers & gondolas 7-32.5 years 7-50 years

Flats 7-18.5 years 7-50 years

Vans & fiatbeds 10 years 20 years

Chassis 10 years 20 years

Auto racks 19 years 15 years
Track:

Rail/other track material 50 years 45 years

Turnouis 50 years 45 years
REAL ESTATE

On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests
held directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina. The initial
consideration included $66 million of cash for certain prop-
erty interests, assumption or repayment of $31 million of
debt and the issuance of 1,713,431 shares at $44.60 per
share, as valued at the date of the acquisition announcement,

to Mr, Codina and 288,518 shares (as further described in
Note 13) at an average price of $54.90 per share, as valued
at the grant date, to certain Codina employees. In addition,
Mr. Codina may receive additional contingent consideration
based upon achievement of certain value-based milestones.
These milestones include 706,581 shares tied to certain land
use approvals, $29.2 million upon certain partnership distri-
butions from a joint venture, 471,055 shares based on
cumulative FECI stock price improvements of up to an addi-
tional $27.00 per share over the next five years; and 117,763
shares is dependent on the Company agreeing to move for-
ward with a proposed residential development. All equity
related to the Codina acquisition has been issued from the
Company's treasury stock. The purchase price is subject to
post-closing adjustments based on certain closing condi-
tions and upon the cormmon stock price on the date whan
certain of the contingencies are satisfied. An escrow agent
holds the contingent equity. During the second and fourth
quarters of 2006, certain contingencies related to FECI stock
price improvements were satisfied and 282,633 shares,
together with applicable dividends, were released to Mr.
Codina. An additional 3,860 shares were issued in the fourth
quarter of 2006 based on a working capital adjustment.

The acquisition strengthened the Company’s position as a
landowner and commercial developer in the state of Florida
with a strong presence in the South Florida, Orando and
Jacksonville markets. Headquartered in Coral Gables, Flcrida,
Codina Group, Inc. is an integrated commercial real estate,
development, construction, leasing, property management
and brokerage firm with approximately 150 employees.
Through its development activities, Codina manages pre-
development site selection, government interface, feasibility
analysis, the architectural and design phases, engineering
process and construction coordination. Codina's construction
group provides general contractor services for commercial
projects for both domestic and international clients. The bro-
kerage group project services include leasing and sales, rep-
resentation for tenants and landlords, and consulting services.
The realty management group provides commercial property
rmanagement and financial reporting services. The Codina
Group has constructed over 11 million sq. ft. of industrial,
office and retail property, developed over 1,760 acres of land,
and currently manages more than 11 million sq. ft. of property.
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In addition to Codina Group, the transaction included the
following projects under current and future development
in South Florida:

100% Owned

* Beacon Countyline, 497 acres in Hialeah; future plans
are for the creation of a large industrial and office park.

» Beacon Commons, 92 acres in Doral: future site of
a retail, office and residential development.

e Sevilla Office Building, a 45,000 sq. ft. office building
currently under construction.

Joint Ventures

¢ Beacon Lakes, a 480-acre industrial park, including five
industrial buildings and entitierents for an additional 6.0
million sq. ft. in West Dade. The Company owns a 21.2%
interest in a venture with an affiliate of AMB Properties that
owns the Beacon Lakes development, except for the 57
acres described herein. Within the Beacon Lakes develop-
ment is included a 120-unit warehouse condominium proj-
act on 57 acres known as Beacon Vilage. Beacon Village
is owned by Beacon Vilage, LLC, which is owned 50% by
the Company and 50% by an affiiate of AMB Properties.

¢ Red Road Commons, a proposed 50% interest in a venture
with an affiliate of Fairfield Properties, Inc. to build 407-unit
residential apartments on land to be leased in South Miami,

¢ Downtown Doral (formerly Beacon City Center), a venture
with an affiliate of JPMorgan that holds an exclusive option
to acquire and redevelop a 77-acre property in Doral for
residential and commercial uses.

* Burger King, which when acquired, was a proposed
30% interest in a venture with an affiliate of JPMorgan
to acquire land and construct a 15-story, 248,000 sq. ft.
building for Burger King's corporate headguarters.
JPMorgan and the Company entered into the venture
agreement in January 2007.

During 2006, Flagler added one building to its porticlio of
100% owned income-producing properties through its devel-
opment activities. At December 31, 2008, an additional two
buildings were in lease-up. Additionally, at December 31,
2006, there was one building in lease-up held in an uncon-
solidated joint veniure. During 2006 the Company began
construction of seven additional buildings of 100% owned
property and four additional buildings in unconsolidated joint
ventures with completion expected in 2007 for all but one
building with completion expected in 2008.

At December 31, 2006 Flagler's existing 100% owned land
holdings, with entittements for construction of 7.7 million sq.
ft. of office space, 1.5 million sq. ft. of industrial space and
0.7 million sq. ft. of commercial space, 880 multi-family units,
and 253 hotel rooms, offers opportunities for further develop-
ment or sale. In joint ventures, at December 31, 2005, Flagler
had entitlements for 0.3 million sq. ft. of office space, 5.8 mit-
lion sq. ft. of industrial space and 0.1 milion sg. ft. of com-
mercial space. The Company intends to continue its program
to realize the value of its extensive land holdings at Flagler
and the Railway by developing or monetizing them. Flagler's
future rate of growth, profitability, capital investment and sales
of land depends, in part, on the extent of future demand in
Florida's commercial real estate markets, operating costs,
and rental rates for leases, which are subject to uncertainty.

At December 31, 2006 Flagler, in addition to the services per-
formed for 100% owned assets, had development services
contracts in progress on seven projects, construction ser-
vices contracts on thirteen projects, 10.6 million sq. ft. under
property management, and various brokerage contracts with
or for third party or joint venture customers and owners.
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FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT CONSOLIDATED
{Excluding Discontinued Operations)

Years Ended December 31

{dolars in thousands) 20068 2005 2004
Revenues:
Rental income 80,796 69,998 60,053
Rental income - straight-line rent adjustments 3,048 6,658 3,524
Operating expense recoveries 13,041 8,719 4, 896
Operating expense recoveries - hurricane related 337 343 a3
Rental revenues — undeveloped land 28 22 16
Other rental revenues 180 111 83
Total Realty Rental Revenues 97,428 85,851 68,665
Construction revenues 27,210 - -
Brokerage revenues 9,691 704 148
Property management 4,375 - -
Development & other services 1,870 - -
Total Realty Services Revenues 43,146 704 148
Land use revenues 667 795 772
Total Realty Rental & Services Revenues 141,241 87,350 69,585
Realty sales 42,618 24,820 99,677
Total Flagler Revenues 183,859 112,170 169,262
Expenses:
Real estate taxes 11,109 9,324 7,825
Repairs & maintenance 3,646 2,820 2,545
Services, utilities, management costs 21,089 16,589 12,737
Recoverable expenses — hurricane related 76 742 109
Total recoverable expenses 35,920 29,475 23,216
Real estate taxes — undeveloped land - (17 9
Repairs & maintenance 256 474 512
Depreciation & amortization 30,148 27,943 23,152
Salaries, general & administrative 248 105 158
Non-recoverable expenses — hurricane related an 217 -
| Total non-recoverable expenses 31,023 28,722 23,831
| Gain on involuntary conversion of assets — hurricane related (1,913) - -
| Total Realty Rental Expenses 65,030 58,197 47,047
| Construction expenses 27,265 - -
| Brokerage expenses 7,227 481 85
| Property management 2,804 - -
| Development & other services 2,024 - -
. Total Realty Services Expenses 39,320 481 85
| Land and overhead expenses 26,951 14,413 13,448
’ Total Realty Rental & Services Expenses 131,301 73,091 60,580
Realty sales expensas 31,126 7,022 14,871
Total Flagler Expenses 162,427 80,113 75,451
Operating Profit 21,432 32,057 93,811
Loss from investment in unconsclidated joint ventures (970) - -
Minority interest 81 - -
Interest income 506 320 151
Interest expense (20,098) (19,594) (16,008)
Other expense (373) (518) (521)
Income Before Income Taxes 578 12,335 77,433

(Priar year resufts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation)
Rasuits from the Codina Group have been included from the date of acquisition, Apnl 27, 2006.

eesnesnnsFLORIOA ERAST COARST INOUSTRIES..........28BE5 FOREM 18-K. . iiieeciiiiseneennenanadD




FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT

Same Store
For the Years Ended December 31

(dallars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Revenues:
Rental income 67,672 64,894 60,053
Rental income - straight-line rent adjustments 440 4,019 3,524
Operating expense recoveries 9,054 6,508 4,896
Operating expense recoveries — hurricane related 314 332 a3
Rental revenues — undeveloped land 26 21 16
Other rental revenues 167 108 83

Total Realty Rental Revenues 77,673 75,972 68,665

Construction revenues - - -
Brokerage revenues - - -
Property management - - -
Development & other services - - -

Total Realty Services Revenues - - -
Land use revenues - - -

Total Realty Rental and Services Revenues 77,673 75,972 68,665
Realty sales - - _
Total Flagler Revenues 77,673 75,972 68,665
Expenses:
Real estate taxes 9,092 8,320 7.825
Repairs & maintenance 3,254 2,689 2,545
Servicas, utilities, management costs 16,870 14,550 12,737
Recoverable expenses - hurricane related 1 695 109
Total recoverable expenses 29,217 26,254 23,216
Real estate taxes — undeveloped land - - (17N
Repairs & maintenance 283 451 499
Depreciation & amortization 22,378 23,010 23,022
Salaries, general & administrative 147 73 158
Non-recoverable expenses — hurricane related 60 217 -
Total non-recoverable expenses 22 868 23,751 23,662
Gain on involuntary conversion of assets — hurricane related {1,913} - -
Total Realty Rental Expenses 50,172 50,005 46,878

Construction expenses - - -
Brokerage expenses - - -
Property management - - -
Development & other services - - _

Total Realty Services Expenses - - —
Land and overhead expenses - - —

Total Realty Rental and Services Expenses 50,172 50,005 46,878
Realty sales expenses - - -

Total Flagler Expenses 50,172 50,005 46,878
Operating Profit 27,501 25,967 21,787

(Prior year results have been reclassified 1o conform to current year presentation)

Same Store includes buidings where a comparison of operating results from the prior year to the current year is meaningful, as these buildings were owned and had
stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of the prior year. For the year 2006, Same Store buildings had stabilized occupancy and operating
expenses as of January 1, 2005. A building is considered to have stabilized occupancy at the earlier of () attainment of 0% cccupancy o (i) the one-year anniversary
of certificate of cocupancy issuance

L
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FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT
New in 2006 and New in 2005

For the Years Ended December 31

New in 2006 New in 2005

(dollars in thousands} 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Revenues:
Rental income 168 - - 12,956 5,104 -
Rental income - straight-ling

rent adjustments 128 - - 2,478 2,639 -
Operating expense recoveries 71 - - 3,916 2121 -
Operating expense recoveries —

hurricane related - - - 23 11 -
Rental revenues — undeveloped land - - - 2 1 -
Other rental revenues - - - 13 3 -

Total Realty Rental Revenues 367 - - 19,388 8,879 -
Construction revenues - - - - - -
Brokerage revenues - - - - - -
Property management - - - - - -
Development & other services - - - - - -

Total Realty Services Revenues - - - - - -
Land use revenues - - - - - -
Total Realty Rental and Services Revenues 367 - - 19,388 9,879 -
Realty sales - - - - - -

Total Flagler Revenues 367 - - 19,388 9.879 -
Expenses:
Real estate taxes 49 - - 1,968 1,004 -
Repairs & maintenance 7 - - 385 131 -
Services, utilities, management costs 120 - - 4,099 2,039 -
Recoverable expenses - hurricane related - - - 75 a7 -

Total recoverable expenses 176 - - 6,527 3.221 -
Real estate taxes — undeveloped land - (17} - - - 26
Repairs & maintenance - - - (27) 23 13
Depreciation & amortization 154 - - 7,616 4,933 130
Salaries, general & administrative 6 9 - 95 23 -
Non-recoverable expenses — hurricane related - - - an - -

Total non-recoverable expenses 160 (8} - 7,995 4,979 169

Gain on involuntary conversion of assets —

hurricane related - - - - - -

Total Realty Rental Expenses 336 {8) - 14,522 8,200 169
Construction expenses - - - - - _
Brokerage expenses - - - - - -
Property management - - - - - _
Development & other services - - - - - -

Total Realty Services Expenses - - - - — -
Land and overhead expenses - - - - - -

| Totat Realty Rental and Services Expenses 336 (8) - 14,522 8,200 169
. Realty sales expenses - - - - - -
Total Flagler Expenses 336 8) - 14,522 8,200 169

Operating Profit (Loss) 31 8 - 4,866 1,679 (169)

{Prior year results have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation)

New in 2006 consists of buildings developed by the Company where a certificate of occupancy was issusd and leasing commenced during 2006. These bulldings do
not have stabilized occupancy or operating expenses as of the beginning of 2006.

New in 2005 consists of buidings acquired during 2005 or buildings developed by the Company where a certificate of occupancy was issued and leasing commerniced
during 2005. These buildings did not have stabilized occupancy or operating expenses as of the beginning of 2005.
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FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT
Realty Services and Land & Overhead

For the Years Ended December 31

Realty Services Land & Cverhead
{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Revenues:
Rental income - - - - _ _
Rental income — straight-line rent adjustments - - - - - -
Operating expense recoveries - - - - - -
Operating expense recoveries ~ hurricane related - - - - - -
Rental revenues — undeveloped land - - - - - -
Cther rental revenues - - - - - -
Total Realty Rental Revenues - - - - - _
Construction revenues 27,210 - - - - _
Brokerage revenues 9,691 704 148 - - _
Property management 4,375 - - - - -
Development & other services 1,870 - - - - _
Total Realty Services Revenues 43,146 704 148 - - -
Land use revenues - - - 667 795 772
Total Realty Rental and Services Revenues 43,146 704 148 667 795 772
Realty sales - - - 42,618 24,820 99,677

Total Flagler Revenues 43,146 704 148 43,285 25615 100,449

Expenses:
Real estate taxes - - - - - _
Repairs & maintenance - - - - - -
Services, utilities, management costs - - - - - _
Recoverable expenses — hurricane related - - - - - -
Total recoverable expenses - - - - - -
Real estate taxes — undeveloped land - - - - - -
Repairs & maintenance - - - - - -
Depreciation & amortization - - - - - -
Salaries, general & administrative - - - - - _
Non-recoverable expenses - hurricane related - - - - - _
Total non-recoverable expenses - - - - - _
Gain on involuntary conversion of assets —
hurricane related - - - - - -
Total Realty Rental Expenses - - - - - -
Construction expenses 27,265 - - - - -
Brokerage expenses 7,227 481 85 - - -
Property management 2,804 - - - - -
Development & other services 2,024 - - - - _
Total Realty Services Expenses 39,320 481 8BS - - -
Land and overhead expenses - - - 26,951 14,413 13,448
Total Realty Rental and Services Expenses 39,320 ag1i 85 26,951 14,413 13,448
Realty sales expenses - - - 31,126 7.022 14,871
Total Flagler Expenses 39,320 481 85 58,077 21,435 28,319
Operating Profit (Loss) 3,826 223 63 {14,792) 4,180 72130

{Prior year results have been reclassified to conform ta current year presentation)
Results from the Codina Group have been included from the date of acquisition, April 27, 20086.

Realty Services consist of construction, brokerage, property management, development and consulting activities provided 1o third parties.
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Revenues from Continuing Operations -

2006 versus 2005

Flagler rental and services revenues increased $53.8 million
from $87.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 to
$141.2 million for the year ended Decernber 31, 2006, Realty
rental revenue related to operating properties increased by
$11.5 miltion from $85.9 milion in 2005 to $97.4 million in
2006. Of this $11.5 million increase, Same Store operating
properties rental revenues increased $1.7 million compared to
the prior year due to increased operating expense recoveries,
including hurmicane recoveries, offset by decreased rental rev-
enues as a result of a decrease in average Same Store occu-
pancy during 2008. Properties beginning operations in 2005
increased rental revenues by $9.5 milion during 20086, largely
due to all buildings in this category not producing a full twelve
months of operating results during 2005. Properties beginning
operations in 20086 contributed $0.3 million of increased rev-
enues. Land use and other revenues decreased $0.1 million.

Realty services revenue increased $42.4 million during the
year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005, primarily due to the Codina acquisition.
Of this increase, $42.3 million is due to Codina Group's realty
services revenue for 20086, which includes revenues from
construction, brokerage, property managemerit and develop-
ment activities. Results for the Codina Group have been
included since the April 27, 2006 acquisition date.

For all leases renewed during the twelve-month period ending
December 31, 2008, beginning cash rental rates increased by
approximately 1% on a weighted average basis compared to
the ending rate of expiring leases. Straight-line rental rates
over the new lease term increased approximately 12% on a
weighted average basis compared to straight-line rental rates
on expiring leases.

Flagler held 68 one-hundred percent owned stabilized build-
ings with 7.9 million sq. ft. and overall occupancy of 96% at
December 31, 2006 compared to 64 one-hundred percent
owned stabilized buildings with 7.4 million sq. {. and overall
occupancy of 95% at December 31, 2005. In addition at
December 31, 2006, Flagler held one 207,000 sq. ft. stabi-
lized warehouse in an unconsolidated joint venture. Same
Store cne-hundred percent owned properties include 8.6 mil-
lion sq. ft. and 96% occupancy at year-end 2006 compared
to 95% occupancy at year-end 2005. Additionally, at
December 31, 2006, there were two buildings with 279,000
sq. ft. that were in lease-up, which includes an office and
warehouse building along with a warehouse building totaling
207,000 sq. ft. held in an unconsolidated joint venture.

Flagler realty sales revenue increased $17.8 milion from
$24.8 million in 2005 to $42.6 million in 2008. Included in the
realty sales for the year ended December 31, 2006 were a
28-acre office parcel for $4.1 million and a 48-acre residential
parcel for $11.4 million, both located at Flagler Centerin
Jacksonville and a 3-acre hotel parcel for $1.2 million located
at Flagler Station. Additionally, there was a 48-acre mixed-
use parcel located in Crlando that Flagler purchased anci
immediately sold for $25.5 million, recognizing a net gain of
$2.9 million.

Revenues from Continuing Operations —

2005 versus 2004

Flagler rental and services revenues increased $17.8 millon
or 25.5% from $69.6 milion for the year endad December 31,
2004 to $87.4 million for the year ended Dacember 31,
2005. Operating properties revenue in 2005 increased
$17.2 milllion compared to 2004. Same Store occupancy
remained the same at 95% at December 31, 2005 compared
to December 31, 2004. Same Store revenues increased
$4.2 million compared to the prior year, mainly attributable
to occupancy improvements. Properties beginning operations
in 2004 contributed revenue of $4.7 million during 2005 for
an increase of $3.1 million over 2004 levels. This increase
represents successful leasing activity and improved occupancy
at these buildings. Properties developed in 2005 generatad
revenues of $4.2 million in 2005 and properties acquired in
2005 contributed $5.7 million in revenues. Realty services
revenues increased $0.6 million primarily related to commis-
sions earned on third party transactions.

For all leases renewed during calendar 2005, beginning cash
rental rates averaged approximately 5% less than the ending
rate of the expiring ieases, however straight-line rental rates:
over the new lease term averaged approximately 1% higher
than the average straight-line rental rates of the expiring leases.

Flagler held 84 finished buildings with 7.4 million sq. ft. and
occupancy of 95% at December 31, 2005. Same Store
properties include 6.4 milion sq. ft. and 85% occupancy at
December 31, 2005 compared to 35% at December 31, 2004.

Flagler sales revenue decreased $74.9 million from
$99.7 miliion in 2004 to $24.8 million in 2005 due to fewer
land sales in 2005.
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Expenses from Continuing Operations —

2006 versus 2005

Flagler's rental and services expenses increased $58.2 million
from $73.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 to
$131.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, Rental
expenses related to operating properties increased by
$6.8 million to $65.0 million in 2006 from $58.2 million in
2005. Inctuded in rental expenses for 2006 are $0.4 million
of hurricane expenses oftset by a $1.9 million gain on involun-
tary conversion related to Hurricane Wilma compared to
$1.0 million of hurricane expenses (net} for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Rental expenses before the gain on
involuntary conversion increased $8.7 milion to $66.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
$58.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Of
this increase, Same Store operating properties expenses
(before gain on involuntary conversion) increased $2.1 million
due to a $1.4 million increase in insurance expense primarily
due to increased rates for windstorm coverage; a $0.8 mil-
lion increase in property taxes; a $0.5 million increase in
utilities; offset by a decrease in depreciation and amortiza-
tion of $0.6 million. Properties beginning operations in 2005
and 2006 contributed the remaining increase of $6.6 million
during 2008, due largely to all buildings in this category not
producing a full twelve months of operating results in 2005,

Realty services expenses increased $38.8 million for the ysar
ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005. This increase is primarily due to Codina
Group's realty services expenses from the date of acquisition
{April 27, 2006}, which includes $38.8 million from construction,
brokerage, property management and development activities.

Land and overhead expenses for the realty operations
increased $12.6 milion from $t4.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 to $27.0 milion for the year ended
December 31, 2006. This increase is due to $10.8 million of
additional expenses related to Codina land and overhead and
a $1.8 million increase in the Flagler land and overhead.
Codina land and overhead expense is camprised of $4.0 mil-
lion related to the amortization of restricted stock granted to
Codina employess in connection with the acquisition, $1.2 mil-
lion of amortization of intangibles and $5.6 million related to
the remaining land carry and overhead functions of Codina
that have been included since the acquisition. Flagler's land
and corporate overhead expense increased $1.8 milion due
primarily to severance costs for the former President of Flagler.

Flagler's cost of real estate sales increased $24.1 million,
from $7.0 millien for the year ended December 31, 2005 to
$31.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 as the
result of increased land sale activity during 2006.

Operating profit from realty rental increased $4.7 million to
$32.4 million in 2006 compared to $27.7 million in 2005.
Same Store operating profit increased $1.5 million due to a
net $0.9 million year-over-year hurricane effect (2005 results
include $0.6 million negative net impact from hurricanes
and 2008 results include a $0.3 million favorable impact
from hurricanes) and a $0.6 million decrease in deprecia-
tion. Properties that began operations in 2005 generated
increases in operating profit of $3.2 million. Operating profit
from realty services increased $3.6 million to $3.8 miltion in
2006 compared to $0.2 million in 2005 primarily due to the
Codina acquisition.

Expenses from Continuing Operations -

2005 versus 2004

Flagler's rentai and services expenses increased $12.5 million
or 20.7% from $60.6 million for the twelve months 2004 to
$73.1 milion for the twelve months 2005. Included in these
amounts are increases in depreciation and amortization of
$5.7 million due primarily to the addition of new properties in
2005 and a property beginning operations at the end of
2004. Expenses related to operating properties increased by
$11.2 million from $47.0 million in 2004 to $58.2 million in
2005. Same Store operating properties expenses increased
by $1.2 miltion. This increase in Same Store expense is com-
posed of a $1.1 milion increase of mainly variable expenses
related to increased average occupancy, $0.3 million increase
related to real estate taxes, a $0.8 million increase related to
the impact of Hurricanes Wilma and Katrina, and a $1.0 mil-
lion decrease in depreciation and amortization. The decrease
in depreciation expense is associated with a write off of
$1.5 million of tenant improvements during the first quarter
2004 related to the remodeling of duPont Center in Jacksonwille,
Florida. Properties beginning operations in 2004 contributed
an increase in expenses of $2.0 million during the twelve
months in 2005. Properties developed in 2005 contributed
$2.2 million in expenses and properties acquired in 2005 had
expenses of $6.0 million.
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Land holdings and overhead expenses increased by $1.0 milfion
compared to prior year. Real estate taxes decreased $1.2 mil-
lion on owned and acquired land due to sales of property,
primarity Section 8 in Flagler Station (December 2004).
Additicnally, fand holdings and overhead expenses had a
$1.8 miillion increase in Salaries, General & Administrative,
primarily 2005 severance and other payroll related costs, and
a $0.7 million increase in depreciation expense. Depreciation
expense includes depreciation expense on infrastructure,
including the interchange asset, partially offset by a reimburse-
ment from the City of Jacksonville. The total reimbursement
received in June 2005 from the City of Jacksonville was
$0.7 milion, of which $0.5 million was applied against
depreciation expense on infrastructure assets. The remaining
$0.2 million of the reimbursement was recorded as other
non-operating income.

Flagler's cost of land sales (i.e., mostly basis) decreased
$7.9 million due to decreased sale activity, from $14.9 million
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 to $7.0 mil-
lion for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005.

Results from Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144), components of
Flagler that meet certain criteria have been accounted for as dis-
continued operations. Therefore, income or loss attributable to the
operations and sale of the components classified as discontinued
operations are presented in the summary of operating resutts as
discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes.

During March 2004, Flagler sold a 60,000-sq. ft. build-to-suit
office building for $12.6 million recognizing a pre-tax gain of
$3.7 million, or $2.3 million, net of applicable taxes. During
September 2004, Flagler sold a 147,000-sq. ft. industrial build-
ing for $4.1 milion, for a $0.4 million pre-tax gain, or $0.3 miltion,
net of applicable taxes. The operating results of these proper-
ties, as well as the gains on the sales of these properties are
included in discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Summary of Operating
Results of Discontinued
Operations
Flagler realty rental revenues - - 718
Flagler realty rental expenses - - 545
Operating income - - 173
Interest income - - -
Income before incoms taxes - - 173
Income taxes - - {67)
Income from operation of

discontinued operations - - 106
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations,

net of taxes of $1.7 million

for the year ended

December 31, 2004. - - 2,590

During 2006, the Company and Odyssey Telecorp, Inc.
(Odyssey) agreed to a resolution of all outstanding matters
relating to the sale by the Company of stock of EPIK
Communications to Odyssey and resulted in a payment 1o
the Company of $9.3 million, net of related expenses, and is
recorded, net of taxes of $3.6 million, as a $5.7 million gain
on disposition of discontinued operations.

Corporate Expenses

Corporate expenses for the years ended December 31,
2008, 2005 and 2004 were $16.3 milion, $22.4 million and
$15.1 million, respectively. First quarter 2005 included costs
associated with the appointment of Mr. Adolfo Henriques
as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and ter-
mination benefits provided to Mr. Robert W. Anestis. Thase
expenses totaled $9.1 million in the first quarter 2005 and
included $5.3 million of additional equity compensation
($1.9 million due to the accelerated vesting of equity compen-
sation), $3.2 million of severance payments and $0.5 million
of other benefits. Corporate expenses for 2006 includes
$0.5 million of termination benefits for a former employes of
the Company as well as increased costs related to compen-
sation and restricted stock.
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In a 2004 transaction {the “Transaction”) initiated at the request
of the Board of Directors, the Company cancelled vested, in-
the-money stock options {the “Options”) to acquire 144,000
shares of the Company's common stock held by the
Company’s former Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"), Robert W.
Anestis. The embedded value of the Options {fair market value
less strike price) was $2 milion. The embedded value, less
applicable tax withholding, was paid in common stock. The
CEO was issued 36,407 shares (valued at $35.08, which was
the closing price on February 27, 2004). The stock, together
with applicable withholdings, represents the pre-tax embedded
value. Because the original stock option award was cancelled
and the Company replaced this award with FECI common
stock, in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 44, the
Company was required to recognize compensation expense in
the amount of $2 miltion with respect to the Transaction.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 was $20.4 million and $20.1 million, respectively.
The increased interest expense for the year resulted primarily
from an increase in the variable interest rate. Also contributing
to the additional interest expense was an increase in the vari-
able interest rate associated with Flagler's seven-year variable
mortgage note. Cash paid for interest was $22.8 million and
$22.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 was $20.1 million and $16.7 million, respectively.
Cash paid for interest was $22.3 million and $19.3 million for
2005 and 2004, respectively. The increased interest expense,
and cash paid for interest resulted primarily from the issuance
of additional mortgage notes in August 2004 at Flagler.

Other Income

Other income for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $11.5 million,
$14.6 million and $13.0 million, respectively. Other income
decreased $3.1 million in 2006 from 2005 primarily due to
2005 proceeds of $3.0 million associated with the sale of air-
rights, and related surface and sub-surface easements and
licenses on the Railway's right-of-way. In 2004, pipe and
wire-crossing included income of $2.6 milion from two one
time wire-crossing agreements entered into in 2004.

Gain on Sale of Asset

On October 20, 2006, the Company completed the sale of the
corporate headquarters property, located in St. Augustine,
Florida to Flagler College, resutting in a $4.8 milion gain. The
sales price was $10 million and the Company will claim a chari-
table contribution on its federal and state tax returns for the dif-
ference between the appraised fair market value and the sales
price, as reguired under federal tax regulations. The proceeds
from the sale were reinvested in a gualified §1031 transaction.

Income Tax

Income tax expense represents an effective rate of 34.5% in
2008, compared to 37.0% in 2005 and 39.0% in 2004.
2006's decrease in effective rate primarily reflects a one-time
tax benefit related to the sale of the Company's headquarters
buitdings in St. Augustine, Florida to Flagler College. A chari-
table deduction for the excess of the appraised value over the
sale price will reduce the Company’s 20086 federal tax liability.
2005's decrease in effective rate reflects newly enacted tax
credits related to track maintenance at FECR offset by certain
non-deductible section 162(m) compensation over $1.0 mil-
lion for Mr. Adolfe Henriques. This 162{m) compensation pri-
marily relates to sign-on grants provided to Mr. Henrigues as
detailed in his employment agreement.

During 2004, the U.S. Congress passed the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004, which included certain tax law changes
that effect taxable earnings (starting in 2005) of FEC! Gener-
ally, these tax law changes have benefited the Company
through additional current period tax credits for rail right-of-
way maintenance expenses (previously capitalized and
depreciated) and reduced federal excise taxes on digsel fuel,
respectively. The tax credit for track maintenance is limited
{annually) to $3,500 per mile of track and available for years
2005 through 2007.

Net Income

As a result of the foregaing factors, net incorne was $63.1
million, or $1.83 per diluted share, for 2008, compared to
$40.4 million, or $1.52 per diluted share, for 2005 and $80.6
million, or $2.29 per diluted share in 2004,
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SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS

2006 versus 2005
information by Industry Segment

(dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 $ Change:
Operating Revenues
Railway operations 264,093 237,870 26,22C
Flagler:
Realty rental revenues 97,091 85,508 11,582
CAM recoveries associated with hurricane costs 337 343 (€)
Total realty rental revenues 97,428 85,851 11,577
Realty services revenues 43,146 704 42 442
Land use revenues 667 795 {12}
Total Flagler realty rental and services revenues 141,241 87,350 53,891
Flagler reatty sales 42,618 24,820 17,798
Railway realty rental revenues 3,680 3,488 202
Railway realty sales 6,605 8,818 (2,213)
Total realty 194,154 124,476 659,678
Total Revenues (segment) 458,247 362,346 95,901
Intersegment ravenues (45) - {45)
Total Revenues (consolidated) 458,202 362,346 85,856

Operating Expenses
Railway operations:

Raitway operations 190,946 172,152 18,794
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses (5,324) 1,889 (7.313)
Total Railway 185,622 174,141 11,481
Flagler:
Realty rental expenses 66,496 57,238 9,258
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses {1,466} 9589 (2,425)
Total realty rental expenses 65,030 58,197 6,833
Realty services expenses 39,320 481 38,839
Land & overhead expenses 26,951 14,413 12,538
Total Flagler reaity rental and services expenses 131,301 73,091 58,210
Flagler realty sales 31,126 7,022 24,104
Railway realty rental expenses 1,456 1,893 (437)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses (18) 284 (302)
Total Railway realty rental expenses 1,438 2177 (739)
Raitway realty sales 2,060 1,264 796
Total realty 165,925 83,554 82,371
Corporate general & administrative 16,259 22,388 (6.129)
Total Expenses {segment) 367,806 280,083 87,723
Intersegment expenses {45) - (45)
Total Expenses (consolidated) 367,761 280,083 87,678
Operating Profit (Loss)
Railway operations 78,471 63,729 14,742
Realty 28,229 40,922 (12,693)
Corporate general & administrative {16,259} (22,388} 6,129
Segment & consolidated operating profit 90,441 82,263 8,178
Loss from investment in unconsolidated joint ventures {970) - {970)
Minority interest 81 - 81
Interest income 1,565 1,659 (94)
Interest expense (20,378) (20,105) (273)
Gain on sale of assets 4,787 - 4,787
Other income 11,478 14,555 (3,077
(3,437) (3,891) 454
Income before income taxes 87,004 78,372 8,632
Provision from income taxes (29,598) (29,006) (592)
Income from continuing operations 57,406 49,366 8,040
Discontinued Operations
Gain on sale of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 5713 - 5,713
Net income 63,119 49,366 13,753

(Prior year results have been reclassified to conformn to current year presentation)
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SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS

2005 versus 2004
Information by Industry Segment

{dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 $ Change
Operating Revenues
Railway operations 237,870 200,762 37,108
Flagler:
Realty rental revenues 85,508 68,572 16,936
CAM recoveries associated with hurricane costs 343 93 250
Total realty rental revenues 85,851 68,665 17,186
Realty services revenues 704 148 556
Land use revenues 795 772 23
Total Flagler realty rental and services revenues 87,350 69,585 17,765
Flagler realty sates 24,820 99,677 (74,857)
Railway realty rental revenues 3,488 3,028 460
Railway realty sales 8,818 5,135 3,683
Total realty 124,476 177,425 (52,949)
Total Revenues (segment} 362,346 378,187 (15.841)
Intersegment revenues - - -
Total Revenues (consolidated) 362,346 378,187 (15,841)
Qperating Expenses
Railway operations:
Railway operations 172,152 151,356 20,796
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses 1,989 2,080 (@1}
Total Railway 174,141 153,436 20,705
Flagler:
Realty rental expenses 57,238 46,938 10,300
Hurnicane recoveries, net of expenses 959 109 850
Total realty rental expenses 58,197 47,047 11,150
Realty services expenses 481 a5 3986
Land & overhead expenses 14,413 13,448 965
Total Flagler realty rental and services expenses 73,091 60,580 12,511
Flagler realty sales 7,022 14,871 (7,849)
Railway realty rental expenses 1,893 2,887 {994)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses 284 179 105
Total Railway realty rental expenses 2,177 3,066 (889)
Railway realty sales 1,264 922 342
Total realty 83,554 79,439 4,115
Corporate general & administrative 22,388 15,080 7,308
Total Expenses (segment) 280,083 247,955 32,128
Intersegment expenses - - -
Total Expenses {consolidated) 280,083 247,955 32,128
Operating Profit {Loss)
Railway operations 63,729 47,326 16,403
Realty 40,922 97,986 (57,064)
Corporate general & administrative (22,388) {15,080} (7,308}
Segment & consolidated operating profit 82,263 130,232 (47,969)
Loss from investment in unconsclidated joint ventures - - -
Minority interest - - -
Interest income 1,659 1,124 535
Interest expense (20,105) (16,671) (3,434)
Gain on sale of assets - - -
Other income 14,555 13,023 1,532
{3,891) {2,524) {1,367)
Income before income taxes 78,372 127,708 (49,336)
Provision from income taxes (29,006) {49,806} 20,800
Income from continuing operations 43,366 77,902 (28.536)
Discontinued Operations
Gain on sale of discontinued operations {net of taxes) - 2,696 (2,698)
Net income 49,366 80,598 (31,232)

{Prior year results have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation)
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OTHER MATTERS

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company has reviewad its accounting policies to identify
those that are very important to the pontrayal of the
Company's financial condition and results and that require
management's most difficult, subjective or complex judg-
ments {the Critical Accounting Policies). The Company has
determined that its accounting policies governing allocation of
acquisition costs, principles of consolidation, impairment of
long-lived assets, income tax provisions, revenue recognition,
real estate infrastructure costs, cost capitalization and contin-
gencies may be considered Critical Accounting Policies.

Allocation of Acquisition Costs: The Company utilizes
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (SFAS 141) to account for the costs
of acquiring businesses and buildings. This staternent pro-
vides a framework for allocating the costs of acquisition to
tangible assets, financial assets and separately identifiable
intangible assets, less acquired liabilities, using the purchase
method of accounting.

On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held Codina
Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held directly or
indirectly by Mr. Armande Codina. As the resutt of this acquisi-
tion, the Company paid $66 million in cash to Mr. Codina for
certain property interests, repaid $31 million of debt assumed in
the acquisition, issured 288,518 shares of stock to certain
Codina Group employees and issuad 3,008,830 shares of stock
from treasury, of which 1,996,064 shares were issued to Mr.
Codina (includes 282,633 shares of contingent consideration
earned during the second and fourth quarters 2006) and the
balance held in escrow awaiting the satisfaction of certain con-
tingencies. The majority ($100.0 million) of acquisition costs
were allocated to various tangible assets and liabilities (including
cash, accounts receivable, land, investments in joint ventures,
accounts payable, accrued expenses, landfill closure liability,
debt and deferred tax liabilities). Costs of $11.6 million were allo-
cated to intangible assets (e.g., customer relationships and non-
compete) with the remaining $21.8 million allocated to goodwil.

During the first quarter of 2005, Flagler purchased two build-
ings: one for $41.5 million with approximately 240,000 rentable
sq. ft. on 5.1 acres of land and one for $19.5 milion with
approximately 107,000 rentable sq. ft. on 8.0 acres of land.
The majority ($50.1 million) of acquisition costs of these build-
ings were allocated to various tangible assets (including land,
land improvements, building and parking decks) with the
remaining costs allocated to financial assets (e.g., above or
below rmarket value of in-place leases) and intangible assets
(e.g., customer relationship intangible). Financial assets and
intangible assets are generally amortized over the remaining life
{approximately 3.5 to 8 years) of the underlying tenant leases.

Principles of Consolidation: The accompanying Consolidated
Financial Staternents include the accounts of the Compary
and its' wholly cwned subsidiaries and partnerships, certain
joint venture partnerships and any variable interest entities
consolidated under FIN 46R, as described below. All signiii-
cant inter-company balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

The Company assesses consalidation of variable interest
entities under the guidance of FASB Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46), an
Interpretation of ARB No. 51 as revised in Decemnber 2003
(FIN 46R). The Company accounts for joint venture entities,
and subsidiary partnerships in accordance with Emerging
Issues Task Force Abstracts (EITF) Issue No. 04-5, "Determining
Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as a
Group, Conlrols a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When
the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights.” Under EITF Issus
No. 04-5, the general partner in a limited partnership is pre-
sumed to contral that limited partnership, unless that presump-
tion is overcome by the limited partners having either: () the
substantive ability, either by a single limited partner or through
a simple majority vote, to dissolve the limited partnership or
otherwise remove the general partner without cause; or (i)
substantive participating rights.

Additional discussion of these entities can be found in Note B,
“Investrments in Joint Ventures," of our Consolidated Financial
Statements located elsewhere in this report.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company reviews
the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of an asset or asset grouping may
not be recoverable from the undiscounted future net cash
flows expected to be generated over its remaining useful life.
Detecting these events or changes in circumnstances can be
difficult. At December 31, 2008, management had not identi-
fied indicators of an impairment of value for any significant
asset group of the Company. However, events or changes in
circumstances could develop or occur that would cause the
Company to evaluate the recovery of its long-lived assets and
potentially record an impairment, the amount of which could
be material. Assets that are deemed impaired are recorded at
the lower of carrying amount or fair value.

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related
costs over the value assigned to the net tangible value of
assets acquired. Under the guidance of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142}, the Company reviews the
recoverability of goodwill on an annual basis. The measure-
ment of possible impairment is based primarily on the ability
to recover the balance of the goodwill from expected futurs
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operating cash flows on an undiscounted basis. In manage-
ment’s opinion, no impairment exists at December 31, 2006.

Income Tax Provisions: FECI’s net deferred tax liabiiity was
$203.2 milion at December 31, 2006 and $185.9 million at
December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2006, the Company
had a state deferred tax asset of approximately $2.9 million
relating to net operating loss carry forwards. The net deferred
tax liability is estimated based on the expected future tax con-
sequences of items recognized in the financial statements.
Management must use judgment when estimating the future
timing and deductibility of expenses and loss and credit carry
forwards in the Company’s tax returns. A valuation allowance
is required 1o be recorded if management expects that it be
mare likely than not that its deferred tax assets will not be
realized. As of December 31, 2006, FECI has no valuation
allowance since it expects to realize its deferred tax assets.
This expectation is primarily based upon FECI's expectation
that future operations will be sufficiently profitable to utilize the
operating loss carry forwards, as well as the existence of vari-
ous taxes, business and other planning strategies available to
the Company. However, the Company cannot guarantee that
it will realize this tax asset or that future valuation allowances
will not be required. Failure to utilize the tax asset could mate-
rially affect the Company’s financial results and financial posi-
tion. Federal tax years through 2002 have been closed with
the Internal Revenue Service (IRS).

On April 10, 2006 the IRS notified the Company that the audit
of the 2000-2002 federal tax returns was complete, The
2002 tax return included the sale of EPIK Communications
incorporated (EPIK) and the resulting $75 million tax refund
associated with the loss from this sale and received by FECI
based on the settlement with the IRS for the years noted. The
Company has paid the IRS approximately $5.4 million of
income tax associated with deductions to be allowed in peri-
ods subsequent to 2002, These benefits {future deductions)
are now reflected in the deferred tax accounts, Additionally,
$1.2 million of interest was paid to the IRS. This interest
amount had no effect on net income during the year as the
arnounts were praviously provisioned.

During 2006, the Company amended its state tax returns for
the years 2000-2002 to reflect audit adjustments related to
the 2000-2002 federal audit. These amendments resulted
in the payment of $0.5 million of income tax. An additional
$0.2 million of interest was paid which had no effect on net
income for the year as the amount was previously provisioned.

Revenue Recognition

Realty Rental Revenues: Revenues from realty rentals are
primarily contractual base rents from leases of commercial
property. The Company recognizes revenues from these base
rents evenly over the lease term in accordance with Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13, "Accounting for
Leases” (SFAS 13). SFAS 13 requires rental income from an
operating lease be recognized on a straight-line basis over
the non-cancelable lease term. Accordingly, total contractual
minimum lease payments, including scheduled rent increases,
are recognized as rental revenue evenly over the lease term,
Accrued revenues from contractually scheduled rent
increases in excess of amounts currently due amounted to
$24.6 milion at December 31, 2006 and $22.1 million at
December 31, 2005, which is reported in current and long-
term assets. At December 31, 20086 there are two leases that
each total more than 10% of this amount. The combined total
for these two tenants is $6.7 million. The total for the top five
leases is $11.2 milion. The Company monitors this asset
for collection risk and establishes reserves for any amounts
deemed not collectible. However, amounts collected in future
periods may vary from the Company’s expectations.

Realty Sales: The Company accounts for profit recognition
on sales of real estate in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 66, “Accounting for
Sales of Real Estate” {3FAS 66). Profits from sales of real
estate are not recognized unless (i) a sale has been consum-
mated; {ii) the buyer’s initial and continuing investments are
adequate to demonstrate a commitment to pay for the prop-
erty; (i) the Company has transferred to the buyer the usual
risks and rewards of ownership, and (iv) the Company does
not have substantial continuing involvement with the property.

Construction Contracts: The Company recognizes profits on
the percentage-of-completion contract method by multiplying
a percentage (costs incurred to date divided by total estimated
costs) by estimated profit (contract price of job minus total

estimated costs) otherwise known as the cost-to-cost method.

Contract costs include all direct materials and labor costs and
those indirect costs related to contract performance, including
indirect labor, General and administrative costs are charged to
expense as incurred. Provisions for estimated losses are made
in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in
job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability may
result in revisions to costs and income, which are recognized in
the period in which the revisions are determined. Changes in
estimated job profitability resulting from job performance, job
conditions, contract penalty provisions, claims, change orders
and settlements are accounted for as changes in estimates in
the current period.

Railway Revenues: Rail revenue is recognized as freight moves
from origin to destination.

Real Estate Infrastructure Costs
The Gompany periodically constructs road, road structures
and general infrastructure related to the development of
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commercial real estate. Certain of these infrastructure assets
may be deeded, upon completion, to applicable governmen-
tal authorities. The Company believes these deeded items
{e.g., roads) benefit and increase the value of the parcels
within and adjacent to the refated commercial real estate
developments. The Company capitalizes all infrastructure
costs (including costs of infrastructure assets deeded to
governmental authorities) into the basis of its commercial
real estate developments, and allocates these costs 1o the
indivictual parcels within the park on a relative fair value
basis in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 67, “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental
Operations of Real Estate Projects” (SFAS 67).

in connection with infrastructure assets constructed by the
Company and deeded to governmental authorities, certain
governmental authorities may agree to reimburse the
Company certain of its construction costs for the deeded
assets based on and to the extent of annual incremental taxes
{such as property taxes) as may be collected by the govern-
mental autharity from the applicable properties over a stipu-
lated period of time. Prior to and at the date of deeding the
infrastructure asset to the governmental authority, any current
reimbursements were accounted for as a reduction in the allo-
cated costs described above to the extent the Company’s
receipt of such reimbursements had becorne fixed and deter-
minable, based upon the related incremental taxes having
been assessed and being, therefore, payable. The Company
does not recognize expected future tax reimbursements even
though they may be probable and estimable, until they
become fixed and determinable,

Under a current agreement with the City of Jacksorwille and
the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), Flagler con-
structed and deeded to the FDOT an interchange asset in the
third quarter of 2004. During 2004, prior to comgletion of the
interchange asset, Flagler received $2.1 million that was applied
as a reduction in the basis of the asset. In June 2005, Flagler
received its first “post interchange transfer” reimbursement from
the ity of Jacksonwille for $0.7 million, of which $0.5 million
was applied against depreciation expense on infrastructure
assets. The remaining $0.2 million of the reimbursement was
recorded as other non-operating income. In June 2008, Flagler
recorded its second “post interchange transfer” reimbursement
from the City of Jacksonville for $1.0 million, of which $0.7 mil-
lion was applied against depreciation expense on infrastructure
assets. The remaining $0.3 milion of the reimbursement was
recorded as other non-operating income, These reimburse-
ments received after the completion of the infrastructure asset
were allocated between operating and non-operating activities
based on the relative assessed value of property within Flagler
Center, owned by Flagler versus that sold to outside parties.
Future reimbursements will be treated similarly.

Cost Capitalization: The Company capitalizes costs during
the development and construction of owned assets (including
interest, property taxes and other direct and indirect costs)
beginning when development commences until the asset, or
a portion of the asset, is delivered and is ready for its
intended use, which is generally indicated by the issuance of
a certificate of occupancy.

The Company capitalizes pre-development costs incurred in
pursuit of future development projects that are deemed prob-
able. These costs include legal fees, survey fees and related
overhead costs. Pre-development costs incurred in the pur-
suit of projects for which future development is not yet con-
sidered probable are expensed as incurred. In addition, if the
status of a future development project changes, making
future development no longer probable, any capitalized pra-
development costs are written-off with a charge to expense.

Contingencies: It is the Company’s policy to reserve for certzin
contingencies consisting primarily of various claims and law-
suits resulting from its operations in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standard No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”
(FAS 5). In the opinion of management, appropriate reserves
have been made for the estimated liability that may result from
disposition of such matters. Management’s opinion and ultimatesy
the reserve recorded in the financial statements are based on
known facts and circurnstances. In certain circumstances,
managemeant uses the services of outside counsel to help eval-
uate the facts and circumstances and considers their profes-
sional judgment in establishing the appropriate reserve. The
ultimate resolution of these contingencies may be for an amount
greater or less than the amount estimated by managernent.

Trading Activities that Include Non-Exchange
Traded Contracts Accounted for at Fair Value
The Company does not participate in trading of non-

exchange traded contracts accounted for at fair value.

Effects of Transactions with Related and
Certain Other Parties

See Pant I, Note 3 to the Financial Statements in ltem 8;
“Related Party Transactions” and in Part Ill, tem 13
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and
Director Independence.”

Environmental Liabilities

The Company is subject to proceedings arising out of envi-
ronmental laws and regulations, which primarily relate to the
disposal and use of fuel and oil used in the transportation
business. Kt is the Company's policy to accrue and charge
against earnings environmental cleanup costs when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount can
be reasonably estimated. As assessments and cleanups pro-
ceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted.
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Compliance with the federal, state, and local laws and regula-
tions relating to the protection of the environment has not
affected the Company's capital additions, earnings or com-
petitive position, nor does management anticipate any future
matters will adversely affect the Company’s financial situation
based upon the information available today.

Environmental expenditures for capital improvements and
ongoing operations and maintenance have historically been
insignificant to the operations of the Company. Management
does not anticipate any material changes in these expendi-
tures. These expenditures are expected to be funded from
current operations.

The Beacon Countyline project acquired in the Codina acquisi-
tion transaction on April 27, 20086, consists of 497 acres of
vacant land in Hialeah, Florida. Approximately 400 acres of the
site were previously operated as a permitted construction and
demolition debris disposal facility. While certain portions of the
site have been closed in accordance with applicable regula-
tions, a significant portion of the site still needs 1o be closed in
accordance with regulations of Miami-Dade Department of
Environmental Resources Management. The closure activities
consist prirmarily of clearing, compaction and providing a cover
for the landfill. Consulting environmental and gectechnical
engineering firms have evaluated the expected costs of clo-
sure. The expected cost of $24.2 million is included in other
tong-term liabilities as of December 31, 2006.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Part |1, Note 4 to the Financial Statements in ltem 8,
*Summmary of Significant Accounting Policies” under the
caption “Recently Issued Accounting Standards.”

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE
ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company’s primary market risk exposure has historically

been interest rate risk primarily related to the Company's out-
standing debt, as further discussed in Note 17 to the financial
statements continued in ltem 8 of this Form 10-K.

On February 22, 2005, the Company entered into a new unse-
cured $150 million, 5-year revolving credit agreement with a
syndication of banks. The new credit facility provides a more
favorable interest rate and terms and replaces the Company's
previous $200 million credit agreement. The Company pays
{quarterty) commitrment fees, as applicable under the agree-
ment, at a range of 12.5 to 25.0 basis points. The Company's
revolving credit agreement requires the maintenance of certain
financial ratios (interest coverage and leverage) and mainte-
nance of minimum established levels of net worth. The

Company believes the most restrictive of such ratios is the
Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility Agreement).
The Credit Facility Agreement provides that at December 31,
2008, the Company’s Adjusted Total Debt/Adjusted Total
EBITDA ratio shall be no greater than 3.00 to 1.00. At
December 31, 2008, the Company's actual Adjusted Total
Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio was 0.41 to 1.00. In addition
there are various established limitations (doflars and otherwise)
on certain types of liens, investments (including loans and
advances) and acquisitions, limitation on transactions with affil-
iates, merger and sales of all or substantially alf of the assets;
and use of proceeds. Some of the above covenants provide
specific exclusion of certain financing and investing activities at
Flagler. Borrowings under the credit agreement bear interest at
variable rates linked to the LIBOR Index. Interest on borrow-
ings is due and payable on the “rollover date” for each draw.
Outstanding borrowings can be paid at any time by the bor-
rower, or at the conclusion of the facility's term. At December
31, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding on this facility.

On April 27, 2006 the Company amended its exdsting credit
agreement to accommadate the acquisition of the Codina
Group and related assets. Amendments to increase the limits on
advances, loans, extensions of credit and guarantees of debt of
persons that are not Loan Parties and other administrative
changes were made. There were no changes 1o the existing
credit imit and the minimum required level of financial covenants.

On October 16, 2006 the Company amended its existing
credit agresment to allow the execution of a forbearance
agreement/guarantee of repair by Flagler Development
Company. The forbearance agreement was related to a
windstorm coverage requirement under the Company's
mortgage debt agreements.

On January 25, 2007, the Company amended its existing
credit agreement to allow performance bends and perfor-
mance and completion guarantees, issued in the normal
course of business which may be required in the Company’s
role as development partner and/or general contractor in sev-
erat joint ventures and for third party work, to be excluded
from the definition of tragitional guarantees and to establish
a cap on the total dollars that wouid be permitted. i

In connection with the Codina acquisition, the Company
assurmed a $2 million note payable to an affiliate of JPMorgan.
The note was issued in connection with the Downtown Doral
joint venture. The amount outstanding on the note at
December 31, 2006 was $1.4 million. The note bears interest
at 4%, and the outstanding principal balance together with
accrued interest is payable December 31, 2011,
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The following table presents the future principal cash flows and weighted-average interest rates expected on the Company's
existing mortgage notes. Fair value has been determined based on current rates available to the Company at December 31,
2006 for similar maturity instruments.

Expected Maturity Date

12/31/06
{dollars in thousands) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Liabilities
Long-Term Debt:
Fixed Rate (3US)

Ten Year Notes 2,248 2,418 2,603 2,802 140,265 - 150,334 160,242
Seven Year Notes 2,225 81,370 1,054 1,111 53,925 - 139,685 140,342
Average Interest Rate 6.84% 6.83% 6.80% 6.80% 6.80%

Variable Rate ($US)
Seven Year Notes 1,048 1,076 1,106 1,136 38,378
Average Interest Rate 6.29% 6.01% 5.99% 6.12% 6.21%

42,744 42,744

Total outstanding maturities existing on the mortgage notes at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $338.0 milion and $342.9 million,
respectively, with the estimated fair market values of $354.1 milion and $370.6 milion, respectively. The decrease in 2006 outstanding
maturities is the result of payments made against the outstanding balances of the mortgage notes (See Note 17).
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, changes in shareheolders' equity
and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006. In
connection with our audits of the consolidated financial state-
ments, we also audited the financial statement schedules |l
and 1l as listed in the accompanying Index on Page 81.
These consolidated financial statements and financial state-
ment schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s man-
agement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-
cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the

three-year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity
with U.3, generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in
our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in the Notes 4 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company
adopted the fair value method of accounting for stock-based
compensation as required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, "Share-Based Payment.”
Also, as discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company changed its method of quantifying
errers in 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Pubtic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.'s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report dated
February 26, 2007 expressed an ungualified opinion on
management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of,
intermat control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Jacksonville, Florida

February 26, 2007
Certified Public Accountants

~
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Operating revenues:
Railway operations 264,093 237,870 200,762
Realty rental and services 144,594 90,495 72,520
Flagler CAM recoveries associated with hurricane costs (Note 4) 337 343 a3
Total realty rental and services 144,931 90,838 72,613
Realty sales 49,223 33,638 104,812
Total revenues (segment} 458,247 362,346 378,187
Intersegment (45) - -
Total revenues 458,202 362,346 378,187
Operating expenses:
Railway operations 190,946 172,152 151,356
Hurricane costs (net of recoveries) (Note 4) (5,324) 1,989 2,080
Total railway operations 185,622 174,141 153,436
Realty rental and services 134,223 74,025 63,358
Hurricane costs (net of recoveries) (Note 4) (1,484) 1,243 288
Total realty rental and services 132,739 75,268 63,646
Realty sales 33,186 8,286 15,793
Corporate general & administrative 16,259 22,388 15,080
Total expenses {segment) 367,806 280,083 247,955
Intersegment (45) - -
Total expenses 367,761 280,083 247,955
Operating profit 90,441 82,263 130,232
Loss fram investment in unconsolidated joint ventures (Note 6) (970) - -
Minority interest 81 - -
Interest income 1,565 1,659 1,124
Interest expense (20,378) {20,105} (16,671)
Gain on sale of asset 4,787 - -
Other income {Note 16) 11,478 14,555 13,023
(3,437) (3,891) (2,5624)
Income before income taxes 87,004 78,372 127,708
Provision for income taxes {Note 9) (29,598) {29,006) {49,806)
Income from continuing operations 57,406 49,366 77,902
Discontinued Operations (Note 5)
Earnings from discontinued operations 5,713 - 2,696
Net income 63,119 49,366 80,598
Cash Dividends Per Share $0.27 $0.23 $0.19
Earnings Per Share
Income from continuing operations - basic $1.67 $1.53 $2.25
Income from continuing operations - diluted $1.66 $1.52 $2.21
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations - basic & diluted $0.17 - $0.08
Net income — basic $1.84 $1.83 $2.33
Net income — diluted $1.83 $1.52 $2.2¢
Average shares outstanding - basic 34,380,070 32,280,614  34,529,86¢
Average shares outstanding - diluted 34,532,570 32,583,528 35,216,957

{Prior year resuits have been reclassified to conform to current year prasentation)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial staternents.

eraanseennFLORIDR EAST COAST IMOUSTRIES..........2886 FORM 18-K...coeieaiineeannnaneness5l




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 8) 5,096 75,990
Restricted cash {(Note 8) 424 -
Accounts receivable (net) 41,501 35,732
Accounts receivable from related parties (Note 3) 5,381 -
Materials and supplies 5,145 3,840
Assets held for sale (Note 7) 2,820 9,761
Deferred income taxes 2,166 1,345
Prepaid expenses 11,578 6,727
Straight line rent 4,929 4,429

Total Current Assets 79,040 137,824

Long Term Assets:
Properties, less accumulated depreciation and amortization (Note 7) 1,179,641 955,395
Investment in unconsolidated real estate joint ventures {Note 6} 42,262 -
Goodwill (Note 4) 37,003 -
Intangible assets, less amortization {Note 4) 18,448 9,686
Prepaid commissions 14,033 11,486
Straight line rent 19,715 17,717
Other assets 4,684 5,626

Total Long Term Assets 1,315,786 999,920
Total Assets 1,394,826 1,137,744

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 73,794 48,544
Taxes payable {Note 9) 2,037 2,044
Deferred revenue 10,215 5,627
Short-term debt (Note 17) 5,519 5,198
Other accrued liabilities 14,586 6,819
Total Current Liabilities 106,151 68,132
Deferred Income Taxes {Note 9) 205,365 187.241
Long-Term Debt (net of current portion) {Note 17) 328,638 332,760
Other Long-Term Liabilities 35,865 11,449
Minority Interest in Joint Ventures (Note 8) 5,571 -
Shareholders’ Equity
Commion Stock: (Notes 3 and 13) 175,433 140,958

Common stock, no par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized, 39,944,902 shares
issued and 35,717,854 shares outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 39,487,258
shares issued and 32,983,135 shares outstanding at December 31, 2005. 2006
amount shown net of un-amortized {expected weighted-average amortization period
of 3.2 years) restricted stock deferred compensation of $21,355.
Restricted stock deferred compensation (Note 13) - (10,880)
Retained earnings (Note 14) 672,826 615,656
Treasury stock at cost (4,227,048 shares at December 31, 2006 and 6,504,123
shares at December 31, 2005. December 31, 2006 treasury stock includes

1,012,766 contingent shares) (Note 2) (135,023) (207 ,592)
Total Shareholders” Equity 713,236 538,162
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 1,394,826 1,137,744

{Prior year amounts have been reciassified to conform to current year presentation)
Ses accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
AND GOMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Restricted
Stock
Commen Stock Deferred Treasury Stock Retained

(doflars in thousands, except share amounts) Shares Amount  Compensation  Shares Amount Earnings Total
Balance at December 31, 2003 37,701,406 77,784 {4,592 (984,002) (14,767) 499,708 558,133
Net income & comprehensive income - - - - - 80,528 80,598
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 5,569 163 - - - - 163
Dividends declared on common

stock ($0.19) per share - - - - - (6,498) {6,498)
Issuance of stock under executive

compensation plan 36,407 1,276 - (59,769) (2,296) - (1,020
Trust Shares repurchased - - - (5,500,000) (191,126) - {191,126
Exercige of stock options including

income tax benefit 708,975 23,026 - - - - 23,026
Restricted stock purchased/granted,

net of amortization & forfeitures 101,138 3,715 (1,956} (2,756) {109) - 1,850
Balance at December 31, 2004 38,553,495 105,964 (6,548) (6,546,527) (208,298) 573,808 464,926
Net income & comprehensive income - - - - - 49,366 49,366
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 6,399 228 - - - - 228
Dividends declared on common stock

($0.23} per share - - - - - {7.518) (7,518)
Issuance of stock under executive

compensation plan 22,106 2,720 - 105,500 3,357 - 8,077
Shares purchased under stock

repurchase program - - - (54,500) (2,289} - (2,289)
Exercise of stock options including

income tax benefit 766,714 26,855 - - - - 26,855
Restricted stock granted/purchased,

net of amortization & forfeitures 138,544 5,191 (4,312) (8,596) (362) - 517
Balance at December 31, 2005 39,487,258 140,958  (10,860) (6,504,123) (207,592) 615656 538,162

Cumulative effect of adjustments

resulting from the adoption of

SAB No. 108, net of tax (Note 14) - - - - - 3,540 3,540
Adjusted Balance at December 31,2005 39,487,258 140,958 (10,860) (6,504,123) (207,592) 619,196 541,702
Net incorme & comprehensive income - - - - - 63,119 63,119
Reclassification of restricted stock

deferred compensation due to

FAS 123R implementation {Note 13) - (10,860) 10,860 - - - -
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 9,581 469 - - - - 4€9
Dividends declared on common stock

{$0.27) per share - - - -
Issuance of stock under executive

{9,489) (9,4E9)

compensation plan 1,686 95 - - - - 85
| Shares issued for Codina acquisition
including contingent shares - 34,515 - 1,998,924 57,290 - 91,805
| Exercise of stock options including
income tax benefit and amortization 340,825 13,340 - - - - 13,340
Restricted stock granted/purchased,
net of amortization & forfeitures 105,552 {3,084) - 277,151 15,279 - 12,195
Balance at December 31, 2006 39,944,902 175,433 - (4,227,048) (135,023) 672,826 713,236

(Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Years Ended December 31

' (doflars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income 63,119 49,366 80,598

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash generated
by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 59,658 55,477 48,769
Gain on involuntary conversion, due to Hurricane Wilma (1,913) - -
Gain on disposition of properties, including those discontinued {30,113) (25,351) {93,265)
Tax benefit associated with equity based compensation - 5,261 4,058
Deferred taxes 8,019 7,438 48,052
Stock compensation expense (Note 13) 12,667 9,900 4,819
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses (5,748) (2,012 206
Materials and supplies {1,305) (2,018) 219
Straight line rent (2,498) (6,488) {5,604)
Prepaid commissions (7,307} (5,448) (1.172)
Other assets and deferred charges 2,877 (2G1) (8,224)
Accounts payable {1,700) 1,194 17,356
Taxes payable {2,246) 2,201 (8,335)
Income tax refund - 2,800 -
Other current liahilities 11,207 (2,915) (7,494)
Other long-term liabilities (402) (1,013) 1,648
Net cash generated by operating activities 106,591 84,894 72,255

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of properties and equipment,

net of accrued capital expenditures of $8,576 in 2006 (144,329) {174,752) (111,551)
Acquisition of Codina Group Inc. and related interests, net of cash acquired (65,844) - -
Investment in unconsolidated real estate joint ventures (14,403) - -
Distributions from unconsolidated joint ventures 2,840 - -
Decrease in restricted cash 1,382 - -
Proceeds from hurricane related insurance settlement 3,343 - -
Proceeds from disposition of assets, including those discontinued 71,271 35,202 121,537

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (145,740) (139,550) 9,986
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Borrowings from long term debt {Note 17) 389 - 105,000
Payment of mortgage debt (5,199) {4,896) (3,289
Payment of acquired debt {30,117) - -
Payment of dividends (9,489) {7,518) (6,498}
Proceeds from exercise of options 10,550 21,594 16,674
Tax henefit associated with equity based compensation 3,213 - -
Stock repurchase program payments (Note 17} - {2,289) (191,126)
Purchase of common stock (2,447) 2,411) {1,893)
Investment by minority interest 1,355 - -
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (31,745) 4,480 (81,132
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (70,894) (50,176) 1,109
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 75,990 126,166 125,067
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 5,096 75,990 126,166
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for income taxes {net of refunds} 22,719 11,500 4,700
Cash paid for interest 22,825 22,320 19,252

(Prior year resuits have been reclassified to conformn to current year presentation)
See accompanying nctes to consolidated financial statements.
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Accounts receivable 2276 (3,297) (8,836)
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Supplemental Schedule on Non-Cash Investing
and Financing Activities

The Company purchased Codina and related interests for
combined equity and cash consideration of $147.9 million.
In conjunction with the acquisition, liabilities were assumed
as follows:

{dollars in thousands)

Fair value of assets acquired 246,193
Acquisition transaction costs 5,656
Equity issued for initial consideration (76,412)
Cash paid for acquired Company!™ (71,501)
Liabilities assumed 103,936
(1) Recongciliation to Statements of Cash Flows

Cash paid for acquired Company 71,501

Less cash acquired 4,125)

Less transaction costs paid in 2005 (1,532)

Acquisition of Codina Group, Inc. per

Statements of Cash Flows 65,844

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Note 1. Nature of Business

The principal operations of Florida East Coast industries, Inc.
(the Company or FECI) and its subsidiaries primarily relate to
the transportation of goods by rail and the acquisition, entitle-
ment, development, management, construction, leasing,
operation and selected sale of real estate. The Company’s rail
subsidiary, Florida East Coast Railway, LLC {FECR or
Railway), operates primarily within the state of Florida, with
approximately 61% of its revenues derived from local moves
along the Company’s line. Approximately 41% of the freight
revenues were derived from five of its largest customers, with
approximately $49.8 million, $45.3 million and $38.7 million,
20%, 20%, and 21%, in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively,
generated by one significant customer. The Company's realty
subsidiary, Flagler Development Group {Flagler), presently
operates in Florida with business parks in Jacksonville,
Orlando and the South Florida markets. Fiagler's operating
properties are Class "A” office space and high-quality com-
mercial/industrial facilities. In addition, Flagler provides con-
struction, development, third party property management and
brokerage services.

Note 2. Acquisition of Codina Group
and Related Interests

On Apnil 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held Codina
Group, Inc. (Ceding) and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina. The initial consid-
eration included $66 million of cash for certain property interests,
assumption or repayment of $31 million of debt and the issuance
of 1,713,431 shares at $44.60 per share, as valued at the date
of the acquisition anncuncement, to Mr. Codina and 288,518
shares {as further described in Note 13) at an average price of
$54.90 per share, as valued at the grant date, to certain Codina
employees. In addition, Mr. Codina may receive additional con-
tingent consideration based upon achievement of certain velue-
based milestcnes. These milestones include 706,581 shares
tied to cartain land use approvals, $29.2 milion upon certain
partnership distributions from a joint venture, 471,055 shares
based on cumulative FECI stock price improvements of up to
an additional $27.00 per share over the next five years; and
117,763 shares is dependent on the Company agreeing to
move forward with a proposed residential development. All
equity related to the Codina acquisition has been issued from
the Company’s treasury stock. The purchase price is subject to
post-closing adjustments based on certain closing conditions
and upen the common stock price on the date when certain
of the contingencies are satisfied. An escrow agent holds the
contingent equity. In the second and fourth quarters of 2006,
certain contingencies related to FECI stock price improverments
were satisfied and 282,633 shares, together with applicable
dividends, were released to Mr. Codina. An additional 3,860
shares were issued in the fourth quanter of 2006 based on a
working capital adjustment.

The acquisition strengthened the Company’s position as a
landowner and commercial developer in the state of Florida
with a strong presence in the South Florida, Crlando and
Jacksonville markets. Headguartered in Coral Gables, Florida,
Codina Group, In¢. is an integrated commercial real estate,
development, construction, leasing, property management and
brokerage firm with approximatety 150 employees. Through its
development activities, Codina manages pre-development site
selection, government interface, feasibility analysis, the archi-
tectural and design phases, engineering process and con-
struction coordination. Codina’s construction group provides
general contractor services for commercial projects for both
domestic and international clients. The brokerage group proj-
ect services include leasing and sales, representation for ten-
ants and landlords, and consutting services. The realty
management group provides commercial property manage-
ment and financial reporting services. The Codina Group has
constructed over 11 million sq. ft. of industrial, office and retail
property, developed over 1,760 acres of land, and cumrently
manages more than 11 million sq. ft. of property.
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In addition to Codina Group, the transaction included the fol-
lowing projects under current and future development in
South Florida:

100% Owned

» Beacon Countyline, 497 acres in Hialeah; future plans are
for the creation of a large industrial and office park.

* Beacon Commons, 92 acres in Doral, future site of a retail,
office and residential development.

* Sevilla Office Building, a 45,000 sq. ft. office building cur-
rently under construction.

Joint Ventures

¢ Beacon Lakes, a 480-acre industrial park, including five
industrial buildings and entitiements for an additional 6.0
million sq. ft. in West Dade. The Company owns a 21.2%
interest in a venture with an affiliate of AMB Properties that
owns the Beacon Lakes development, except for the 57
acres described herein. Within the Beacon Lakes develop-
ment is included a 120-unit warehouse condominium proj-
ect on 57 acres known as Beacon Village. Beacen Village
is owned by Beacon Village, LLC, which is owned 50% by
the Company and 50% by an affiiate of AMB Properties.

* Red Road Commons, a proposed 50% interest in a venture
with an affifiate of Fairfield Properties, Inc. to build 407-unit
residential apartments on land to be leased in South Miami.

* Downtown Doral (formerly Beacon City Center), a venture
with an affiliate of JPMorgan that holds an exclusive option
to acquire and redevelop a 77-acre property in Dorat for
residential and commercial uses.

¢ Burger King, which when acquired, was a proposed 30%
interest in a venture with an affiliate of JPMorgan to acquire
land and construct a 15-story, 248,000 sq. ft. buiding for
Burger King’s corporate headquarters. JPMorgan and the
Company entered into the venture agreement in January 2007.

The Company used existing cash, including cash held in
§1031 escrow funds, to satisfy the cash and debt repayment
needs of closing the acquisition.

Purchase Price Allocations: The acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (SFAS 141). The purchase price
allocation could change as additional information becomes
available, as estimates are refined or as additional events occur
including the resolution of certain contingent consideration.
The following table presents the preliminary allocation of the
aggregate purchase price for the acquisition based on the
estimated fair values as of Apnil 27, 2006, the acquisition date:

(dollars in thousands) April 27, 2006
Cash 4,125
Qther current assets 16,576
Property and eguipment, net 161,116
Goodwill 21,784
Intangible assets 11,600
Investments in icint ventures 30,699

Other assets 293

Assets acquired 246,193
Current liabilities 25,731
Acquired debt 30,117
Other jong-term debt 1,009
Deferred tax liabilities 18,663
Other liabilities 24,200
Minority interest 4,216

Liabilities assumed 103,936

Net assets acquired 142,257

The operations of Codina Group, Inc. and the related property
interests acquired are included in the Consclidated Statements
of Incorme since the April 27, 2006 acquisition date.

During 20086, goodwill was increased by $15.2 million for
contingent shares issued during the year to Mr. Codina as
contingent factors were met. The balance of goodwill at
December 31, 2006 is $37.0 million.

The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed was allocated to
goodwill. Intangible assets acquired, of approximately $11.6
million, consist of $10.8 million attributed to customer rela-
tionships in place on the acquisition date and $0.8 million
related to Armando Codina's three-year non-compete agree-
ment. This non-compete agreement runs for three years after
Mr. Codina’s employment with the Company ends. The cus-
tomer relationships are being amortized over 7 years and the
non-compete agreement over 3 years, for a weighted aver-
age life of 6.7 years.

Pro Forma Financial Information: The following table sets
forth the un-audited pro forma results of operations of the
Company for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The un-audited pro forma financial information
summarizes the results of operations for the periods indicated
as if the Codina acquisition had occurred at the beginning of
each of the periods presented. The pro forma results are not
necessarily indicative of what actually would have occurred
had the acquisition been in effect for the pericds presented.
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dotars in thousands, Years Ended December 31

except per share amounts} 2006 2005
Revenue 482,124 435,053
Net income 61,802 43,218
Earnings per share:
Basic $1.80 $1.27
Diluted $1.79 $1.26

The pro forma amounts above reflect the elimination of all inter-
company transactions between Flagler Development Group
and Codina Group Inc., assuming the acquisition occurred as
of January 1, 2005. Amortization of intangible assets acquired
and restricted stock has been included in the above amounts.
It is assumed, for alt periods presented, that $30.1 million of
debt has been repaid and related interest reversed. The pre
forma net earnings above reflect an income tax provision af the
Company's consalidated tax rate for each respective period.

Note 3. Related Party Transactions

The Company provides development, construction, real
estate management and brokerage services to several
unconsolidated reat estate entities in which the Company
has a financial interest and for which it receives development,
construction, property management and brokerage fee
revenue and has $5.4 millien of related party accounts
receivable at Decernber 31, 2008. From these entities the
Company received fees of $15.3 million and had associated
expenses of $13.2 million from the acquisition date of April 27,
2006 through December 31, 2006. These fees and related
expenses, after elimination of the Company’s ownership
share, are included in realty rental and services revenue
and expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

As part of the Codina acquisition as described in Note 2,
the Company acquired an interest in a partnership with

Mr. Codina and his children. The partnership holds a 50.1%
interest in a venture that holds options to acquire real
property (see Note 6).

On August 13, 2004, the Company purchased 5.5 milion shares
of common stock from The Alfred |. duPont Testamentary Trust
and The Nemours Foundation for $34.50 per share or approxi-
mately $191 million. These repurchased shares are now shown
on the consolidated balance sheets as treasury stock. This
transaction exhausted the rernaining $72 million that existed
under the previous $75 million stock repurchase authonization.
As aresutt, on August 4, 2004, the Board of Directors authorized
the expenditure of $40 million to repurchase common stock
from time to time through a program of open market purchases
and/cr privately negotiated transactions.

Note 4. Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include
the accounts of the Company and its’ whally owned subsid-
iaries and partnerships, certain joint venture partnerships and
any variable interest entities consolidated under FIN 48R, as
described below. All significant inter-company balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company assesses consolidation of variable interest enti-
ties under the guidance of FASB Interpretation No. 46,
"Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46), an
Interpretation of ARB No. 51 as revised in December 2003
(FIN 486R}. The Company accounts for joint venture entities
and subsidiary partnerships in accordance with Emerging
Issues Task Force Abstracts (EITF) lssue No. G4-5, “Determining
Whether a General Fartner, or the General Partners as a
Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When
the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights.” Under EITF Issue
No. 04-5, the general partner in a limited partnership is pre-
sumed to control that limited partnership, unless that pre-
sumption is overcome by the limited partners having either:

(i) the substantive ability, sither by a single limited partner or
through a simple majority vote, to dissolve the fimited partner-
ship or otherwise remove the general partner without causie,
or (i) substantive participating rights.

Revenue Recognition
Railway Revenues: Rail revenue is recognized as freight
moves from origin to destination.

Realty Land Sales: Revenue is recognized in accordance
with Staterment of Financial Accounting Standard No. 66,
“Accounting for Sales of Real Estate”, (SFAS 66) upen closing
of sales contracts for sale of land or upon settlement of legal
proceedings such as condemnations.

Realty Rental Income: Revenue is recognized upen com-
mencement of rental and lease contracts. The Company uses
the straight-line method for recording rental revenues over the
life of the lease contracts, which contain rent escalations or
free rent periods.

Construction Contracts: The Company recognizes profits on
the percentage-of-completion contract method by multiplying
a percentage (costs incurred to date divided by total estimated
costs) by estimated profit {contract price of job minus total esti-
mated costs) otherwise known as the cost-to-cost methodl.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded by management
based upon the Company’s various businesses’ historical expe-
rience of bad debts to sales, analysis of accounts receivable
aging, and specific identification of customers in financial dis-
tress; i.e., bankruptcy, poor payment record, etc. The consoli-
dated bad debt reserve was approximatety $2.6 milion and
$2.2 milion at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Materials and Supplies

New materials and supplies are stated principally at average
cost which is not in excess of replacement cost. Used materials
are stated at an amount, which does not exceed estimated
realizable value.

Properties

Railway properties are stated at historical cost and are
depreciated and amaortized on the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives. The Railway uses the mass asset
method of accounting for fixed assets. The majority of road
properties’ depreciation is based on lives ranging from 10 to
50 years, and equipment properties on lives varying from

3 1o 50 years. Gains and losses on normal retirements of these
items are credited or charged to accumulated Gepreciation.

During 2003, FECR commenced an "engineering and econom-
ics” based study of its principal right-of-way and equipment
assets to develop a multi-year maintenance and replacement
plan and associated estimates of the assets’ remaining lives.
The engineering studies segregated the equipment and right-
of-way assets into the following major groupings: locomatives,
rolling stock and equipment {e.g., hoppers, flatcars, auto racks,
trailers, etc.), bridges, and track structure (rail, ties, ballast, and
other track material). These studies were finalized in the follow-
ing periods: locomotives and rolling stock — second half of
2004; bridges — first quarter of 2005; and track structure —
fourth quarter of 2005.

The locormotive and rofing stock studies indicated no substantive
changes in the annual maintenance or capital replacement pro-
grams. The bridge study indicated no substantive changs in the
depreciable lives and generally, bridges would continue to be
depreciated over a 61.5-year life. The bridge study also indicated
that while FECR's bridge assets are in acceptable cperational
condition based on the Company's continuing mainteriance and
inspection programs, FECR is entering a 10 to 20 year period
where, based on the age and construction materials used, certain
bridges will be studied further, monitored and possibly replaced.
The management team does not expect replacement costs for
bridges to materially alter its normative annual capital budget,
however this estimate is subject to change, and such changes
could be material. Overall, the study indicated the track system to
he in good condition. The change in depraciable lives as a result
of the life study is expected to increase annual depreciation by
approximatsty $0.7 million.

Real estate properties are stated at historical cost.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over
estimated asset lives of 15 years for land improvements and
12 to 40 years for buildings and building improvements.
Tenant improvements are generally depreciated over the term
(1 to 15 years) of the related lease agreement for financial
reporting purposes. Financial assets and intangible assets
associated with real estate acquisitions are generally amor-
tized over the remaining life of the underlying leases.
Intangible assets acquired in the Codina transaction, of
approximately $11.6 million, consist of $10.8 million attrib-
uted to customer relationships in place on the acquisition
date and $0.8 million related to Armando Codina’s three-year
non-compete agreement. This non-compete agreement runs
for three years after Mr. Codina’s employment with the
Company ends. The customer relationships are being amor-
tized over 7 years and the non-compete agreement over 3
years, for a weighted average life of 6.7 years. Amortization
related to intangible assets for each year 2007 through 2011
is $3.4 million, $3.3 million, $2.6 million, $2.6 million and
$2.5 million, respectively and $4.0 million thereafter.

The Company reviews property, plant and equipment for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may nct be recoverable.
Recoverability is measured by comparison of the carrying
amount to the undiscounted net cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset.

The Company capitalizes interest during the construction of
new facilities (e.9., buildings) and it is amortized over the life of
the asset. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, $2.4 milicn, $2.7 mil-
lion and $3.5 million, respectively, of interest was capitalized.

At December 31, 2006, Flagler had 23 acres under contract,
which are expected to sell during 2007. The carrying value of
this acreage is classified as assets held for sale on the
December 31, 2006 consolidated balance sheet.

Earnings Per Share

The diluted weighted-average number of shares includes the
net shares that would be issued upon the exercise of “in-the-
money” stock options, and vesting of dilutive unvested
restricted stock and contingent shares, using the treasury
stock method. Applying the treasury stock method, the “in-
the-money” stock options resulted in the dilution of 152,500
shares, 302,914 shares, and 687,088 shares for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
“Out-of-the-money" stock options, unvested restricted stock
and contingent shares that became issuable during the
period were 202,016 shares, 313,573 shares and 767,940
shares for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.
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In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 128, "Earnings per Share” (SFAS 128), contingent
shares are excluded from the calculation of both basic and
diluted earnings per share until such time that all conditions of
the contingency have been satisfied. Once the contingent
conditions have been met and the shares become issuable,
the contingent shares are included in the calculation of basic
earnings per share and contingent shares are included in
diluted earnings per share at the beginning of the period in
which they became issuable.

As part of the Codina acquisition, 1,295,399 shares of treasury
stock were identified as contingent shares. These shares earn
dividends but continue to be included in treasury stock on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet until such time as the shares
become issuable. During the second and fourth quarters of
2006 certain contingencies relaied to FECI stock price
improvements were satisfied and 282,633 shares, together
with applicable dividends, were released.

The effect of adopting S8FAS 123R did not have a materiat
affect on the diluted number of shares used in the treasury
stock method.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
For purposes of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand, bank demand accounts, money
market accounts and overnight repurchase agreements
having original maturities of less than three months.

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2006 consisted
of $1.4 million of property sale proceeds held in escrow for
possible tax deferred reinvestment in other property and
$3.7 million of funds on hand and invested in money market
funds or short-term securities.

Restricted cash at December 31, 2006 was $0.4 million.
This included $0.2 million held in escrow for the Gables
Office Building Project and $0.2 million for dividend distri-
butions on contingent shares held in escrow.

Income Taxes

The Company follows the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes in accordance with Statement -
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes” (SFAS 103). Under SFAS 109, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax conse-
quences attributable to differences between the financiat state-
ment carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilittes and
their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differ-
ences are expected to be recovered or settled. Under SFAS 109,
the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes

the enactment date. Future tax benefits, such as net operating
loss carry forwards and aliernative minimum tax credit carry
forwards, are recognized to the extent that realization of these
benefits is considered to be more likely than not.

Real Estate Infrastructure Costs

The Company periodically constructs road, road structures
and general infrastructure related to the development of
commercial real estate, Certain of these infrastructure assets
may be deeded to applicable governmental authorities. The
Company believes these deeded items (e.g., roads) bensfit
and increase the value of the parcels within and adjacent to the
related commercial real estate developments. The Company
capitalizes all infrastructure costs (including costs of infrastruc-
ture assets deeded to governmental authorities) into the basis
of its commercial real estate developments, and alocates
these costs to the individual parcels within the park on a rela-
tive fair value basis in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 67, "Accounting for Costs and Iniial
Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects” (SFAS 67).

In connection with infrastructure assets constructed by the
Company and deeded o governmental authorities, certain
governmental authorities may agree to reimburse the
Company certain of its construction costs for the deeded
assets based on and to the extent of annual incremental
taxes {such as property taxes) as may be collected by the
governmental authority from the applicable properties over a
stipulated period of time. Prior to and at the date of deeding
the infrastructure assst to the governmental authority, any
current reimbursements were accounted for as a reduction
in the allocated costs described abovs to the extent the
Company’s recsipt of such reimbursements had become
fixed and determinable, based upon the related incremental
taxes having been assessed and being, therefore, payable.
The Company daes not recognize expected future tax reim-
bursements even though they may be probable and estima-
ble, until they become fixed and determinable,

Under a current agreement with the City of Jacksonville and
the Florida Department of Transportation (FOOT), Flagler
constructed and deeded to the FDOT an interchange asset in
the third quarter of 2004, During 2004, prior to completion of
the interchange asset, Flagler received $2.1 million that was
applied as a reduction in the basis of the assst. In June 2005,
Flagler received its first “post interchange transfer” reimburse-
ment from the City of Jacksonville for $0.7 million, of which
$0.5 million was applied against depreciation expense on Infra-
structure assets. The remaining $0.2 million of the reimbursa-
ment was recorded as other non-operating income. in June
2008, Flagler recorded its second “post interchange transfer”
reimbursement from the City of Jacksonville for $1.0 million,
of which $0.7 million was applied against depreciation expensa
on infrastructure assets. The remaining $0.3 million of the
reimbursement was recorded as other non-operating income.
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These reimbursements received after the completion of the infra-
structure asset were allocated between operating and non-oper-
ating activities based on the relative assessed value of property
within Flagler Center, owned by Flagler versus that sold to out-
side parties. Future reimbursements will be treated similarty.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount
of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Natural Disaster Costs

The Florida East Coast Railway, LLC suspended service early
Sunday, October 23, 2005, in anticipation of the arrival of
Hurricane Wilma. Rail service was disrupted for approximately
two weeks due to widespread power outages that prevented
automatic grade crossing warning systems and railroad sig-
nals from operating. All scheduled rail service resumed on
November 7, 2005 after all sections of track power was
restored and all rail crossings passed inspection.

The Railway (Railway segment) incurred approximately $3.6 mil-
lior of total hurricane costs related to clean-up costs, property
damage, grade crossing operations, support and additional
train crew costs as a result of trains operating at reduced speeds
for hurricanes experienced in 2005. The Railway estimates that it
will incur an additional $0.1 million incremental hurricane costs

2005 and 2006 Hurricane Cost and Recovery Summary

(dollars in thousands)

Total Estimated
Cost and (Recovery}

which are expected to be covered by insurance. The Railway
received $5.9 milion in insurance claim recoveries during 2006
related to utility service interruption ($3.7 million) and recovery of
physical damage and extra expense incurred ($2.2 million). The
Company also received an insurance recovery of $0.2 million in
2006 for Railway real estate asset physical damage and extra
expense incurred refated to the 2005 humricanes.

Several of Flagler Development Group's buildings located in
Flagler Station sustained damage from Hurricane Wilma, pn-
marily roofs and landscaping. The total damage {cash outlays)
was $7.5 million, of which approximately $3.9 million has been
recovered from insurance to offset expenses and to replace
damaged assets. Approximately $0.7 million is expected to be
recovered from tenants. There was additional damage due to
Hurricane Katrina that was less than $0.1 million.

The American Institute of CPAs (AICPA) issued Technical Practice
Aide (TPA} §5400.05 in September 2005, which provides guid-
ance on the accounting treatment of natural disaster refated
costs. TPA §5400.05 does not dlow recognition of a natural
disaster related cost until such time that the cost is a legal obliga-
tion of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has recorded
those costs where a legal obligation was present at December 31,
2006 and December 31, 2005. However, in an effort to provide a
more complete accounting for the cost of the hurmcane damages,
management provides the table below. This table reflects the total
estimated cost and expected recoveries related to the humicane
darnage. The table also shows costs and recoveries reflected on
the operating results and capital accounts for the year ended
2006 and since the hurricanes affected the Company.

Cost (Recovery)
recognized
since inception

Cost (Recovery)
recognized in 2006

Railway

Operating expenses (Hurricane Costs) 3,696 890 3,596
Hurricane recoveries (net)?) (997} (380) (997}
Insurance recovery — Physical damage and extra expenses {2,302 {2,202) (2,202
Utility service interruption insurance settlement (3,732) {3.732) (3,732)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses (3,335) {5,324) (3,335)
Railway Realty Rental
Operating expenses {Hurricane Costs) 461 177 461
Insurance recovery — Physical damage (195) (195) (195)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses 266 (18) 266
Flagler
Flagler CAM recoveries associated with Hurricane (680} (337) (680)
Capital expenditures (Properties} 6,060 5,781 6,060
Operating expenses (Hurricane Costs) 1,418 646 1,418
Asset write-off due to replacement@ 1,837 1,750 1,937
Insurance proceeds (3.862) (3.862) (3,862)
Hurricane recoveries, net of expenses (507) {1,466) (507)

(1) Hurricane recoveries (nat) represent amoeunts recovered from various municipalities located along the Railway's right-of-way and other governmental
authorities for reimbursement for operation of rail crossings during the outage and for related repairs of those crossings.

(2) Represents assets {primarily rocis) most of which have been replaced during 2006 and their related write-o!f of remaining net book valua.
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Allocation of Acquisition Costs

The Company utilizes Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 141, “Business Combinations” (SFAS 141} to
account for the costs of acquiring businesses and buildings.
This statement provides a framework for allocating the costs
of acquisition to tangible assets, financial assets and sepa-
rately identifiable intangible assets, less acquired liabilities,
using the purchase method of accounting.

On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina. As the result of
this acquisition, the Company paid $66 million in cash to
Mr. Codina for certain property interests, repaid $31 million
of debt assumed in the acquisition, issued 288,518 shares
of stock to certain Codina Group employees and issued
3,008,830 shares of stock, of which 1,996,064 shares were
issued to Mr. Codina (includes 282,633 shares of contingent
consideration earned during the second and fourth quarters
2006) and the balance held in escrow awaiting the satisfac-
tion of certain contingencies. The majority {$100.0 million) of
acquisition costs were allocated to various tangible assets
and fiabilities (including cash, accounts receivable, land,
investments in joint ventures, accounts payable, accrued
expenses, landfill closure liability, debt and deferred tax
liabilities). Costs of $11.6 million were allocated to intangible
assets (e.q., customer relationships and non-compete) with
the remaining $21.8 million allocated to goodwill.

Joint Ventures

The Company assesses consolidation of variable interast enti-
ties under the guidance of Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” (FIN 486), an Interpretation of ARB No. 51 as
revised in December 2003 (FIN 46R). The Company accounts
for joint venture entitiss and subsidiary partnerships in accor-
dance with Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts (EITF) Issue
No. 04-5, “Determining Whether a General Partner, or the
General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership
or Simiar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain
Rights.” Under EITF Issue No. 04-5, the general partner in a
limited partnership is presumed to control that limited partner-
ship, unless that presumption is overcome by the limited part-
ners having either: {i) the substantive ability, either by a single
limited partner or through a simple majority vote, to dissalve
the limited partnership or otherwise remove the general part-
ner without cause; or (i) substantive participating rights.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews the carrying vatue of its property, plant
and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the camrying value of an asset or asset
grouping may not be recoverable from the undiscounted future
net cash flows expected to be generated over its remaining

useful iife. Detecting these events or changes in circumstances
can be difficult. At December 31, 2006, management had riot
identified indicators of an impairment of value for any significant
asset group of the Company. However, events or changes in
circumstances could develop or occur that would cause the
Company 1o evaluate the recovery of its long-lived assets and
potentially record an impairment, the amount of which could
be material. Assets that are deemed impaired are recorded at
the lower of carrying amount or fair value,

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related
costs over the value assigned to the net tangible value of
assets acquired. Under the guidance of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” (SFAS 142), the Company reviews the recoverability of
goodwill on an annual basis. The measurement of possible
impaiment is based primarily on the ability to recover the balance
of the goodwill from expected future operating cash flows on an
undiscounted basis. In management’s opinion, no impairment
exists at December 31, 2006.

Cost Capitalization

The Company capitalizes costs during the development and
construction of owned assets (including interest, property taxes
and other direct and indirect costs) beginning when develop-
ment commences until the asset, or a portion of the asset, is
delivered and is ready for its intended use, which is generally
indicated by the issuance of a certificate of occupancy.

The Company capitalizes pre-development costs incurred in
pursuit of future development projects that are deermed prob-
able. These costs include legal fees, survey fees and related
overhead costs. Pre-development costs incurred in the pur-
suit of projects for which future development is not yet con-
sidered probable are expensed as incurred. In addition, if the
status of a future development project changes, making
future development no longer probable, any capitalized pre-
development costs are written-off with a charge to expenise.

Contingencies

It is the Company’s policy to reserve for certain contingencies
consisting primarily of various claims and lawsuits resulting
from its operations. In the opinion of management, appropri-
ate reserves have been made for the estimated liability that
is probable of resuiting from disposition of such matters.
Management's opinion and ultimately the reserve recorded
in the financial statements are based on known facts and
circumstances. In certain circumstances, management uses
the services of outside counsel to help evaluate the facts and
circumstances and considers their professional judgment in
establishing the appropriate reserve. The ultimate resolution
of these contingencies may be for an amount greater or lass
than the amount estimated by management.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2008, the Company accounted for stock
options and other equity-based compensation using the
intrinsic-value-based method of accounting prescribed by
Accounting Principes Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employess” (APB Opinion No, 25), and
refated interpretations. Effective January 1, 20086, the Company
adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards Statement No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123), as
amended in 2004 by FASB Statement 123R “Share-Based
Payment” (SFAS 123R) for fiscal years beginning after June
15, 2005. The Company uses the modified prospective
approach in its adoption and transition to SFAS 123R.
Statement 123R generally requires that an entity account for
equity-based compensation costs and transactions using the
fair-value-based method, and eliminates an entity's ability to
account for share-based compensation transactions using
the intrinsic-value method of accounting in APB Opinion No.
25, which was permitted under SFAS 123, as originally
issued. The adoption of this standard has not materially
affected the financial statements of the Company.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
{SFAS 123), to stock-based employee compensation for all
years presented:

(dolars in thousands Years Ended December 31

except per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004
Net income — as reported 63,119 49366 80,598
Stock-based compensation

expense included in

reported income for all

stock option awards

(net of related tax effects) 22 - -
Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation

expense determined under

the fair value based method

for all stock option awards

{net of related tax effects) {22) (342) {785)
Pro forma net income 63,119 49,024 79813
Earnings per share:

Basic - as reported $1.84 $1.53 $2.33

Basic — pro forma $1.84 $1.52 $2.31

Diluted - as reported $1.83 $1.52 $2.29

Diluted - pro forma $1.83 $1.50 $2.27

Additionally, the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directars award grants of restricted stock to the executive
management tearn and other members of management.
Grants of restricted stock were 435,322 shares, 291,791
shares and 151,269 shares in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively. Cormpensation expensa is recognized pro rata over the
vesting period based on the market price of the stock at the
time of grant. In connection with the Codina acquisition, the
Company granted 288,518 shares of restricted stock to
certain Codina employees who became employees of the
Company on the acquisition date, April 27, 2006. The restricted
stock granted will vest 256% after one year, and the remaining
75% will vest three years from the date of the grant. Total
compensation expense for the 2006, 2005 and 2004 restricted
stock grants, if fully vested over their refated vesting pericd,
would be $23.1 milion, $12.4 million and $5,5 million, respec-
tively. The increase in 2005 compensation expense relates to
restricted stock granted to Mr. Adolfo Menrigues at the time of
his appointrnent as Chairman, President, and Chief Executive
Officer, retention grants awarded to the officers of the Company
during the first quarter 2005, and the year-over-year increase
in costs associated with grants from the stock incentive plan.
The increase in 20086 resulted primarily from the compensation
expense of restricted stock granted to employess of the
Codina Group in connection with the acquisition.

Comprehensive income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income” {SFAS 130} establishes
standards for reporting and presentation of comprehensive
income and its components in a full set of financial statements.
For the years presented, the Company’s comprehensive
income equaled net income. SFAS 130 requires only additional
disciosures in the consolidated financial staterments. It does not
affect the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Reclassification
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2006, the FASE issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), which
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recog-
nized in an enterprise’s financial staterments in accordance with
FASB Statement No, 108, “Accounting for Income Taxes”
(SFAS 109). This interpretation prescribes a recognition thresh-
old and measurement attribute for the financial statement rec-
ognition and measurarment of a tax position taken, or expected
to be taken, in a tax return. The Company will be required to
apply FIN 48 with its fiscal year beginning January 1, 2007,
The Company has not yet completed its analysis, however, the
Company does not expect the implementation of FIN 48 to
have a material effect on the financial statements.
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in September 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements”
(SFAS 157), which defines fair value, establishes a framework
for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. The Company will be required to apply
SFAS 157 with its fiscal year beginning January 1, 2008.
The adoption of SFAS 157 is not expected to materially
affect the financial statements of the Company,

Note 5. Discontinued Operations

In accordance with Statemments of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets” {SFAS 144), components of Flagler that
meet certain criteria have been accounted for as discontinued
operations. Therefore, income or loss attributable to the oper-
ations and sale of the components classifted as discontinued
operations are presented in the statement of income as dis-
continued operations, net of applicable income taxes.

Discontinued operations for Flagler for 2004 include the gains
on the sales and the related operations of an office building
and an industrial building.

Years Ended December 31
{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Summary of Flagler's
Operating Results of
Discontinued Operations

Flagler realty rental revenues - - 718
Flagler realty rental expenses - - 545
Operating income - - 173
Interest income - - -
Income before income taxes - - 173
Income taxes - - (67)
income from operation of

discontinued operations - - 106

Gain on disposition of
discontinued operations,
net of taxes of $1.7 million
for the year ended

December 31, 2004 - 2,590

During 2008, the Company and Odyssey Telecorp, Inc.
{Odyssey) agreed to a resolution of all cutstanding matters
relating to the sale by the Company of stock of EPIK
Communications to Gdyssey and resulted in a payment to
the Company of $9.3 million, net of related expenses, and is
recorded, net of taxes of $3.6 million, as a $5.7 million gain
on disposition of discontinued operations.

Note 6. Investments in Joint Ventures

The Company assesses consolidation of variable interest
entities under the guidance of Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” (FIN 46), an Interpretation of ARB Nc. 51 as
revised in December 2003 (FIN 46R). The Company accounts
for joint venture entities and subsidiary partnerships in accor-
dance with Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts (EITF) lssue
No. 04-5, "Determining Whether a General Partner, or the
General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership
or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain
Rights.” Under EITF Issue No. 04-5, the general partner in a
limited partnership is presumed to control that limited partner-
ship, unless that presumption is overcome by the limited partners
having either: {i) the substantive ability, either by a single limited
partner or through a simple majority vote, to dissolve the limited
partnership or otherwise remove the general partner without
cause; or (i) substantive participating rights.

Investments in Consolidated Joint Ventures: As of
December 31, 20086, joint ventures that have been includiad
in the Censolidated Financial Statements consisted of:

¢ Downtown Doral (CM Doral Development Company LLC) -
A venture with an affifate of JPMorgan that holds an exclu-
sive option to acquire and redevelop a 77-acre property in
Doral for residential and commaercial uses. The Company
has an interest in a partnership (Codina Doral Ltd} with
Armando Codina and his children, which holds a 50.1%
interest in this venture.

All balances and financial results for this entity are included in
the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements, with
the outside partner’'s 49.9% ownership shown as minority
interest. All significant inter-company balances and transas-
tions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures: As of
December 31, 2008, the Company's investments in
unconsolidated joint ventures accounted for under the
equity methad of accounting consisted of:

* Beacon Lakes, a 480-acre industrial park, including five
industrial buildings and entitlements for an additional 6.0
rnilion sq. ft. in West Dade. AMB Codina Beacon Lakes,
LLC owns the Beacon Lakes development, except for the
57 acres described herein. AMB Codina Beacon Lakes
LLC is owned 21.2% by the Company and 78.8% by an
affiliate of AMB Properties. Within the Beacon Lakes devel-
opment is included a 120-unit warehouse condominiur
project on 57 acres. Beacon Village is ownedt by Beacon
Village LLC, which is owned 50% by the Company and
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50% by an affiliate of AMB Properties. During 2006, 2.5 acres
of land was sold by Beacon Lakes. Additionally, both partners
sold their interest in Building 10, a 192,476 sq. ft. building, to
an affiliate of AMB Properties. The Company’s investment in
this joint venture at December 31, 2006 was $32.5 million.

Portions of the infrastructure within the project are owned by
Beacon Lakes Community Devetopment District (CDD). The
CDD, a local government district operating in accordance with
Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes, purchased these infra-
structure assets by issuing tax-exempt bonds. The bonds are
serviced by special assessment taxes levied on property
within the park. The infrastructure is collateral for the obliga-
tions and such assessments, with AMB Codina Beacon Lakes
LLC paying the assessments on the parcels owned by the
partnership until such parcels are sold. At such point, the lia-
hility for the assessments related to parcels sold becomes the
responsibility of the purchasers through a tax assessment on
their property. The bond liability of the CDD at December 31,
2006 is $53.6 million and is not included in the chart below.

* Ragler Corporate Center {Boca 54 Land Associates LLC) -
On May 31, 2008, the Company entered into and owns a
20% interest in a venture with an affiliate of TIAA — CREF
that owns a 54-acre land parcel with entitlements for
941,000 sq,. ft. of office space located in the City of Boca
Raton. On Novermnber 20, 2008, Flagler announced a build-
to-suit transaction to develop Office Depot’s new 624,000
square foot global headquarters. The headguarters com-
plex will be on 29 acres. The Company's investment in this
joint venture at December 31, 2006 was $9.8 miltion.

The following is a combined surmmary of the financial position
of the entities accounted for using the equity method, as of
the date presented:

The following ts a combined summary of the operating results
of the entities accounted for using the equity method for the
period presented from the date of acquisition {April 27, 20086):

Period Ended

(Unaudited) December 31
(dollars in thousands) 2006
Rental income 1,674
Gain on sale 1,270

Total revenue 2,944
Operating and other expenses 478
Interest expense, net 695
Depraciation expense 300

Total expense 1,473
Net income 1,471

Note 7. Properties

Properties consist of:

Years Ended December 31
(dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

FECR Properties™
Rocad equipment

and structures 472,279 442,954
Buildings 2,680 13,234
Equipment 201,066 203,188
Land and land improvements 22,279 12,562
Fiber 3,200 3,200
Construction in progress 3,268 7,018

704,772 682,156
Less accumulated depreciation 276,731 279,121

428,041 403,035

Ftagler

Land and land improvements 371,523 240,149
Buildings 506,335 469,833
Equipment 7,322 3,183
Construction in progress 66,648 13,039

951,828 726,214
Less accumulated depreciation 199,797 168,242

{Unaudited) December 31
{doltars in thousands) 2006
Assets:

Real estate, net 120,395

Other assets 17,588
Total assets 137,983
Liabilities and partners’ equity:

Mortgage notes payable 30,967

Other liabilities 7,500

Partners' equity 99,516
Total liabilities and partners’ equity 137,983

752,031 557,972

Corporate
Equipment 15,399 15,077
Construction in progress 136 1,570
15,535 16,647
Less accumulated depreciation 13,146 12,498
2,389 4,148

{1) Included in the December 31, 2006 and 2005 amounits, respectively, are
$0.1 million and $0.8 million of FECR properties and $2.7 miliion and
$9.0 million of Flagler properties, respectively, for land that is held for sale,
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Real estate properties, having a net book value of $446.2 mil-
tion at December 31, 2006 are 'eased under non-cancelable
operating leases with expected aggregate rental revenues
over the lease term of $532.1 million, which are receivable in
years 2007 - 2011 in the amounts of $37.9 million, $85.2 mil-
lion, $82.5 million, $62.2 million, $51.0 million, respectively,
and $143.3 million thereafter.

Note 8. Investments and Cash

and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008 consisted
of $1.4 million of property sale proceeds held in escrow for
possible tax deferred reinvestment in ather property and
$3.7 miillion of funds on hand and invested in money market
funds or short-term securities.

At December 31, 2005, $23.1 million of §1031 escrow funds
were available for reinvestment. In addition, $23.6 million of
land sale proceeds were added to the §1031 escrow funds
during 2006. When the Codina acquisition closed on April 27,
2006 the entirety of Flagler's and FECR'’s escrowed funds
were utilized for the acquisition of certain Codina properties.
At December 31, 2008, proceeds of $1.4 milion from a fourth
quarter 2006 land sale were held in escrow.

Restricted cash at December 31, 2006 was $0.4 million.
This included $0.2 million held in escrow for the Gables Office
Building Project and $0.2 million for dividend distributions on
contingent shares held in escrow,

Note 9. Income Taxes

Total income taxes were allocated as follows:

Years Ended December 31

(doltars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Income from continuing
operations 29,598 20,006 49,806
Gain from operation of
discontinued operations - - 67
Gain on disposition of
discontinued operations 3,576 - 1,656
33,174 29,006 51,529

The components of income tax expense were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Current

Federal 25,155 21,568 3477
State - - -
25,155 21,568 3,477

Deferred
Federal 5,732 5,040 40,511
State 2,287 2,398 7.511
8,019 7,438 48,052
Income Taxes 33,174 29,006 51,529

Tax benefits of $2.8 million, $4.5 million and $3.2 milion
associated with the exercise of employee stock options were
allocated to equity and recorded in capital in excess of per
value in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

Income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by
applying the statutory federal income tax rate to pretax

income as a result of the following:

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Amount computed at

statutary federal rate 33,702 27,429 45,296
State taxes (net of federal

benefit) 1,487 2,802 4,746
Non-deductible related

to 162(m) compensation 610 761 1,070
Tax credit related to rait

right-of-way

maintenance (1,690) {1,916) -
Charitable contribution of

building value in excess

of sale proceeds {2,012) - -
Other (net) 1,077 (70) 317

33,174 29,006 51,629

On October 20, 2008, the Cormpany completed the sale of
the corporate headquarters property, located in St. Augusitine,
Florida to Flagler College, resutting in a $4.8 million gain. ‘The
cash sales price was $10 million and the Company will
claim a charitable contribution that will result in approximately
$2.0 million of tax benefit on its federal tax returns for the
difference between the appraised fair market value and the
sales price, as required under federal tax regutations. The fair
market value over the cash sales proceeds and charitable
contribution has been netted into the gain.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to sig-
nificant portions of deferred tax assets and daferred tax liabili-
ties are as foliows:

Years Ended December 31,

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Deferred Tax Assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts ag7 842

Tax benefit for equity compensation 3,136 80
Accrued casualty and other liabilities 4,041 3,192
Deferred revenue 2,190 147
State NOL tax carry forward 2,887 4,588
Other 2,768 2,768

Total deferred tax assets 16,009 11,617
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Properties, principally due to

differences in depreciation 111,300 115,247
Deferred gain on land sales 83,202 67,858
Straight-line rent 9,506 8,608
Amortization of intangible assets 3,816 -
Investment in joint ventures 7,609 -
Other 3,775 5,800

Total deferred tax liabilities 219,208 197,513
Net deferred tax liabilities 203,199 185,896

On April 10, 2006 the Internal Revenus Service {IRS) notified the
Company that the audit of the 2000 — 2002 federal tax returns
was complete. The 2002 tax return included the sale of EPIK
Communications Incorporated (EPIK) and the resulting $75 mil-
lion tax refund associated with the loss from this sale and
received by FECI. Based on the settlement with the IRS of the
2000 - 2002 tax years, the Company has paid the IRS approxi-
mately $5.4 million of income tax associated with deductions to
be allowed in periods subsequent to 2002, These benefits
(future deductions) are now reflected in the deferred tax
accounts. Additionally, $1.2 million of interest was paid to the
IRS. This interest amount had no effect on net income during
the year as the amounts were previcusly provisioned.

During 2006, the Company amended its state tax returns for
the years 2000 - 2002 to reflect audit adjustments related to
the 2000 - 2002 federal audit. These amendments resulted
in the payment of $0.5 million of income tax. An additional
$0.2 million of interest was paid which had no effect on net
incorme for the year as the amount was previously provisioned.

During 2008, certain reclassifications between net defemed
income tax liabilities and current taxes payable were made due
to the IRS audit, the SAB 108 cumulative adjustrments (as further
described in Note 14} and normal changes in filing posture.

At December 31, 2006, the Company estimated its state
net operating loss carry forward for state purposes to be
$80.8 million, which expires at the end of 2022. The related
tax asset of $2.9 million is reflected in the above analysis of
Deferred Tax Assets. The Company has not provided any
valuation allowance with respect to this asset as it believes
its realization is "more likely than not,” given estimates of
future taxable income and available tax planning strategies.
However, the Company cannot guarantee that it will be able
to realize this asset or that future valuation allowances will
not be reguired.

Note 10. Segment Information

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 131, “Disclosure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information” (SFAS 131). SFAS 131
provides guidance for reporting information about operating
segments and other geographic information based on a
management approach. The accounting policies of the seg-
ments are the same as those described in the Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies. Under the provisions of
SFAS 131, the Company has two reportable operating
segments, both within the same geographic area. These
are the railway and reafty segments.

The railway segment provides freight transportation along the
east coast of Florida between Jacksonville and Miami.

The realty segment is engaged in the acquisition, development,
construction, leasing, management, operation and selected
sale of primarily commercial and industrial property, as well as
undeveloped land. All of the assets and operations relative to
the Codina acquisition are included in the realty segrment,

FECR generates other income from leases to telecommuni-
cations companies for the installation of fiber optic and other
facilities on the raifroad right-of-way. In addition, FECR gen-
erates revenues fromn the grant of licenses and leases to use
railroad property and rights-of-way for outdoor advertising
and lateral crossings of wires and pipes by municipalities
and utility and telecommunications companies. These mis-
cellaneous rents are included in cther income in the accom-
panying statements of income. From time-to-time other
non-operating sources of income are generated from the
right-of-way. These items are included in other income as
they occur and are earned.
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FECR has three primary aggregate customers with operations
in south Florida whose aggregate revenues represent approx-
imately 28% of FECR’s total annual revenues. One customer
represents approximately 20% of freight revenues. FECR's
revenues are affected by the demand for aggregate material,
primarily in Florida, and the ability of these custorners to sup-
ply, efficiently and effectively, this natural raw material. While
there are no assurances, FECR's customers expect to have
adequate reserves of minable aggregate material to satisfy
demand in the foreseeable future.

On March 29, 2006, the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida issued a ruling that several mining
permits for the Lake Belt area in South Florida were granted
without issuance of an adequate Environmental Impact
Statement (EIS) and had other deficiencies. The judge
remanded the matter to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
{Corps), and the Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) for a supple-
mental EIS and consideration of the other deficiencies.

Following the initial order, the court held evidentiary hearings
to consider whether to issue any interim orders to limit or
cease aggregate mining under the permits which are the sub-
ject of the lawsuit. The hearings were completed in the fourth
quarter of 2006; briefs have been filed. It is unknown when a
ruling regarding current mining activities will be issued and, if
one were issued, what the scope of it would be and what the
impact on the Railway's business would be. In 2006, aggre-
gate loads accounted for approximately $76.5 million or 29%
of the Railway’s revenue.

In addition, FECR generates revenues and expenses from
the rental, leasing and sale of buildings and properties that
are ancillary to the railroad’s operations. These revenues
and expenses are included in the realty segment shown as
“railway reafty.”

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services and are
managed separately.

Information by Industry Segment:

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Operating Revenues
Railway operations 264,093 237,870 200,782
Flagler:
Realty rental revenues 97,001 85,508 68,572
CAM recoveries
associated with
hurricane costs 337 343 93
Total reatty rental revenues 97,428 85,851 68,665
Realty services revenues 43,146 704 148
Land use revenues 667 795 772
Total Flagler realty rental
and services revenues 141,241 87,350 69,585
Flagler realty sales 42,618 24,820 99,677
Railway realty rental
revenues 3,690 3,488 3,028
Railway reafty sales 6,605 8,818 5,135
Total realty - 194,154 124,476 177,425
Total Revenues (segment) 458,247 362,346 378,187
Intersegment revenues (45) - -
Total Revenues
(consolidated) 458,202 362,346 378,187
Operating Profit (Loss)
Railway operations 78,471 63,729 47,326
Realty 28,229 40,922 97,986
Corporate general &
administrative {16,250) (22,388}  (15,080)
Segment & consolidated
operating profit 90,441 82263 130,232
Loss from investment in
unconsolidated
joint ventures (970} - -
Minority interest 81 - -
Interest income 1,565 1,659 1,124
Interest expense (20,378)  {20,105) (16,671)
Gain on sale of asset 4,787 - -
Other income 11,478 14,555 13,023
(3437) (3891) (2,524
Income before
income taxes 87,004 78,372 127,708

{Prior year results have been reclassified to conform to curment year presentation)

cevenesaaFLORIOA EAST CORST IMOUSTRIES..........2886 FORM 18-K... .. ceeieceincnnenena BT




Years Ended December 31

{dolars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Identifiable Assels

Transportation — Railway 470,849 444 647 426,300
Realty 895,968 627,232 594,234
Corporate 28,009 65,865 42 659

1,394,826 1,137,744 1,063,193

Capital Expenditures

Transportation — Railway 45,275 38,239 30,280
Realty™ 107,165 132,711 79,867
Corporate 465 2,802 1,404

162,905 174,752 111,551

Depreciation & Amortization

Transportation — Railway 22,668 22,054 20,360
Realty 35,999 32,381 26,825
Corporate 991 1,042 1,584

59,658 55,477 48,769

{1) 2006 includes $8.6 milion of accrued capital expenditures.

Note 11. Other Long-Term Liabilities

The Company is the defendant and plaintiff in various lawsuits
resulting from its operations. In the opinion of management,
appropriate provision has been made in the consolidated
financial statements for the estimated liability that is probable
of resutting from disposition of such matters. The Company
maintains comprehensive liability insurance for bodily injury
and property claims, but is self-insured or maintains a signifi-
cant self-insured retention {j.e., deductible) for these expo-
sures, particularty at FECR. These lawsuits are related to
alleged bodily injuries sustained by Railway employees or
third parties, employment related matters such as alleged
wrongful termination and commercial or contract disputes,
including disputes related to real estate, property manage-
ment and bankruptcies.

The Company is subject to proceedings and consent decrees
arising out of its historic disposal of fuel and oil used in the
transportation business. The Company has on-going ground-
water treatment systems at its major yard facilities. It is the
Company's policy to accrue environmental cleanup costs
when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an
amount can be reasonably estimated. As assessments and
cleanups proceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted.

The Company participated, together with other parties (work-
ing group), in the remediation of a former waste oil disposal
site in Jacksonville, Florida pursuant to an agreement with the
United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). The
construction phase was completed in 2008. The site will have
on-going maintenance requirements for an extended period
of time. The working group has pre-funded 100% of the
expected maintenance costs. The Company does not antici-
pate any additional costs for this site.

The Company has identified a limited area in its Jacksonville
rail yard where soil is contaminated with a constituent of a
solvent, The Company is removing the impacted soil. The
total estimated cost is $346,000, of which approximately
50% has already been incurred.

The Beacon Countyline project acquired in the Codina acquisi-
tion transaction on April 27, 2006, consists of 497 acres of
vacant land in Hialeah, Florida. Approximately 400 acres of the
site were previously operated as a permitted construction and
demolition debris disposal facility. While certain portions of the
site have been closed in accordance with applicable regula-
tions, a significant portion of the site still needs to be closed in
accordance with regulations of Miami-Dade Department of
Environmental Resources Management. The closure activities
consist primarily of clearing, compaction and providing a cover
for the landfill. Consulting environmental and geotechnical
engineering firms have evaluated the expected costs of clo-
sure, The expected cost of $24.2 milion is included in other
long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2006.

The Company monitors a small number of sites leased to oth-
ars, or acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries. Based on
management's ongoing review and monitoring of the sites,
and the ability to seek contribution or indemnification from the
potentially responsible parties (PRPs), the Company does not
expect to incur material additional costs, if any.

It is difficult to quantify future environmental costs as many
issues relate to actions by third parties or changes in enviren-
mental regulations. However, based on information presently
available, management believes that the ultimate disposition
of currently known matters will not have a material effect on
the financial position, liquidity or results of operations of
the Company.
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Note 12. Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors two 401(k} plans. Contributions are
at the employee’s discretion with upper limits of 25% of com-
pensation before taxes, subject to maximum limits imposed
by the 1RS (generally, $15,000 in 2008), and an additional
contribution up to 10% of after-tax compensation, also sub-
fect to maximum limits imposed by the IRS. Total contribu-
tions in 2006, including the Company's match if any, were
limited by IRS reguilations to $44,000.

Subsequent to the acquisition of Codina Group, Inc., eligible
Codina employees were offered the opportunity to enroll in
the Florida East Coast Salary Deferral Plan (the “FECI Salary
Deferrat Plan™). The assets of Codina's former plan, Codina
Group, Inc. Savings and Protection Plan {the “Codina Plan")
were merged with the FECI Satary Deferral Plan in the third
quarter of 20086.

401 (k) Plan for Salaried Employees: The amounts of matching
contributions by the Company for this plan covering the years
2008, 2005 and 2004 wers approximately $0.6 million, $0.5 mil-
fion and $0.5 mifion, respectively. In accordance with the terms
of the plan, the Company matched the employee's contributions
$1.00 for $1.00 up to the first $1,200 contributed by the employes
in 2006, 2005 and 2004. For employee contributions in excess
of $1,200, the Company matched $0.25 for every $1.00in pre-
tax employee contributions up to the IRS maximum limits.

401 (k) Ptan for Hourly Wage Employees and/or Employees
Covered by Collective Bargaining Agreement: This is a
limited contributory plan that was instituted in April 1995. In
2002, train and engine hourly employees became eligible for
a Company matching contribution of $0.20 for every $1.00 of
employee contributions up to $200 annually. In 2006 boiler-
makers, electricians, machinists, shop laborers and signal and
communication workers also bacame eligible for the same
matching contributions. The amounts of matching contributions
by the Company for this plan covering the years 2006, 2005
and 2004 were $23,000, $20,000 and $15,000, respectively.

Pension Plan: The Company adopied a non-funded defined
benefit plan covering nine pravious officers of the Company in
1998. The benefits are based on years of service and the
employee’s compensation during the five years before retire-
ment. The Company curtailed this plan in 1989, causing no
additional benefits to accrue to coverad officers. At
December 31, 20086, 2005 and 2004, accrued liabilities
related to the contract benefit obligation were $3.4 million,
$3.6 million and $3.4 million, respectively. The decrease

in the contract benefit obligation at December 31, 2006
primarily refates to the increase in discount rate for 2006.
The Company also incurred benefit costs related to
interest of $0.3 million in each of the years 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively.

Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan; Effective March 28,
2005, the Company established and adopted a Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan {the “Plan”). The purpose of this Plan
is to provide specified benefits to a select group of management
or highty compensated employeas who contribute materially to
the continued growth, development and future business success
of the Company. This Plan shall be un-funded for tax purposas
and for purposes of Title | of ERISA. The sole participant in the
Plan at this time is Mr. Adolfo Henriques, Chairman, Presiderit
and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Henriques’ employment agreement provides for an initial
credit to his account of $500,000, a second credit of
$130,000 on January 1, 2006 and succeeding annual credits
equal to 20% of his annual base salary. The balances in the
account will be credited with annual earnings equal to the
product of the greater of 5%, or the applicable federal rate
(based on the long term rate for January of each year) timas
the account balance. Mr. Henriques will be 100% vested in
his account balance in March 2007, the second anniversary
of employment. Costs of the plan are accounted for in accor-
dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard Ne.
87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (SFAS 87).
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Note 13. Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to fiscal 2008, the Company accounted for stock
options and other equity-based compensation using the
intrinsic-value-based method of accounting prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees” (APB Opinion No. 25), and
refated interpretations. Effective January 1, 2006, the
Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123}, as
amended in 2004 by FASB Statement 123R “Share-Based
Payment” {Staterment 123R) for fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2005. The Company uses the modified prospective
approach in its adoption and transition to Statement 123R.
Statement 123R generally requires that an entity account for
equity-based compensation costs and transactions using the
fair-value-based method, and sliminates an entity's ability to
account for share-based compensation transactions using
the intrinsic-value method of accounting in APB Opinion No.
25, which was permitted under Statement 123, as originally
issued. The adoption of this standard has not materially
affected the financial statements of the Company.

The Company has a sharehelder approved long-term incentive

program (the “Plan”) under which the Compensation Committes

of the Board of Directors makes equity awards. The Company
has not granted stock options under this Plan since 2003,
Additionally, at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005
the number of urvested stock options was approximately 840
and 19,000, respectively. in all periods presented (2004 - 20086),
awards under the Plan have besen grants of restricted stock. In
addition, the Company has an "Employes Stock Purchase Plan”
{("ESPP") that allows all employees to purchase shares of the
Company at a 15% discount with purchases not to exceed
10% of the participant’s base-salary. Contributions are limited to
$25,000 annually. The discount on shares purchased during the
periods ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
approximately $70,000, $30,000 and $29,000, respectively.

The amount of urvested restricted stock granted to employees
is generally based on the achievernent of various performance
targets related to the operational and financial performance of
the Company. Excluding the restricted shares granted to certain
Codina employees, all rastricted shares are granted as new
common shares as authorized under the Plan. Al restricted

shares granted to Codina employees have been issued from
the Company's treasury stock. Grants of restricted stock gener-
ally vest over a service period of three to four years. Vesting
generally occurs pro-rata over the service period. The smployee
upon leaving service forfeits unvested restricted shares, unless
otherwise accelerated pursuant to employment agresments. At
Decermber 31, 2008, the number of authorized shares that
could be awarded in the future was 1,903,680 shares.

In connection with the Codina acquisition, the company
granted 288,518 shares of restricted stock to certain Codina
employees who became employees of the Company on the
acquisition date, April 27, 2006. The restricted stock granted
will vest 25% after one year, and the remaining 75% will vest
three years from the date of the grant.

Years Ended December 31

(doltars in thousands) 2006 20058 2004
Stock compensation
cost for share-based
payment plans:
Stock options 36 458 2,000@
Restricted stock 12,5619 9,442 2,810
Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 70 - _
12,667 9,900 4,819
Amount of related income
tax benefit recognized 4,877 3,811 1,855

(1) 2005 included costs assogiated with the appointment of Mr. Adolfo Henriques
as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and termination banefits
provided to Mr. Robert W, Anestis. These expenses totaled $9.1 milion and
inchuded $5.3 million of additional equity compensation, which is included in
the above amounts.

{2} In a 2004 transaction (the “Transaction”) initiated at the request of tha Board
of Directors, the Company cancslled vestad, In-the-money stock options
{the “Cptions") to acquire 144,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
held by the Company's former Ghief Executive Officer (“CEO"), Robert W, Anestis.
The embedded value of the Options (fair market value less strike price) was
$2 million. The embedded value, less applicable tax withholding, was paid
in common stock. The CEO was issued 36,407 shares {(valuad at $35.08,
which was the closing price on February 27, 2004). The stock, together with
applicable withholdings, represents the pre-tax embedded value. Because
tha original stock option award was cancalled and the Company replaced
this award with FECI common stock, in accordance with FASB Interpretation
No. 44, the Company was required to recognize compensation expense in
the amaunt of $2 million with respect to the Transaction, which is included
in the above amount.

{3) Includad in this amount is $1.6 milion of accalerated vesting related to the
former President of Flagler Daveloprment Group and ancther former amployvee.
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The fair value compensation cost ($36,000 for the year anded December 31, 2006) of unvested stock options was determined
using historical Black Scholes input information at the time of grant: 2003 - 2001. These inputs included expected dividend yield
between 0.61% and 0.37%, expected volatility between 37% and 22%, risk free interest rate between 4.4% and 2.3% and expected
term in years of 3.8 years.

‘ Stock Options
Weighted Average Aggregate
Weighted Remaining Intrinsic Value
| Number of Shares  Average Price  Contractual Term  (dollars in thousands)
‘ Cutstanding balance at December 31, 2005 616,487 $31.78 35 -
! Changes during the year:
| Granted - - - -
Exercised (340,825) $30.95 - -
Forfeited {1,098) $32.39 - -
Expired 2,571) $21.09 - -
| Outstanding balance at December 31, 2006 271,993 $32.84 29 $7.277
| Exercisable at December 31, 2006 271,153 $32.87 29 $7,248

The total intringic-value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $7.2 million,
$11.8 million and $8.3 million, respectively.

Non-Vested Restricted Stock

Weighted Averagie
Grant Date
{doltars in thousands, excapt per share amounts} Number of Shares Fair Value
Quitstanding balance at December 31, 2003 204,397 $29.01
Changes during the year:
Granted 151,269 $36.35
Vested (102,855) $27.96
Forfeited (21,714) $31.41
Outstanding balance at December 31, 2004 231,007 $34.25
Changes during the year:
Granted 291,791 $42.66
Vested (107,065) $34.09
Forfeited {60,033) $38.72
Qutstanding balance at December 31, 2005 355,790 $40.40
Changes during the year:
Granted 435,322 $53.29
Vested (147,529) $40.14
Forfeited {7,297) $47.58
Outstanding balance at December 31, 2006 636,286 $49.24

The total fair-value of shares vesting was $7.3 million, $4.5 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2005 and 2004, respectively.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based
employee compensation in all the years presented:

(dollars in thousands, Years Ended December 31

except per share amaounts) 2006 2005 2004
Net income - as reported = 63,119 49,366 80,598
Stock-based compensation

expense included in

reported income for all

stock option awards

{net of related tax effects) 22 - -
Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation

expense determined under

the fair value based

method for all stock

option awards (net of

related tax effects) (22) (342) (785)
Pro forma net income 63,119 49,024 79,813
Earnings per share:

Basic — as reported $1.84 $1.53 $2.33

Basic - pro forma $1.84 $1.52 $2.31

Diluted — as reported $1.83 $1.52 $2.29

Diluted - pro forma $1.83 $1.50 $2.27

In a 2004 transaction {the “Transaction”) initiated at the request
of the Board of Directors, the Company cancelled vested, in-
the-money stock options (the “Options”) to acquire 144,000
shares of the Company’s common stock held by the Company's
former Chief Executive Officer (*CEQ"), Robert W. Anestis. The
embedded value of the Options {fair market value less strike
price) was $2.0 million. The embedded value, less applicable
tax withholding, was paid in common stock. The CEO was
issued 36,407 shares (valued at $35.06, which was the closing
price on February 27, 2004). The stock, together with applicable
withholdings, represents the pre-tax embedded value. Because
the original stock option award was cancelled and the Company
replaced this award with FECI common stock, in accordance
with FASB Interpretation No. 44, the Company was required to
recognize compensation expense in the amount of $2.0 million
with respect to the Transaction.

iIn May of 2002, the Company's shareholders adopted the
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.’s Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (ESPP) with an effective date of July 1, 2002. The pur-
pose of the Purchase Plan is to provide eligible employees with
an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company
through the purchase of its Commaon Stock. The Purchase
Plan is an Employee Stock Purchase Plan under Section 423
of the Internal Revenue Code. Any employee of the Company

or a designated subsidiary of the Company (including officers
and any directors who are also employees) whose customary
employment is at least 20 hours per week and more than five
months in any calendar year will be eligible to paricipate in the
Purchase Plan for any Cffering Period. Offering Period means
each calendar quarter of the year. All eligible employees who
elect to participate in the Purchase Plan will authorize the
Company to make payroll deductions of a specified fixed
dollar amount or whole percentage from 1% to 10% of the
employee's compensation (imited to $25,000 annually) as
defined in the Purchase Plan. As of the last day of each
Offering Period, the amounts withheld for a participant in the
Purchase Plan will be used to purchase shares of Common
Stock of the Company. The purchase price of each share will
be equal to 85% of the lesser of the Fair Market Value of a share
of Common Stock on either the first or last day of the Offering
Period. The total amount of common stock for purchase under
the Plan is 750,000 shares, with 715,834 shares remaining at
December 31, 2006.

Assets and activities of the Plan are provided in the following
statements:

Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits

Years Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2006 2005
Assets
Cash 5.0 2.1
Investments in FECI stock
at fair value 1,247.9 624.2
Total assets available for benefit 1,252.9 626.3

Statement of Changes in
Net Assets Available for Benefits

Years Ended December 31,

{goltars in thousands) 2006 2005
Additions
Employee contributions 523.6 243.0
Dividends 38 25
Unrealized gain on Plan assets
{FEC! stock) 339.6 54.8
867.0 300.3
Deductions
Benefits paid to participants 2404 110.9
Net increase 626.6 189.4
Net assets available for benefit
at beginning of year 626.3 436.9
Net assets available for benefit
at end of year 1,252.9 626.3

T iavasenanannnnnaneneness FLORIDOA ERST COAST INDUSTRIES..........2086E8 FORM 18-K.........




Note 14. Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 108

In September 2008, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) released Staff Accounting Bullstin No. 108, “Considering
the Effect of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstaternents in Current Year Financial Statements” (SAB
108} which provides interpretive guidance on how registrants
should guantify financial statement misstatements. Under SAB
108 registrants are required to consider both the “rollover”
method, which focuses primarily on the income statement
impact of misstatements and the “iron-curtain™ method, which
focuses primarily on the balance sheet impact of misstate-
ments. The Company’s previous accounting policy was to
evaluate misstatements under the rollover method. The transi-
tion provisions of SAB 108 permit the Company to adjust
retained earnings for the cumulative effect of misstatements
that were previously deemed immaterial in prior years using
the previous method but material under the criteria in SAB 108
when using both methods. The Company was required to
adopt SAB 108 in the fourth quarter of 2006.

FECI has historically determined its deferred tax liability balance
by adjusting the prior year balance for current year activity.
During 20086, the Company confirmed that the income tax
provision amounts included in the income statements for all
periods presented in the 20068 Form 10-K back to 2001 were
correctly stated under the roll-over method. However, under
the iron-curtain method, the Company determined the
January 1, 2006 balance of its deferred tax liability on the
balance sheet was misstated. This amounted to a prior year
overstaternent of $4.7 million.

In addition, the Company has historically recorded smaller
annual payments related to land rents and fiber, pipe and wire-
crossing income to revenue as the payments were received.
Based on the Company’s approach for agsessing misstate-
ments prior to the adoption of SAB 108, the Company had
previously concluded that these amounts were immaterial to
the income statement under the rollover method. After review-
ing the amounts relative to their balance sheet impact, the
Company has determined that, as of January 1, 2006, deferved
revenue was understated by $1.9 milion and deferred income
tax and retained earnings were overstated by $0.7 milion and
$1.2 milion, respectively.

Historically, the Company has evaluated uncorrected differences
utilizing the roliover approach. FECI believes the impact of
these deferred income tax and deferred revenue misstatements
were immaterial to prior fiscal years under the rollover method.
However, under SAB 108, which the Company was required
to adopt for the year ended December 31, 2006, FECI must
assess materality using both the rollover method and the iron-
curtain method. Under the iron-curtain methaod, the aggregete
of the cumulative deferred income tax and deferred revenue
misstaternents are matenal to the Company's 2006 consolidated
financial statements and, therefore, the Company has recorded
an adjustment to its opening January 1, 2006 retained earnings
balance in the amount of $3.5 million, in accordance with the
implementation guidance in SAB 108. FECI considers the effect
of these misstaternents on its previously filed income statements
including the quarterly income statements of 2006, to be
immaterial, and such statements have not been adjusted.

The total cumulative impact is as follows:

Retained Earnings $ 3.5 million

Deferred Revenue $ 1.9 million

Deferred Income Taxes $(5.4) million
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Note 15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2006

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

Operating revenues™ 108,282 107,026 106,844 136,050
Operating expenses® 92,847 82,879 88,168 103,867
{Loss) income from investment in unconsclidated joint ventures (979) 67 (58) -
Minority interast 43 34 4 -
Interest income 301 153 496 615
Interast expense (5,061) (5,134} (5,057) {5,126)
Gain on sale of assets® 4,787 - - -
Other income 3,203 2,363 3,719 2,193
Income from continuing operations 14,040 13,492 11,149 18,725
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of taxes)® - {111} 5,824 -
Net income 14,040 13,381 16,973 18,725
Ciluted net income per share — continuing $0.40 $0.38 $0.31 $0.57
Diluted net income per share — discontinued - - $0.17 -
Diluted net income per share $0.40 $0.38 $0.48 $0.57

2005

{dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

Operating revenues™ 109,763 86,673 83,027 82,883
Operating expenses® 76,166 67,244 65,256 71,417

tnterest income 542 374 336 407

Interest expense {6,284) (5,074) (5,073) {4,674
Other income 2,923 2,383 2,997 6,252
Income from continuing cperations 20,166 10,725 10,404 8,071

income from discontinued operations (net of taxes} - - - -
Net income 20,166 10,725 10,404 8,071

Diluted net income per share — continuing $0.61 $0.32 $0.32 $0.25
Diluted net income per share — discontinued - - - -
Diluted net income per share $0.61 $0.32 $0.32 $0.25

{1) Operating ravenues for the quarter ending December 31, 2006 included realty sales of large parcels of $1.8 milion. December 31, 2005 included sales of large
parcels & land for $22.0 milion.

{2} Reprasents resolution of all outstanding matters relating to the sale by the Company of stock of EPIK Communications to Odyssey and resultec in a payment
to the Company of $9.3 milion, net of related expenses, and is recorded, net of taxes of $3.6 million, as a $5.7 millon gain on disposition of discontinued
operations.

{3} Includes $(5.3) milion and $2.0 million at the Railway and $(1.5) million and $1.0 milion at Flagler of humicane (recoveriesiexpenses, net, for December 31, 2006
and 20085, respectively.

(4} Represents sale of corporate headquarters in St. Augustine for cash proceeds of $10.0 million net of carrying costs of $5.2 million, Proceeds and costs reflected
net of charitable contribution impact.
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Note 16. Other Income

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Pipe & wire-crossings/

signboards 4,433 5,235 6,441
Fiber lease income 7,038 7,083 6,952
Ar rights income €88 3,048 -
Other (net) (681) (812) (370)

11,478 14,585 13,023

FECR generates income from the grant of licenses and leases
to use raifroad property and rights-of-way for cutdoor advertis-
ing and lateral crossings of wires and pipes by municipalities
and utility and telecommunications companies. This income
is recorded in other income as “pipe and wire-crossings/
signboards” as it is earned. FECR generates other income from
leases to telecommunications companies for the installation of
fiber optic and other facilities on the Railway's right-of-way.
This income is recorded in other income as “fiber lease income”
as it is earned. The year-end December 31, 2006 and Decem-
ber 31, 2005 results inctude one-time income of $0.7 million
and $3.0 million, respectively, associated with the sale of air
rights and related surface and sub-surface easements and
licenses on the Railway's right-of-way.

Note 17. Debt and Other
Commitments

Flagler has issued $352 million of mortgage notes due on
varying dates from 2008 through 2011. At December 31,
2008, $332.8 million was outstanding on these notes. Buildings
and properties, having a carrying value at December 31, 2006
of $266.5 milion, net of accumulated depreciation of $159.0 mi-
lion, collateralize these notes. The mortgage notes carry both
fixed rates (various; ranging from 5.27% to 7.39%) and variable
rates (1.0% over the 90 day UBOR index; 6.37% at December 31,
2006). Repayments of principal and interest are payable
monthly based upon a thirty-year amortization schedule.

The fair value of the Company's mortgage notes is estimated
based on current rates available to the Company for debt of
the same remaining maturities. At December 31, 2008, the
Company congiders the estimated fair market value of the
mortgage notes to be $343.3 million.

On February 22, 2005, the Company enterad into a new
unsecured $150 million, 5-year revolving credit agreement with
a syndication of banks. The new credit facility provides a more
favorable interest rate and terms and replaces the Company's
previous $200 million credit agreement. The Company pays
{quarterly} commitment fees, as applicable under the agree-
ment, at a range of 12.5 to 25.0 basis points. The Company’s

revolving credit agreement requires the maintenance of certain
financial ratios (interest coverage and leverage) and maintenance
of minimum established levels of net waorth. The Company
believes the most restrictive of such ratios is the Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility Agreement}. The Credit
Facility Agreement provides that at December 31, 2006, the
Company's Adjusted Total Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio
shall be no greater than 3.00 to 1.00. At December 31, 2006,
the Company's actual Adjusted Total Debt/Adjusted Total
EBITDA ratic was 0.41 to 1.00. In addition there are various
established limitations (dollars and ctherwise) on certain tyjpes
of liens, investments (including loans and advances) and acqui-
sitions, limitation on transactions with affiliates, merger and
sales of all or substantially all of the assets; and use of procseds.
Some of the above covenants provide specific exclusion of
certain financing and investing activities at Flagler. Borrowings
under the credit agreement bear interest at variable rates linked
to the LIBOR Index. Interest on borrowings is due and payable
on the “rollover date” for each draw. Outstanding borrowings
can be paid at any time by the bomrower, or at the conclusion
of the facility's term. At December 31, 20086, there were no
borrowings outstanding on this facility.

On April 27, 2006 the Company amended its existing credit
agreement 1o accommodate the acquisition of the Codina
Group and related assets. Amendments to increase the limits
on advances, loans, extensions of credit and guarantees of debt
of persons that are not Loan Parties and other administrative:
changes were made. There were no changes to the existing
credit limit and the minimum required level of financial covenants.

On October 16, 2006 the Company amended its existing
credit agreement to allow the execution of a forbearance
agreement/guarantee of repair by Flagler Development
Company. The forbearance agreement was related to a
windstorm coverage requirement under the Company’s
mortgage debt agreements.

The Company owns interests in unconsolidated real estate
entities, with ownership interests up to 50%. One of these
unconsolidated real estate entities, Beacon Lakes (AMB Codina
Beacon Lakes, LLC}, has debt outstanding of $30.9 million
as of December 31, 2006 consisting of $19.7 million on &
$35 million construction revolver with Wells Fargo Bank, and
$11.2 million on a $22.3 million land and construction ioan
from AMB Properties LP. In addition there is $0.8 million in
various letters of credit outstanding. The Company has guar-
anteed $5.2 miflion of the combined debt and outstanding
letters of credit. The $35 million construction revolver has a
maturity of October 2007 with a one-year extension remain-
ing. The $22.3 million land and construction loan has a matu-
rity of April 2007 with a cne-year extension. The Letters cf
Credit carry various maturity dates. Additionally, the Beacon
Lakes project includes the Beacon Lakes Community
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Development District (CDD). This CDD has financing out-
standing of $53.6 million from special assessment bonds
{series 2003A) carrying an interest rate of 6.9% and a
maturity date of May 2035,

From time to time, the Company puts in place performance
bonds and conditional payment bonds in support of various
proiects. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has pro-
vided performance bonds and conditional payment bonds
totaling $44.8 million, consisting of $19.9 million for the
Medical Office Building at Kendall Town & Country project and
$24.9 million for the 1800 N. Military Trail project. Both bonds
have a maturity date one year after substantial completion
of the respective project. As of December 31, 2006 the
Company was in compliance with the terms of these bonds.

In connection with the Codina acquisition, the Company
assumed a $2 million note payable to an affiliate of JPMargan.
The note was issued in connection with the Downtown
Doral joint venture. The amount outstanding on the note at
December 31, 2006 was $1.4 million. The note bears interest
at 4%, and the outstanding principal balance together with
accrued interest is payable December 31, 2011.

Annual maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2006 of
$334.2 million, and the related interest, are as follows:

{doliars in thousands)

Year Amount
2007 5519
2008 84,864
2009 4,763
2010 5,049
2011 233,962
Thereafter -
Total Debt Principal Obligation 334,157

Amount representing future interest 85,442
Long-Term Debt Obligation 418,599

The Company leases various pieces of equipment (primarily
trailers) under five to ten-year leases that expire in 2009.
Future minimum payments under the capital leases, which
are recorded as other liabilities are as follows:

{doliars in thousands)

Year Amount
2007 164
2008 169
2009 163
Net minimum lease payments 496

Amount representing interest 43
Obligation under capital leases 539

The Company is cbligated under several non-cancelable
operating leases covering its facilities and equipment (primar-
ily trailers and office & computer equipment). In December
2006, the Railway signed an operating lease for four new
locomotives, which were delivered in December 2006. The
lease terms are from one to ten years. Future minimum pay-
ments under the leases are as follows:

{dollars in thousands)

Year Amount
2007 5,085
2008 2,443
2009 1,897
2010 1,449
2011 1,263
Thereafter 38,177

The Company's principal operating lease obligation is a 99-year
ground lease of real property in Coral Gables, Florida, which was
assumed in the Codina acquisition upon which the Company is
constructing an office building which will be used by Flagler and
FECI. One-third of the building will be owned and occupied by a
bank. Future minimum payments under the lease are $0.4 mil-
tion in 2007 and would be $34.3 milicn in total. Subsequent to
year-end, the Company exercised its option to terminate the
ground lease for the: land under the Sevilla buflkiing by exchang-
ing a condominium interest in one-third of the building with the
bank in exchange for a two-thirds condominium interest in the
underying land. If not termninated, this ground lease accounts for
$34.3 million of the operating lease obligations shown above of
which $32.8 millicn is due in 2012 and beyond.

The Board of Directors authorized the expenditure of up to
$75 milion to repurchase its outstanding common stock
through a program of open market purchases and privately
negotiated transactions. On August 13, 2004, the Company
purchased 5.5 million shares of common stock from The Alfred
I. duPont Testamentary Trust and The Nemours Foundation for
$34.50 per share or approximately $191 million. These repur-
chased shares are now shown on the consolidated balance
sheets as treasury stock. This transaction exhausted the
remaining $72 million that existed under the previous $75 mil-
lion stock repurchase authorization. As a resutt, on August 4,
2004, the Board of Directors authorized the expenditure of
$40 million to repurchase common stock from time to time
through a program of open market purchases and/or privately
negotiated transactions.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had commitments for
letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $2.6 million. In
addition, the Company had other commercial commitments
of $62.2 million related to construction contracts.
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FECR committed $1.5 million to jointly fund an overpass over
the Medley branch tracks to give access to warehouse space
without crossing the Railway at grade. The landowner and a
customer also committed funding to this project. Construction
estimates are $2.4 million higher than originally contemplated;
it is not known if the project will go forward.

As of December 31, 2006, Railway had forward purchase
contracts of 2.3 million gallons of fuel for delivery from January
2007 to December 2007 for an average purchase price of
$2.21 per gallon before taxes and freight. This represents 15%
of the estimated consumption for year 2007. The Company
accounts for these purchases as it takes delivery of the fuel.

In May 2004 the Bush Administration signed the EPA Clean A
Non-Road Digsel Rule, which requires stringent pollution controls
on diesel engines used in industries such as construction, agri-
culture and mining. The Clean Air Non-Road Diesel Rule requires
a decrease in the sulfur content of diesel fuel. High sulfur diesel
fuel contains approximately 5,000 parts per million (ppm) of sul-
fur content. This Rule requires the reduction of the level of sulfur
to 500 ppm (ow sulfur diesel fuel) effective June 2007 for non-
road, locomotive and marine (NRLM) diesel fuels. Due to the
small refiner and credit provisions of the ruling, the Railway may
be able o purchase high suffur dieset fugl, if available, unti June 1,
2010, however the supply of high sulfur diesel fuel is uncertain
after May 31, 2007. By June 2010, the sulfur content has to be
reduced to 15 ppm (ultra-low sulfur diesel) for non-road fuel,
and by June 2012 for locomotive and marine fuels. Due to this
Rule, the fuel supply market has been changing to accommo-
date for the demand for low sulfur diesel fuel. The market for
low sulfur diesel fuel is evolving and will have uncertainties as
demand for fuel changes aver the next several months.

On September 23, 2005, the Company entered into a $3.6 mil-
lion materials agreement with GE Transportation for the purchase
of 74 sets of Uttra Cab |l signaling equipment to be delivered
through December 31, 2009, Ultra Cab is a locomotive hard-
ware/software onboard car signal decoder. This equipment will
replace the current software, which has reached its life expec-
tancy. As of December 31, 2008, the outstanding commitment
left remaining on the contract is $1.7 million.

Note 18. Subsequent Events

In January 2007 the Company entered into a joint venture
{CM Lejuens LLLP) with an affiliate of JPMorgan in which the
Company now retains a 30% interest in a project to develop
and construct a headguarters building for Burger King in
Coral Gables, FL. The venture subsequently purchased two

acres of land from City National Bank on which to construct
225,000 sq. ft. of ofiice and 23,000 sq. it. of retail space.
Burger King had previously signed a long-term lease for the
office portion of the building that will commence upon its
completion. Additionally, the joint venture partners have
signed a contract to sell the project, with the lease in place,
upon completion of the building.

On January 25, 2007, the Company amended its existing
credit agreement to allow performance bonds and performance
and completion guarantees, issued in the normal course of
business which may be required in the Company’s role as
development partner and/or general contractor in several
joint ventures and for third party work, to be excluded from
the definition of traditional guarantees and to establish a
cap on the total dollars that would be permitted.

In February 2007, the Company exercised its option to temnnate
the ninety-nine year ground lease with City National Bank for the
land under the 45,000 sq. ft. Sevilla office building by exchang-
ing a condominium interest in one-third of the newly constructed
building in exchange for a two-thirds condominium interest in the
underlying land (see Note 17 for further discussion).

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND
DISAGREEMENTS WITH
ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND
PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS
AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company's Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial
Officer (CFO), management has evaluated the effectiveness of
the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g)
and 15d-15(e)). Based on that evaluation, the CEC and CFO
concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procs-
dures were effective as of December 31, 2006.
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MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of FECI is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) or 15d-15{f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervi-
sion of, the Company's CEO and CFQ, and effected by the
Company’s Board of Directors, management and other per-
sonnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reli-
ability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
staterments for external purposes in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles and includes those poli-
cies and procedures that;

* Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dis-
positions of the assets of the Company.

* Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principals, and that receipts and expenditures
of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposi-
tion of the Company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limmitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstaternents.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that contrals may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

FECI’s management assessed the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, the
Company's management used the criteria set forth by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO} in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework.

On April 27, 2006, the Company acquired Codina Group and
certain related property interests hefd directly or indirectly by
Armando Codina. As permitted by Securities and Exchange
Commission guidance, the scope of our Section 404 testing
and evaluation as of and for the year ended December 31,
2006 did not include internal controfs over financial reporting
for the acquired operations of the Codina Group with total
assets of $185.4 million and total revenues of $42.3 million.
Caodina Group is included in the Company's Consclidated
Financial Statements as of December 31, 2006 and for the
period from April 27, 2006 to December 31, 2006. The
Company is in the process of incorporating the internal con-
trols and procedures of Codina Group into the Company’s
internal controls over financial reparting.

Based on our assessment, management concluded that, as
of December 31, 20086, the Company's internal controt over
financial reporting is effective based on those criteria, except
as it relates to Codina as described in the previous paragraph.

The Company's independent registered public accounting
firm has issued an attestation on our assessment of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. This
report appears on the following page.
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REPORT QF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the
accompanying Management Annual Report, on Internal
Control Over Financtal Reporting, that Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 20086, based on criteria established in Internai
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Crganizations of the Treadway Commission
(COS0). Florida East Coast Incdustries, Inc.'s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting. Qur responsibility is
to express an opinion on management’s assessment, and an
opinicn on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

Woe conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Cur audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, eval-
uating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and
performing such other procedures as we considered neces-
sary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a pro-
cess designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
staterments for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reason-
able detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reason-
able assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthcrized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent flimitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of com-
pliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Florida East
Coast Industries, In¢. and subsidiaries maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2008, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued
by COSO. Also, in our opinion, Florida East Coast Industries,
Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in the
Internal Control - Integrated Framewark issued by COSO.

Florida East Coast Industries, In¢. and subsidiaries acquired
Codina Group In¢. and certain related property interests
{Codina) during 2008, and management excluded from its
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006
Codina’s internal control over financial reporting associated
with total assets of $185.4 million and total revenues of
$42.3 million included in the consolidated financial statements
of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2008. Qur audit of
internal control over financial reporting of Florida East Cosst
Industries, Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the internal
control over financial reporting of Codina.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consclidated balance sheets of Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, and the refated consolidated statements of
income, shareholders' equity and comprehensive income,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2006, and our report dated February 26,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial staterments.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Jacksonville, Florida

February 26, 2007
Certified Public Accountants
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CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTRCL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

On April 27, 20086, the Company acquired Codina Group and
certain related property interests held directly or indirectly by
Armando Codina. As permitted by Securities and Exchange
Commission guidance, the scope of our Section 404 testing
and evaluation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006
did not include internal controls over financial reporting for the
acquired operations of the Codina Group. Codina Group is
included in the Company's Consclidated Financial Statements
as of December 31, 2008 and for the period from April 27, 2006 to
December 31, 2008. The Company is in the process of incor-
porating the internal controls and procedures of Codina Group
into the Company's internal controls over financial reporting.

There were no changes in the Registrant's internal control over
financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation
required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or
15d-15 that oceurred during the Registrant's last fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART I

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information set forth under the captions “Blection of Directors,”
under the sub-captions “Committees” (including the information
appearing under “Audit Committee”) and “Corporate Govermance”
under the caption “Board of Directors and Board Committees,”
Section 16(a) “Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,”
and “Executive Officers,” in the Company’s definitive Proxy
Staternent for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the Proxy Statement), containing the information
required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to
all of its directors, officers and employees. The Code of Conduct
is available on the Company’s website at http.//www.feci.com.
Amendments to the Code of Conduct and any grant of a waiver
from a provision of the Code of Conduct requiring disclosure

under applicable SEC rules will be disclosed on the Company’s

website within four business days and will be maintained for at
least twelve months thereafter. The Company's Corporate
Governance Guidelines and the Charters of its Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee are also available on the Company’s
website. This information is also available in print form via mait
by reguest to the Company.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information set forth under the captions “Compensation
Discusgsion and Analysis,” “Summary Compensation Table,”
“Grants of Plan-Based Awards,” “Outstanding Equity Awards at
Fiscal Year-End,” “Option Exercises and Steck Vested,” “Non-
Qualified Deferred Compensation,” “Potential Payments upon
Termination, Death, Disability or Change in Control,” “Director
Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participation in Compensation Decisions” and
“Compensation Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement con-
tains the information required in this ltem 11 and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF
CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information set forth under the caption “Security Cwnership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Proxy
Statement, contains the information required in this ltem 12
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS
AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information set forth under the captions “Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions” and “Director Independence” in the
Proxy Statement contains the information required in this ltem
13 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT
FEES AND SERVICES

Inforrnation conceming principal accounting fees and services that

will be provided under the heading “Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Staterment, contains the information

required in this ttem 14 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

{a}1. Financial Statements
The financial statements and schedules listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statemerit
Schedule are filed as part of this report.

2. Exhibits
The Exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits are filed as part of this report,

FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
[ITEM 14(a) 3(b)]

Reference Form 10-K

Page Nos.
Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006 51
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 52
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
| for each of the three years in the period ended Decernber 31, 2006 53
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006 54
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 85-77
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 79
Financial Statement Schedule:
Il - Valuation Reserves 88
Il - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation 88-89

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to
require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial staternents
or the notes thereto.

Financial statements and schedulas of FECI (not consolidated) are omitted since it is primarily a holding company and all
subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements being filed, in the aggregate, do not have minerity equity
interests or registered securities.
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
INDEX TO EXHIBITS -
[ITEM 13(a) 3]

S-KITEM 801 DOCUMENTS

2 (i} Codina acquisition documents. (7
34 Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation. (1)
3 (iiy Amended and Restated By-Laws. (1
4 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement. (1}

10(a) $150 million Unsecured Revalving Credit Agreement with a 5-year term between FECI and

a syndication of financial institutions with Bank of America, N.A. as Lead Arranger. (2}
10(b} Distribution and Recapitalization Agreement. (5}
10(c) Various Promissory Notes and Mortgage Security Agreements dated June 28, 2001 and

Septemnber 27, 2001, covering certain Flagler buildings at various office parks. )
10(d) Representative "Change in Control Agreement” between FECI and certain FEC! Executive Officers. {4)
10(e) 2002 Stock Incentive Ptan, as amended., (12)
10(f) FECI 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Q)
10(g) Mortgage Notes dated as of August 10, 2004 between Flagler Development Group and

Metropolitan Life Insurance Company. (10)
10(h) Representative Restricted Stock Agreement dated August 25, 2004 between FECI and

certain Executive Officers. (11)

10().1 - 10().4 Employment and Change in Control Agreements dated February 10, 2005, effective
March 28, 2005, and Restricted Stock and Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan

(SERP) Participant Agreements, dated March 28, 2005 between FECI and Adolfo Henriques. {6)
10{) Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERF) dated as of March 28, 2005. {6)
10(k} Codina acquisition documents. (7}
10(} First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated April 27, 2006, amending $150 million

Unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement with a 5-year term between FECI and a syndication

of financial institutions with Bank of America, N.A. as Lead Arranger. (13)
10(m} Employment and Change in Control Agreements dated April 27, 2006, effective

Apnil 27, 2008, between FEC! and Armando Codina. (8
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10(n)
10(0)

10(p)

10q)

10(r)

10(s)
21
23
24
31.1-31.2

321

Restricted stock agreement dated May 3, 2006 between FECI and Jorgé San Miguel. (14)
Representative restricted stock agreement between FECI and certain employees of Codina Group.  (15)
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated, Octaber 16, 2006, amending $150 million

Unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement with a S-year term between FEC| and a syndication

of financial institutions with Bank of America, N.A. as Lead Arranger. (16)
Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated, January 26, 2007, amending $150 milion

Unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement with a 5-year term between FEC| and a syndication

of financial institutions with Bank of America, N.A. as Lead Arranger.

Terms and Provisions relating to Restricted Stock Awards under the Florida East

Coast Industries, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective

June 5, 2005).

Representative Restricted Stock Award

Subsidiaries of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney

Section 302 Certifications.

Section 906 Certification

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrants, Amended and Restated By-Laws of the
Registrant and Amended and Restated Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated April 27, 2006, as were filec on
Form 8-K (all incorporated by reference as an Exhibit to the Form 8-K) with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on April 28, 2006 (File No. 001-32866).

This document dated February 22, 2005, is filed as exhibit 10 to Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 24, 2005.

These documents are filed as exhibits 10.1-10.8 on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commigsion on August 14, 2001 and exhibits 10.1-10.6 on November 8, 2001.

This docurnent is filed as exhibit 10.7 on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
Novernber 8, 2001.

Distritution and Recapitalization Agreement, incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the definitive
Proxy Staternent on Schedule 14A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 4, 2000
{Registration No. 001-08728).

These documents dated February 10, 2005 and March 28, 2005, are filed as exhibits 10(c.1)-10(c.4) to
Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2005.
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{7

(13)

{14)

{19)

(16)

These documents dated January 5, 2006 are filed as exhibits to Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 11, 2006 and exhibits to Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission
filed on April 28, 2006.

These documents dated April 27, 2006 are filed as exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 to Form 8-K with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 2, 2006.

FECI's Employee Stock Purchase Plan was filed on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on June 21, 2002 (Registration No. 333-90896).

These documents, dated August 10, 2004, are filed as exhibits 30.1-10.7 on Form 8-K with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 17, 2004,

This document dated August 25, 2004, is filed as exhibit 10(c) to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 3, 2004.

This document, dated June 2, 2005, is filed as exhibit 10(g) to Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 1, 2008. (Registration No 333-90894).

This document, dated April 27, 20086, is filed as exhibit 10(n) to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 8, 2006.

This document, dated May 3, 20086, is filed as exhibit 10(p) to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 8, 2006.

This document is filed as exhibit 10(q) to Forrm 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 8, 2008.

This document is filed as exhibit 10{p) to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 3, 20086.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the under-
signed, thereunto duly authorized on February 26, 2007,

FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.

(Registrant)

/s/ Daniel H. Popky

Daniel H. Popky, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Amy Bramlitt

Amy Bramlitt
Vice President and Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and

on the dates indicated:

/s/ A, Henriques

A, Henriques, Chairman, President,
Chief Executive Officer and Director

/s/ A. Codina

A. Codina, President, Chief Executive Officer,
Flagler Development Group and Director

/s/ D. M. Foster

D. M. Foster, Director

/s/ J. E. Jordan

J.E. Jordan, Director

/s/ G.H. Lamphere

G. H. Lamphere, Director

/s/ J. Nemec

J. Nemeg, Director

/s/ J. Perez

J. Perez, Director

/s/ W. L. Sanders, Jr.

W. L. Sanders, Jr., Director

/s/ R. Sugranes

R. Sugranes, Director

/s/ George Zoffinger

George Zoffinger, Director

Date: February 26, 2007

* Such signature has been affixed pursuant to Power of Attorney by
Haidi J. Eddins, Attorney-in-Fact.

EXHIBIT 21

Listing of parent and subsidiaries wholly owned, unfess
otherwise noted, by Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
as of December 31, 2006:

State of Incorporation/

Narme of Subsidiary Organization
FECI Company Florida
Florida East Coast Railway, LLC Florida

{100% owned by FECI Company)

Railroad Track Construction Corporation Florida
(100% owned by Florida East Coast Railway}

Florida East Coast Deliveries, Inc. Florida
(100% owned by Florida East Coast Railway)

FECR Land Holding, LLC Florida
(100% owned by Florida East Coast Railway)

BN Expansion, LLC Florida
{100% owned by FECR Land Halding, LLC)

FEC Highway Services, Inc. Florida
{100% owned by FECI Company}

Florida Express Logistics, Inc. Florida
(100% cwned by FEC Highway Services, Inc.)

Flagler Development Company, LLC Florida
{(100% owned by FECI Company)

Gran Central — Desrwood North, LLC Delaware
(100% owned by Plagler Development Company)

Beacon Station 22, 23 and 24
Limited Partnership Delaware
{100% owned by Flagler Development Company)

Flagler Transportation Services, Inc. Florida
(100% owned by FECI Companiy}

Fagler Devetopment Realty, LLC Florida
(100% owned by Flagler Development Gompany)

GCC Beacon 22, 23 & 24, LLC Florida
(100% owred by Flagler Development Company)

FDC Land Holdings, LLC Florida
{100% owned by Ftagter Development Company)

Flagler Boca 54, LLC Florida
{100% owned by Flagler Development Company)
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EXHIBIT 21 (Continued)

State of Incorporation/ State of Incorporation/
Name of Subsidiary Organization Name of Subsidiary Organization
Flagler Commons, LLC Florida C/CM Lsjeune, Inc. Florida
{100% owned by Flagler Development Company) (General Partner of C/CM Lejeune, Ltd.)
Atlas 1, LLC Florida C/CM Lejeune, Ltd. Florida
{100% owned by Flagler Commens, LLC)
CM Lejeune, LLLP Delaware
Atlas [Il, LLC Florida a partnership with CM Lejeune, Inc.
{100% owned by Flagler Commaons, LLC) {0.5% owned by CM Lejeune, Inc., general partner)
(99.5% owned by C/CM Lejeune, Ltd., limited partner)
Flagler Doral, LLC Florida
{100% owned by Flagler Development Company) Codina Residential Inc. Florida
Cedina Doral, Ltd. Florida Codina Residential Ltd. Florida
(50% owned by Flagler Doral, LLC) a limited partnership with
Codina Residential Inc.
FEC Lakes, LLC Florida (0.1% owned by Codina Residential, Inc.,
general partner) (99.8% owned by the Company,
Sevilla Building, Inc. Florida limited partner)
a partnership with Sevilla Building, Inc.
Cedina Fairfield LLC Florida
Sevilla Building, Ltd. Florida {100% owned by Cedina Residential Ltd.)
(0.1% owned by Sevilla Buiiding, Inc.,
general partner) (29.9% owned by the Boca 54 Land Associates, LLC Delaware
Company, limited partner) (20% interest owned by Flagler Boca 54, LLC)
Beacon Countyline, LLC Florida Beacon Village, LLC Delaware
(50% owned by FEC Lakes, LLC)
Flagler Development Group, Inc. Florida
AMB Codina Beacon Lakes, LLC Delaware
Flagler Construction Corporation Florida {21.225% owned by FEC Lakes, LLC)

(100% owned by Flagler Development Group, Inc.)

Flagler Real Estate Develepment Carporation  Florida
(100% owned by Flagler Development Group, Inc.)

Flagler Real Estate Services, Inc. Florida
{100% owned by Fiagler Development Group, Inc.}

C&S Real Estate Development Corporation  Florida
(100% owned by Flagler Real Estate
Development Corporation)

CM Lejeune, Inc. Florida
(General Partner of CM Lejeune, LLLP)
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EXHIBIT 23

Consent of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.:

Woe consent to incorporation by reference in the registration
statements (No. 333-127141, No. 333-123624, No. 333-90896,
No. 333-80894, No. 333-53144, and No. 333-768577) on Form
S-8 of Florida East Coast Industries, inc. {the Company} of our
reports dated February 26, 2007, with respect to the consoli-
dated balance sheets of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. as
of December 31, 2008 and 2005, and the related consaclidated
statements of income, changes in shareholders' equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for the three years
ended December 31, 2006, and all related financial statement
schedules, management's assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control aver financial reporting as of December 31, 2006
and the effectiveness of internal controls aver financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, which reports appears in the
December 31, 2006 annual report on Form 10-K of Florida
East Coast Industries, Inc.

Our report dated February 26, 2007 on management's assess-
ment of the effectiveness of internal controt financial reporting
and the sffectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006, contains an explanatory paragraph that
states that Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. acquired Codina
Group, Inc. and certain related property interests (Codina} during
2008, and rmanagement excluded from its assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006 Cedina’s internal control over
financial reporting associated with total assets of $185.4 milion
and total revenues of $42.3 million included in the consolidated
financial statements of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and
subsidliaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the internal
control over financial reporting of Codina.

Qur report refers to the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No, 123R, *Share-Based Payment”
{SFAS 123R) and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Consider-
ing the Effect of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.”

/s/ KPMG LLP
Jacksonville, Florida

February 26, 2007
Certified Public Accountants

EXHIBIT 24
Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENT, that each of the
undersigned Directors of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc., &
Florida corporation {Corporation), which is about to file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C. 20549,
under the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, a Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year endsd
December 31, 2008, hereby constitutes and appoints Adolfc
Menriques and Heidi J. Eddins as his or her true and lawful attomeys-
in-fact and agent, and each of them with full power to act, without
the other in his or her stead, in any and all capacities, to sgn
the 2006 Report of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc., on
Form 10-K and to file on behalf of the Corparation such Report
angd amendments with all exhibits therste, and any and all other
information and documents in connection therewith, with th2
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agent, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perfom any and all acts and things requisite
and ratifying and confirming all that each said attorneys-in-fact
and agent or any one of thern, may lawfully do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set
their hands on the date indicated below:

/s/ A. Codina

A. Cadina, President, Chief Executive Officer,
Flagler Development Group and Director

/s/ D. M. Foster
D. M. Foster, Director

/s/ J. E. Jordan

J.E. Jordan, Diractor

/s/ G.H. Lamphere
G. H. Lamphere, Director

/s/ J. Nemec
J. Nemec, Director

/s/ J. Perez

J. Perez, Director

/s/ W. L. Sanders, Jr.
W. L. Sanders, Jr., Director

/s/ R. Sugranes
R. Sugranes, Director

/s/ George Zoffinger
George Zoffinger, Director

Date: February 26, 2007
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE I - VALUATION RESERVES
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

(dollars in thousands)

Balance at Charged to Deductions/ Balance at
Description Beginning of Period  Costs and Expenses  Write-offs End of Period
2006 Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 2,182 1,001 {624) 2,559
2005 Allowance for Doubtfut Accounts 1,710 837 (425) 2,182
2004 Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 1,717 609 (616) 1,710
FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE il {CONSOLIDATED) — REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004
(dollars in thousands)
Initial Cost to Company Carried at Close of Period
Depreciable
Costs Date Life Used in
Capitalized Buildings Capitalized Calculation in
Subseqguent Land & Land and Accumulated or Latest Income
Description Land  to Acquisiion Improvements Improvemsnts Total — Depreciation Acquired Staternent
Duval County
Office Buildings 13,808 171,233 31,645 153,397 185,042 59,026 1985 3to 40 years
Office/Showroom/AWarehouses 1,623 45,570 5,976 41,217 47,193 24,729 1987 3 1to 40 years
Office/Warehouses g30 4,999 1,668 4,261 5,929 1,743 1904 310 40 years
Front Load Warehouse 68 9,548 817 8,799 9,616 1,608 1998 3 to 40 years
Rail Warehouse 23 3,259 326 2,956 3,282 1,205 1998 310 40 years
Land with Infrastructure 5,657 25,633 31,182 8 31,190 6,035 Various 3 to 40 vyears
Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 523 - 523 - 523 - 1998 310 40 years
St. Johns County
Office Building - - - - - - Various 3 to 40 years
Unimproved Land 3,467 1,195 4,662 - 4,662 252  \Various 15 years
Flagler County
Unimproved Land 16 12 28 - 28 2 Various 15 years
Volusia County
Unimproved Land 137 274 411 - 411 22  \Various 15 years
Brevard County
Land with Infrastructure 715 239 954 - 954 34 Various 15 years
Unimproved Land 3,826 - 3,826 - 3,826 - Various 15 years
St. Lucie County
Unimproved Land 405 63 468 - 468 14 Various 15 years
Martin County
LLand with Infrastructure 23 124 147 - 147 30 Various 15 years
Unimproved Land - - - - - - Various 15 years
Okeechobee County
Unimproved Land 2 - 2 - 2 - Various 15 years
Putnam County
Unimproved Land 2 - 2 - 2 - Various 15 years
Palm Beach County
Unimproved Land 122 33 165 - 155 - Various 15 years
Broward County
Rail Warehouse - - - - - - Various 310 40 years
Land with Infrastructure - - - - - - 1992 3 to 40 years
Unimproved Land 7.298 - 7,298 - 7,288 — Various 3 to 40 years
Building 4,834 9,649 6,444 8,039 14,483 585 2005 3 to 40 years
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.

SCHEDULE 11l (CONSOLIDATED) - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

{dollars in thousands)

Initial Cost to Company Carried at Close of Period

Depreciable
Costs Date Life Used in
Capitalized Buildings Capitalized  Galculation in
Subsequent Land & Land and Accumutated or Latest Incoena
Description Land {0 Acguisition Improverments mprovements  Total  Depreciation Acquired Statement
Dade County
Double Front Load Warehouse a72 7,306 2,074 6,204 8,278 3,216 1993 310 40 years
Rail Warehouses 1.853 13,335 3,926 11,262 15,188 6,936 1988 3 to 40 years
Office/Showroom/Warehouses 2,328 19,162 5,788 15,702 21,480 11,069 1988 3 to 40 years
Office Building 8,209 80,313 22,282 66,240 88,522 9,501 2000 3to 40 years
Office/Warehouses 11,392 65,781 19,355 57,818 77,173 19177 1990 310 40 years
Front Load Warehouses 4,092 26,032 B,773 21,351 30,124 12,225 1991 3 to 40 years
Office/Service Centar 344 3,060 873 2,531 3,404 1,467 1994 3 to 40 years
Transit (Retail} Warehouse 439 6,135 840 5,734 6,574 1,909 Various 3 to 40 years
Land with Infrastructure 12,790 24,032 35,939 883 36,822 3,882 Varous 3to 40 vyears
Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 145,960 1,244 145,960 1,244 147,204 548 \Varous 3 to 40 years
Orange County
Office Buildings 8,764 92,911 10,840 90,835 101,675 24,373 1998 3 to 40 years
Office/Showroom/Warehouses 1,261 10,435 1,377 10,319 11,696 5,294 1998 310 40 years
Land with Infrastructure 3,231 414 3,430 215 3,645 77 1995  3to 40 years
Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 10,287 6,065 16,352 - 18,352 758 1999 3to 40 years
Polk County
Unimproved Land 15,045 4,414 19,459 - 19,459 - \Various 15 years
Indian River County
Unimproved Land - - - - - — Various 15 years
Seminole County
Unimproved Land - - - - - - Various 15 years
TOTALS 270,347 632,470 393,802 509,015 902,817 195,717
Notes:
{A) The aggregate cost of real estate cwned at December 31, 2006 for federal income tax purposes is approximately $785.6 million.
This amount includes reinvested gains of $168.4 milion.
(B} Reconciliation of real estate owned {dollars in thousands):
2006 2005 2004
Balance at beginning of year 735,778 547 497 527,433
Amounts capitalized 214,699 193,349 49,757
Amounts retired or adjusted (47,660) {5,068} {29,733)
Balance at close of period 902,817 735,778 547 437
Reconciliation of real estate owned to Note 7 of the financial statements included in item 8 of this report:
Note 7 captions 2006 2005
Railroad buildings 2,680 13,234
Railroad land & land improvements 22,279 12,562
Flagler buildings 506,335 469,833
Flagter land & land improvements 371,523 240,149
Real estate owned above 902,817 735,778
See Note 7 for construction in progress amounts.
{C) Reconciliation of accumulated depreciation {doilars in thousands):
2006 2005 2004
Balance at beginning of year 171,908 143,585 125,757
Depreciation expense 30,935 28,073 22,821
Amounts retired or adjusted {7,126) 250 (4,993}
Balance at close of period 195,717 171,908 143,585

{D} Certain amounts shown in Schedule Il have been reclassified to conform to 2006’ presentation,
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EXHIBIT 31.1 -
SARBANES-OXLEY - 302 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Adolfo Henrigues certify that;

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Florida
East Coast Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a matenial fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information inctuded in this report, fairly
present in afl material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g)
and 15d-18(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
{as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures,
or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including
its consclidated subsidiaries, is made known 1o us by
others within those entities, particularty during the
pericd in which this report is being prepared,;

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure

controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s
internal contrel over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has mate-

rially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed,

based on our most recent evaluation of internat control

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal contro! over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect

the registrant’s ahility to record, process, summarize and

report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a

significant role in the Company's internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: February 26, 2007

By: /s/ Adolfo Henriques

Adolfo Henriques
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2 -
SARBANES-OXLEY - 302 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Daniel H. Popky, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this report on annual Form 10-K of
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dogs not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements
ware made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financiat condition,
results of operations and cash flows ¢f the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible
for establishing and maintaining disciosure contrels and
procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g)
and 15d-15{g)) and internal contral over financial reporting
{as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f} and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or
caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, 1o ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consoli-
dated subsidiaries, is made known to us by cthers within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statemenits for
external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure
controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosurs
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materialty
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed,

based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of registrant's board of directors {(or per-
sons performing the equivalent function):

a} All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not maternial, that involves
management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: February 26, 2007

By: /s/ Daniel H. Popky

Daniel H. Popky,
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1 -
SARBANES-OXLEY - 906 CERTIFICATION

February 26, 2007

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certification set forth befow is being submitted in connection with the annual report (the “Report”) for the purpose
of complying with Rule 13a-14{b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Adolfo Henriques, the Chief Executive Officer and Daniel H. Popky, the Chief Financial Officer of Florida East Coast Industries,
Inc., each certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. the report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a} or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition, and results of
operations of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

/e/ Adolfo Henriques

Adolfo Henriques
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Daniel H. Popky

Daniel H. Popky
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Florida East Goast Industries, Inc.
and will be retained by Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS - 2006

Adolfo Henriques

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

Armando Codina

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Flagler Development Group; Director
AMR Corporation; Merrill Lynch & Co.,
In¢.; General Motors Corperation and
Burger King Corporation.

David M. Foster

Independent Business Consultant,
Jacksorville, Florida; Director, SunTrust
Bank/North Florida and Gate Petroleum
Company; Real Estate Specialist,
Jacksonville Greyhound Racing, Inc.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Adolfo Henriques
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Armando Codina
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Flagter Development Group

John D. McPherson
Executive Vice President;
President, Florida East Coast
Railway, L.L.C.

Daniel H. Popky
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

James E. Jordan

Retired Managing Director, Arnhold
and S. Bleichroeder Advisers, LLC;
Director, Leucadia National Corporation,
JZ Equity Partners, Plc., and First
Eagle Funds.

Gilbert H. Lamphere
Managing Director, Lamphere Capital
Management, a private equity firm.

Joseph Nemec

Senior Vice President, Booz, Allen
and Hamilton; Director, Black &
Veatch, a private engineering and
construction company.

Jorge Perez

Chairman, The Related Group of Florida,
a residential development, construction
services and property management firm,
operating primarily in Florida; Director,
Regions Financial Corporation.

Heidi J. Eddins

Executive Vice President,
Secretary and General Counsel
Edward M. Shumsky
Executive Vice President and
Chief Human Resource Officer
Jorge B. San Miguel
Executive Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer

Bradley D. Lehan
Vice President and Treasurer

Amy W. Bramlitt
Vice President and Controller

Wellford L. Sanders, Jr.

Managing Directar, Wachovia Capital
Markets, LLC; Chairman, Hancock
Fabrics, Inc.

Rosa Sugrafnes

Chairman and Founder of Iberia Tiles,
an independently owned distributor of
ceramic tile, marble and stone; Board
member, Rosa Gres Group of Barcelona,
Spain, a manufacturer of ceramic tiles.

George R. Zoffinger

President and CEQ, New Jersey Sports
and Exposition Authority; Past President
and CEQ of Constellation Capital Corp.
Director Virgin Media; New Jersey
Resources, Inc.

SUBSIDIARIES

Florida East Coast Raitway, L.L.C.
7411 Fullerton Street
Jacksonville, FL 32256

Phone: {904) 538-6100

Flagler Development Group
2855 LeJeune Road

Coral Gables, FL 33134
Phone: (305) 520-2300
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INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
KPMG LLP

One Independent Drive

Suite 1100

Jacksonville, FL 32201-0190

COMMON STOCK

TRANSFER AGENT

American Stock Transfer and Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane

New York, NY 10038

Phone: (866) 668-6550

COMNMON STOCK

Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. common
stock is listed on the New Yark Stock
Exchange and trades under the symbol FLA.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Bradley D. Lehan

Vice President and Treasurer
(@04) 995-2817

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

Current and prospective investors can receive
the Annual Report, proxy statement, Forms
10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, news releases, gover-
nance guidelines, code of conduct and Board
Committee charters at no charge. These
items may be obtained through our Web Site
at www.feci.com, or requests for these items
may be directed to Brian J. Nicholson, Director,
Communications, {904) 996-2818.

MEDIA INQUIRIES
Brian J. Nicholsan
Director, Communications
(904) 996-2818

ANNUAL REPORT

We have included as Exhibit 31 (1) and 31 (2)
to our 2006 Form 10-K, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, cerlificates of the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer of Florida East Coast Industries certify-
ing the quality of Florida East Coast Inclustries’
public disclosure. We have also subrmitted to
the New York Stock Exchange a certificate
of the Chiet Executive Officer of Florida East
Coast industries certifying that he is not aware
of any violation by Florida East Coast Industries
of New York Stock Exchange corporate
governance listing standards.
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